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Five Years Financial Summary

HFMHHE

Year ended 31 December

HE+ZAZ=+—HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Results ES —ECZ= EICF _E_—F _E_EF “E-hE
Revenue Wrza
(RMB'000) NS ) 4,442 60,709 173,974 275,541 804,898
(Loss) profit attributable EATZHEBA
to owners of the FE(L (8538) i
Company (RMB'000) (ARET7m) (46,231) (55,768) (400,926) (7,775) 74,184
(Losses) earnings per share % (E518) BB A
(RMB cents)* (NEH&D)*
- Basic —EK (18.17) (21.92) (157.55) (4.26) 40.66
- Diluted —#8 (18.17) (21.92) (157.55) (4.26) 40.66
* Based on share consolidation of every ten old shares consolidated * RIEEHRERDSHR—RIRMDHNRSN & 05
into one new share. Ho
At 31 December
R+ZB=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
Assets and liabilities BERER —E-= “E-F TEC—fF ECRE “E-NEF
Total assets BEEE
(RMB'000) AE#FT) 651,734 614,052 722,210 1,096,471 1,183,485
Total liabilities BEEE
(RMB'000) ARETF7T) (503,659) (414,096) (444,133) (353,288) (494,908)
Net asset value BEFE
(RMB'000) ANR®F7) 148,075 199,956 278,077 743,183 688,577
Equity attributable to owners BATZHB A
of the parent (RMB'000) bR
N ) 176,933 224,147 284,107 685,468 631,426
Non-controlling interests eIkl 4
(RMB'000) (NE®BF7T) (28,858) (24,191) (6,030) 57,715 57,151
Total equity T 148,075 199,956 278,077 743,183 688,577
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The review of the major business segments of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”) is
as follows:

Property Development and Investment

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”)
operates two property development projects located in
Maoming City, Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The first Maoming Project has been
developed into a composite of residential and commercial
properties in three phases (the “First Maoming Project”).
Majority of the commercial and residential properties of the
First Maoming Project had been delivered in 2019 and most
of the proceeds from sales of the First Maoming Project
has been used in the development of the second Maoming
Project situated at Maoming Jixiang District* (7% & & 4%
/&) (the “Second Maoming Project”).

During the Year, the revenue attributed to the property
development and investment business amounted to
approximately RMB4,442,000 (2022: RMB60,709,000).

As the sales of the First Maoming Project is near the
end while the Second Maoming Project is still under
development, revenue decreased significantly as compared
with last year. The total area of residential and commercial
properties of the First Maoming Project recognised as sales
for the Year were approximately 747 square meters (2022:
10,043 square meters).

BRI

75 [0l BE

AERRBEE_Z_=F+_A=+—HL
FE(AFE) ZETEZXZHHMEIENT -

MEZERRKRE
ARNBRENBAR (KB TAEE]) KEM
BARPEAREME (THEH)) BEREXA
TMHEMEMREBEB F—@EX %EEE”_
HERATEREBEVENGEE (IF—E
KBEBR) - F—EAXLEEATP»EE &
FEMEERN_Z—AERXN  EF—EBXRBE
BENARBDBEEFRSREERARNRLTS &
NEF_EARXLEENRE(TEZEX%E
ENPIS

REAEE MELERKREEFEEH KR
ANRMEL, 442,000 (ZEZZF : AR
60,709,0007T)

HRE—ERXLBEENHEERLER MP
BR2BEEPEMBED WK E r%&x%
LR AKEE BIAABFEEZET —EXKHIE
ENGEEElmAYECEBERBNATLITER K
(ZEB -4 :10,043FF K) o
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BEEFwmA D

The Second Maoming Project

On 27 November 2019, Maoming Shang Cheng Real
Estate Company Limited* (%% LS EEBRAE) (the
“Maoming Shang Cheng Real Estate”), an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, successfully won
the bid of land use rights of the Second Maoming Project
situated at Maoming Jixiang District* (% % ™5 & #£/)\&)
with a total site area of approximately 29,274.16 square
meters and the consideration of which was approximately
RMB241,512,000. The land acquisition transaction by
Maoming Shang Cheng Real Estate was completed in
2020. The Second Maoming Project was planned to be
developed into a composite of residential and commercial
properties with the following approximate planned areas:

Land site area
AR EE

Gross saleable area
ol EmBE
Residential areas
FEEE
Commercial areas
7 AR

Carpark spaces

REA

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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A B hE+—B_+tR TEEBE
E2ERNBRAIRLLEABEERARLAS (K
LEHEBEZE)) MRKEBHARK241,512,000
TR ERETEHENESE_EARRER
(M L ERELN29,274. 16 EHK) 2 HHnfE
AR -RLLHEXENIHRERZER S
TEERERoR_ERLEBERAERAE
TERERYEALA—BHNGESERER MR
BEBENT

29,000m?
29,0007 75 3K
84,000m?
84,000 75 3K
59,000m?
59,0003 73 3K
25,000m?
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1,000 units
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the pandemic, construction of the development of
Second Maoming Project had been delayed, so as to the
pre-sales plan. As at December 2023, approximately 60%
of the construction had completed. Construction of the
basement, kindergarten and first 2 blocks of residential
buildings had been completed. Pre-sales of the residential
blocks was started in June 2022, and the pre-sales of the
other parts of the project was rescheduled as follows:

Pre-Sales of residential properties (The remaining two blocks)
FEWETFE GRT MR

Pre-Sales of apartment properties

NEBYMERE

Pre-Sales of commercial properties

HEYETRE

Pre-Sales of car parks and shops

FEAKBATEE

Completion and delivery

% T3 R AT

The management of the Group believe the market
sentiment is improving in Maoming City and that the
upcoming pre-sales will strengthen the financial position of
the Group.

Trading of raw cane sugar

For the Year, there was no revenue from trading of raw
cane sugar while the economy has been recovering slowly
in the post-pandemic era, the pace of recovery varies across
industries. The change in domestic cane sugar demand
has been driven by the significant easing of the pandemic
situation in China, adjustments for pandemic prevention
and control policies and the lifting of the border restrictions
between countries. Strong market demand is the key
to intensify the supply of sugar consumption, while the
supply of cane sugar consumption in turn has an impact
on domestic cane sugar prices. The Group will continue to
adopt a proactive strategy to respond to the challenging
market conditions.

BRI

REBHBE F-EAXREENRERR
REMSRLER -BE_T_=ZF+"A"&
60N ERELTH - TE - ZE AT W
BEETENERESTR -EEBNREER
T FNBRAB BEEHEMB O EEERE
EMZHWMT

Second half year of 2024

“ENFETHE
Second half year of 2024
TETNFETHE
Second half year of 2024
o mETRE
Second half year of 2024
“ENFETHE
First half year of 2025
“ETHRFE¥F

AEBEEBHERXBATHNTEHERAEREN
= BB TR & A% BTN 98 4 & B /Y B2 755K
7 e

RERE S

REFE BAEEEREBERRA-—EER

BEE EERTRENERRESTHERE
REEEZIERSVA -PEHEBETLBNE
EREBBHIERR m&ﬁuﬁlﬁﬁéﬁ
RENBFEARHEHERIANARRERTRNE

1E ° ﬁ%mﬁﬁﬁXEME?ﬁHETEM%
RFFE MERHBHEBEMTZERANEEE
BeAEBRBEBRIBEREBHORE  UE
HEWMIBRTHIHIRIE -
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MARKET OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTS

During the Year, pandemic containment policies were
relaxed in China and the global economy gradually came
out of the shadow of the COVID-19 pandemic. The real
estate market continued to be sluggish with weak demand,
and both market transaction volumes and prices went
downward simultaneously. The overall real estate market
is still in a bottoming out phase as market confidence and
expectations have not restored yet.

With the increasing policy support and improving market
sentiment, the management is confident to see for a better
coming year and will remain watchful for some profitable
businesses.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the Year, the Group's revenue amounted to
approximately RMB4,442,000 (2022: RMB60,709,000)
were all contributed from property development and
investment business. Loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately RMB46,231,000 (2022:
RMB55,768,000), due to the significant decrease in
revenue generated from sales of properties and impairment
loss recognised on properties held for sales.

As at 31 December 2023, bank balances and cash were
approximately RMB17,208,000 (2022: RMB26,710,000)
and pledged bank deposits amounting to RMB3,133,000
(2022: RMB3,924,000) and restricted bank deposits
amounting to RMB39,226,000 (2022: RMB7,094,000) have
been pledged to guarantee the mortgage loans granted by
the banks to customers of the Group.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's total secured
bank borrowings and other borrowing amounted to
approximately RMB29,994,000 (2022: RMB21,028,000).
As at 31 December 2023, the gearing ratio, expressed
as a percentage of total secured bank borrowings, other
borrowing and bank overdrafts over net assets was
approximately 20% (2022: 11%) and the current ratio was
approximately 1.3 (2022: 1.5).

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the authorised share capital
of the Company was HK$300,000,000 divided into
30,000,000,000 shares of the Company with par value of
HK$0.01 each (the “Shares”) and the issued share capital
was HK$2,544,690.52 divided into 254,469,052 Shares.

Capital Reduction and Sub-division

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
convened and held on 26 June 2023, a special resolution
in relation to the capital reduction (“Capital Reduction”)
and the share sub-division (“Sub-division™) was duly passed
by way of poll. An order was made by the Grand Court of
the Cayman Islands confirming the Capital Reduction on
11 September 2023 (Cayman Islands time) and the Capital
Reduction and Sub-division took effect on 20 September
2023.

Details of the Capital Reduction and Sub-division are as
follows:

(a) Capital Reduction:

The par value of each of the then issued shares
of the Company was reduced from HK$1.00 to
HK$0.01 by cancelling the paid up share capital
of the Company to the extent of HK$0.99 per the
then issued shares of the Company. The credits
arising from such reduction were applied towards
offsetting the accumulated losses of the Company
in a manner as permitted by all applicable laws and
the memorandum and articles of association of the
Company and as the Board considers appropriate.

BRI

BRGHE

RIE_=F+"A=+—H xR2BZEER
7N 4 78 1£300,000,0007T ° 43 ¥ 430,000,000,000
REREmAEREITZAAR KM (TRRA )
KO EITRAAEN2,544,690.5270 DA
254,469,052 & f% 17 ©

B& 2 Bl iR B 93 %

ERABR ZE_=F B+ "HEHEKET
ZRERRARE L BRAKAHIR (TR A EIRL)
Kh ot (o)) 2455505 \m%M?ﬁ;‘EETﬁ‘%
EHXEB -HEHERERES
FHLBE+—BZRAHIE (F'aﬁxﬁ SRHE) UK
BEBA R IFR —E_=FNABZ+HEXK-

=7 T [—
o

\_7__

RRAH R B D ifr Z 51BN ¢

(@)  B&AHIE :
AABEREFBETRMOZEECES
HEARNBDERERERITRMD B0.99
BITZ AR B BB AU B 1 .007T HI
EA10.0170 - A B REIRMES Z ERE
BB BREAERERBIABER KA KR
MAFTATREEERABENAILAR
KRR B Z RetE5ige
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(b) Sub-division:
Immediately following the Capital Reduction, each
of the then authorized but unissued shares of the
Company of par value of HK$1.00 each was sub-
divided into 100 new shares of the Company of par
value of HK$0.01 each.

Upon the Capital Reduction and the Sub-division became
effective, the board lot size of the Shares for trading on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) had also been changed from 4,000 Shares to
8,000 Shares.

Relevant disclosure was made in the Company’s
announcements dated 29 May 2023, 26 June 2023, 14
August 2023 and 19 September 2023, and the Company’s
circular dated 7 June 2023.

Placing of New Shares under General Mandate

On 15 February 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) with VC Brokerage
Limited (the “Placing Agent”), pursuant to which the
Placing Agent has conditionally agreed, as the placing
agent of the Company, to procure on a best effort basis to
not less than six placees to subscribe for up to 50,888,000
shares of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of
the Company (the “Placing Share(s)”) at the placing price
of HK$0.14 per Placing Share (the "“Placing”). The Placing
Price of HK$0.14 per Placing Share represents a discount
of approximately 18.13% to the closing price of HK$0.171
per Share as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the date of
the Placing Agreement.

The Placing Shares were approved to issue under the
general mandate granted to the directors of the Company
(the “Directors”) at the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 31 May 2023. Completion of the Placing
took place on 6 March 2024. An aggregate of 50,888,000
Placing Shares in nominal value of HK$508,880 were issued
and allotted, and the issued share capital of the Company
increased to HK$3,053,570.52 divided into 305,357,052
Shares.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The gross proceeds from the Placing amounted to
approximately HK$7.12 million and the net proceeds
amounted to approximately HK$6.88 million (after
deduction of commission and other expenses of the
Placing), representing a net issue price of approximately
HK$0.135 per Placing Share.

The Company intends to use the net proceeds for
repayment of outstanding liabilities and general working
capital of the Group, which shall be applied on, including,
staff cost, professional fees, rental payments and general
administrative and operating expenses of the Group. The
Directors are of the view that the Placing would enlarge
the shareholder base and the capital base of the Company,
and the net proceeds of the Placing would strengthen the
Group's financial position for future development of the
Group.

As at the date of this report, approximately HK$3.40
million of net proceeds have been used for repayment
of outstanding liabilities. The remaining net proceeds of
approximately HK$3.48 million will be used according to
the intended use on or before 31 December 2024.

For the details of the Placing, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 15 February 2024,
19 February 2024 and 6 March 2024.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

The Group mainly earns revenues and incurs costs in
Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group’s monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in
Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management will monitor foreign
exchange exposure closely and consider the use of hedging
instruments when the need arises.

BEESwmA D

REFEMESRIRBEANBET 12BE TR
"IRIBE PR ABE6.8ER T (BHRAESE
BEhkEMAS) BIESREERN ZFHTER
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RAERSEE RAENRIEFENEBEIA0B8E T
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CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, certain of the Group’s leasehold
land and buildings with an aggregate carrying values of
approximately RMB14,556,000 (2022: RMB14,612,000
were pledged to bank for securing general banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries of the Company)
were pledged to other borrowings to certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, bank deposits of RMB3,133,000
(2022: RMB3,924,000) of the Group were pledged
to obtain the mortgage facilities provided to certain
purchasers of the Group's properties for which guarantees
were provided by the Group to the banks.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The details of segment information are set out in note 5 to
the consolidated financial statements.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had commitments for
development of properties amounted to RMB242,952,000
(2022: RMB295,205,000).

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 47 (2022:
53) full time employees in Hong Kong and the PRC.
Total remuneration of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 was approximately RMB 13,220,000 (2022:
RMB14,633,000). The Group's emolument policies are
formulated on the basis of market trends, future plans and
the performance of individuals, which will be reviewed
periodically. Apart from provident fund scheme and state-
managed social welfare scheme, share options will also
be awarded to employees according to assessment of
individuals’ performance.

FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum obligation
in respect of the mortgage facilities provided to certain
purchasers of the Group's properties amounted to
approximately RMB94,046,000 (2022: RMB41,814,000).

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

BEERA

RIBEZ=F+ZHA=+—H &AEBETHEE
EH{EHYANRKE14,556,000c (CE-_F: AR
14,612,000;c BT FRIT > FAT QBT & TH
BABREE —WIBTHEMNER & THEL
HMEIEFERBFARDETHBARNWEMBE
;—\fxo

N_E_=F+_"_F=+—H> AE#3,133,00070
(CEZ_F : AR¥3,924,0007T) 2 &~EERIT
EREFIRE LWESRETAERAYEZET
BRZERIBET MAEBCHMZERBENRD
IRITIRMAIER

DEBE R

DEER ZFBRNGEHHFRE WL

BEREMEE

RIS =ZF+_RA=+—H ~EEHEYHE
ZAEAESREAAREE242,952,00070 (B _F
AR 295 205,0007T) ©

1 & R #r B EX =R

RIE_=F+_RA=+—H ' &x&EBEEEK
FEEMA7TN (CEZ—F 531 2BES - A&
ER8E S -_=_F+-B=+—HULEFEZH
4828 A4 AR 1513,220,00070 (ZE 24 : A
FK1614,633,0007T) o A& B RV FBNELR TS kB ™
BB KRR R EARITMGIET » W EHRET
Bl o BRI AT E REAREBET B T
2N ERERRESEAXRRINIHREESR
o LUEERRED -

MBIREREN

R_E_=F+_B=+—H A&EBEHMBE XK
EEYENETEHRENBEFERKIEN
BAREHAENANREEIL, 046,000 (B - —
F: AR¥41,814,0007T) ©



Management Discussion and Analysis

GOING CONCERN

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately RMB51,637,000
for the year ended 31 December 2023 and recurring a
net loss over four years. The current liabilities included
the trade and other payables for the construction cost
amounting to approximately RMB79,424,000, amount due
to non-controlling interests amounting to approximately
RMB115,498,000 and other borrowings amounting to
approximately RMB29,994,000 that will be due in the
coming twelve months. The Group might not be able
to meet its liabilities in full when they fall due unless
it is able to generate sufficient cash flows from future
operations and/or other sources, since as at 31 December
2023, the Group only had cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB17,208,000, pledged bank deposit of
approximately RMB3,133,000 and restricted bank deposits
of RMB39,226,000. These events or conditions indicate
the existence of material uncertainties which may cast
significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern.

In this regard, the Directors have identified various
initiatives to address the Group’s liquidity needs, which
include the following:

(@) The Group has been actively negotiating with the
relevant party for renewal of the revolving other
borrowing with outstanding principal amount
of RMB9,089,000. The other borrowing had
successfully signed an extension agreement on 25
March 2024 to renew the maturity date up to 30
April 2026;
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The Group will actively negotiate with the
relevant party for renewal of the revolving other
borrowing with outstanding principal amount of
RMB20,905,000 to further extend the maturity
date. The other borrowing will be due in August
2024 that is secured by the Group's property
located in Hong Kong with the carrying amount of
RMB14,556,000;

The Group has obtained written confirmations from
the relevant non-controlling interests that they
will not demand repayment of the outstanding
principals in the total amount of approximately
RMB115,498,000;

The Group will continue to make pre-sale of the
properties of Second Maoming Project;

As disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 6 March 2024, the Placing for an
aggregate of 50,888,000 Placing Shares have been
successfully placed at placing price of HK$0.14 per
Placing Share. The Group received net amount of
approximately RMB6,321,000 and propose to use
for repayment of outstanding liabilities and general
working capital of the Group, which shall be applied
on, including, staff cost, professional fees, rental
payments and general administrative and operating
expenses of the Group; and

The Group will continue to take active measures
to control administrative costs and maintain
containment of capital expenditures.

Based on the cash flow forecast of the Group prepared
by the management and assuming success of the above
measures, the Directors are of the opinion that the Group
would have adequate funds to meet its liabilities as and
when they fall due at least twelve months from the end of
the reporting period.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

by XEBRBETHEABREAALTERSTESX
BEARAE ANRK20,905,0007 A E fih
BIEREBEF UE—FTIERINEBERH ZE
HMERER _Z_WENBEH B
AEBUREAENEDSEAARKE
14,556,0007C A9 9 £ 1EIR 18

() HAEBECESHEBEFERERZZZ@ERE
DOREBATEREELBEBOARKE
115,498,000t Z R H R BEXS ;

(d) FEERESEREE _EXLEBEZY

E N

(e) Dﬁzﬂuﬁﬂﬂaﬁﬂﬁz_v_mﬁ A7~ H
ZNANEFTINE £3£50,888,000 B0 E
HQTﬁEEﬁIﬂTﬁtﬁzﬁEEHXTﬁ%ﬁ%O.14
ETREE - AEERINFENARE
6 321,000t ER1EBEAER ZH
FKEEBEA—REEE: UWEBR
BREAERAZEIMAS EXEHR M
ENFAR—RITEREERYS , &

(f) 25 B R 4 18 £R BUAR 1l 48 i 322 1) 17 BOAR
AU BRI ERTH -

REEEBERENAERRT AER AL R
ELABERIEMRY EFRA ZEERE
ERENESTEEERSHREEDL T+ 2@
REfizaf-



Management Discussion and Analysis

Accordingly, the Directors consider it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue
as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable
amounts, to provide for further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current
liabilities as current assets and current liabilities respectively.
The effect of these adjustments has not been reflected in
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was declared or proposed during the Year. The
board of Directors (the “Board”) does not recommend the
payment of any dividend for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the Year.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD,
MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES, AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL
ASSETS

There were no significant investments held as at 31
December 2023 nor material acquisitions and disposals of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the Year
and there is no plan for material investments or capital
assets as at the date of this report.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no material contingent liabilities as at 31
December 2023.
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RESUMPTION OF TRADING

At the request of the Company, trading in the Shares on
the Stock Exchange was suspended since 27 May 2022.
The Stock Exchange issued the resumption guidance on 17
July 2022 for the resumption of trading in the Shares (the
“Resumption Guidance”).

After years of unremitting efforts of the Directors and
management of the Company, all the conditions under the
Resumption Guidance have been fulfilled and the trading in
the Shares on the Stock Exchange recommenced from 9:00
a.m. on 6 December 2023.
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Biographical Details of Directors

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Pan Shimin (“Mr. Pan”), aged 53, was appointed as
an executive Director and the chairman of the Board on
28 January 2022. He was appointed as the chief executive
officer of the Company on 10 February 2022. Mr. Pan
resigned as the chief executive officer of the Company
and was appointed as the chairman of the nomination
committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”)
on 17 June 2022. Mr. Pan was appointed as a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with effect from 21 February
2024. He has over twenty years of corporate and project
management experience. Mr. Pan obtained his bachelor’s
degree in engineering from the Northeastern University
in the Peoples’ Republic of China in 1994. He was a
director of the light metals department of HATCH Project
Consulting (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. from August 2011 to
September 2014. He served as the director of Asia Pacific
affairs and the general manager of Brochot (Tianjin)
Metallurgical Equipment Manufacturing Co., Ltd. from
October 2014 to May 2015. He was the general manager
of the mineral resources department of Beijing Qixing
Supply Chain Management Co., Ltd. in 2019.

Mr. Chen Xian (“Mr. Chen"”), aged 60, was appointed
as an executive Director and the vice-chairman of the
Company on 12 October 2007 and was re-designated as
the chairman of the Company on 30 November 2007.
Mr. Chen was further re-designated as the vice-chairman
of the Company on 17 August 2012. Mr. Chen is one
of the founders of a sizeable property development
company in Zhuhai, the PRC and has been a member of
the senior management of a subsidiary of that company.
Mr. Chen was mainly responsible for the investment and
development of real estate projects of such companies.
Before joining those companies, Mr. Chen worked as a
senior member of certain state-owned companies and the
local authority. He has more than twenty years of extensive
experience in the investment and development of real
estate projects. He holds a Master Degree of Business
Administration from the Asia International Open University
(Macau).
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Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 49, was
appointed as an executive Director on 30 October 2023.
He is an accomplished and performance-driven professional
management with extensive experience in reorganizing and
streamlining financial operations to increase performance
and profitability. As the executive director and president
of Guizhou Starcrest Education Management Co. Ltd. in
China and Starcrest Education Ltd. (a company whose
shares are listed on the main market of London Stock
Exchange, stock ticker: OBOR) in the United Kingdom, he
has demonstrated expertise in managing funds, optimizing
cash flow, establishing investment funds, and providing
investment and financing services. Mr. Zhang is skilled
in strategic planning, business intelligence, continuous
process improvement, ensuring compliance with financial
regulations and implementing effective development
strategies.

Mr. Zhang excels in corporate governance, promulgating
compliance with financial regulations, and ensuring the
implementation of robust internal control processes. He has
provided strategic guidance in developing and updating
policies and procedures, critically assessed and improved
internal control processes, and produced accurate cost
optimization processes to enhance the organization’s
efficiency and reduce costs.

Mr. Zhang held the position of assistant to the general
manager and deputy general manager at YBN Holdings
Limited in Shenzhen, China during August 2006 to March
2016. Additionally, Mr. Zhang served as the general
manager at Henan Agricultural Development Investment in
Henan, China during August 2008 to March 2016, where
he played a key role in setting up the first agricultural
industry fund in China with a designed fund size of RMB4.8
billion.

Mr. Zhang holds a Master’s degree of Commerce in Funds
Management from the University of New South Wales and
a Bachelor's degree of Business (Banking and Finance) from
Monash University.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Liang Zhichao (“Mr. Liang”), aged 46, was appointed
as an executive Director on 29 January 2024. He has
extensive experience in handling relationships and liaising
with various administrative departments. He served as
a manager of engineering department of EFIEHE

EREIEAR AT (Xiamen Gaochengxin Construction
Supervision Co. Ltd.*) and EFIRBEAIREEERRA
B (Xiamen Zhudingcheng Engineering Management Co.
Ltd.) during January 2011 to July 2019 and October 2019
to February 2022 respectively. Mr. Liang also served as a
legal affairs assistant manager of Virtual Mind Holding
Company Limited (a company whose shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1520) during June 2022 to
December 2023.

Mr. Liang graduated from Xiamen University majoring in
business administration.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (“Mr. Yau”), aged 46, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) on 6 July 2022. He has over twenty
years of experience in various sections of the financial
industry including audit and corporate finance. He has
been an independent non-executive director of Chi Ho
Development Holdings Limited (a company listed on GEM
of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 8423) since February
2017. He was the financial controller of Janco Holdings
Limited ("Janco”) (a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange; stock code: 8035) from July 2015 to October
2019 and was also an executive director and company
secretary of Janco from April 2016 to October 2019.

Mr. Yau obtained a bachelor’s degree of business
administration in accountancy from City University of Hong
Kong. He is currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chen Weijiang (“Mr. Chen Weijiang”), aged 50, was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member
of each of the Audit Committee and the Nomination
Committee respectively on 3 January 2020. Mr. Chen
Weijiang has over twenty years of experience in the sugar
markets in the PRC. Mr. Chen Weijiang obtained a law
degree from the Xi'an Politics Institute of the People’s
Liberation Army* (f# I E B ZBUAERT) and commenced
work at the Zhanjiang Hengde Sugar Company Limited*
CRTIBEREEABRAT) in 1997. From 2007 to 2017,
Mr. Chen Weijiang acted as the executive director of
Zhanjiang Hengde Sugar Company Limited* G&STI8/=4E
EERRAT).
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Biographical Details of Directors

Mr. Lee Chun Tung (“Mr. Lee”) (formerly as, Li Chun
Chiu), aged 53, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director, a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 17 June 2022. He obtained a
Master's degree of science in financial engineering from
City University of Hong Kong in 2007. He was awarded the
Bachelor's (Honour) degree in accounting and finance from
Manchester Metropolitan University in 1994. Mr. Lee has
been an executive director of Pinestone Capital Limited (a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange;
stock code: 804) since 14 September 2022. He was the
senior vice president of Eternal Sincere Finance Limited
from May 2019 to 12 June 2022. He was a chief operating
officer of BOA Financial Group Limited from September
2017 to May 2019, a director of the synthetic prime
service of Haitong International Securities Company Limited
during December 2015 to September 2017, a director of
global commodities division of China Merchants Securities
(HK) Co., Ltd during April 2014 to December 2015, an
operations manager of QRMO (Quality Risk Management
& Operations) from June 2013 to April 2014, a director
of finance and treasury division of BOC International
Holdings Limited during August 2006 to June 2013, an
assistant manager of the risk management department of
Mizuho Securities Asia Limited from September 2005 to
June 2006 and controller of Hong Kong product control
division, Singapore financial control division and Hong
Kong financial control division of Credit Suisse First Boston
(HK) Ltd. during May 2004 to October 2004, October
2002 to April 2004 and December 1999 to October 2002
respectively. Mr. Lee has extensive experience in internal
control, risk management and regulatory compliance.
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The Board and the management of the Company are
committed to the maintenance of good corporate
governance practices and procedures.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based
on the principles and code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained
in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
During the Year, in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company was in compliance with all the relevant code
provisions set out in the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as
its own code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities
transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirms that all Directors have complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code
during the Year.
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Corporate Governance Report

COMPOSITION AND BOARD PRACTICES

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing its corporate value. As at the
date of this report, the Board consisted of seven Directors,
comprising four executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. At least one of the independent
non-executive Director possess appropriate professional
accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise, which complies with the requirement of the
Listing Rules.

Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Shimin (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun
(appointed on 30 October 2023)
Mr. Liang Zhichao
(appointed on 29 January 2024)
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (resigned as executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 March 2024)
Mr. To Kwan (resigned with effect from 21 February 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weijiang
Mr. Lee Chun Tung
Mr. Yau Sze Yeung

The Directors’ biographical information are set out in pages
17 to 21 of this annual report. All executive Directors have
given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively.
The Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.

EEELAHRS

ERCERRERSIEN

EFgaEEREEEERAEENEB RS
H EARMAECEBE - REAKSAH EF
CTHEREFHEN EFERNZRATESER
ZRBUFPITEST -EL—LBUFRTE
EREALTHRIAEZBENEXESER
RO HBEBER-

BITES

BHELE (£2/F)
BRE &L (BIE/E)
REEE L&
(R -_E - ZF+H=Z+HEZF)
REBLE
(R—EFE—HFE—HFH _—+H HEZT)
BFEREE (R - WFE=H—H
BFEHITEFERITEHAEE)
Mgt (R ZE_WE_/F —+—HEFT)

BIJFAITES

PREIEE
FHEMPRE
BERBTE

EEBEEFBRHNAFERBITEFE21HFf
BRTEFORNAERBEZTHF AL R ERFRE K
DA BRATEFHEEHEBUMBEZE
MR MBRRTRZBB - EFEMEZ
BHEVE EH KEXNEMEXRBEBE
1o

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

23



24

Corporate Governance Report

EXERKS

The Board has delegated the executive Directors with
authority and responsibility by handling the management
functions and operations of the day-to-day business of
the Company, while reserving certain key matters for the
approval by the Board. The types of decisions to be taken
by the Board include annual and interim period financial
reporting and control, equity fund raising, declaration
of interim dividend and making recommendation of
final dividend or other distributions, notifiable and
connected transactions under Chapters 14 and 14A of
the Listing Rules and making recommendation for capital
reorganization or scheme of arrangement of the Company.

The Board and each Director have separate and
independent access to the Company’s senior management.
A Director who considers a need for independent
professional advice in order to perform his/her duties
as a Director may convene, or request the secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) to convene,
a meeting of the Board to approve the seeking of
independent legal or other professional advice.

The Company adopts the practice of holding meetings
of the Board regularly for at least four times a year at
approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy
as well as the operation and financial performance of the
Group. Notice of meeting of the Board will be sent to all
Directors at least 14 days prior to a regular Board meeting.
Reasonable notice will be given to Directors for ad-hoc
Board meetings. Directors may participate either in person
or through electronic means of communications.
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During the Year, 13 meetings of the Board were held,
Directors are provided with relevant information to make
informed decisions. The attendance of Directors at the
Board meetings and the Board committees’ meetings is set

out in the table below:

Name of Directors

EEY

EEELHRS

$EF§E§3 13)\@%55@% E%Eﬁé’/{%
HEBEHMUFEABRAE EFGREFEE
EREFZERLFEBEREIN TR

Meetings attended/Eligible to attend

BEE/ SEREEZEE
Audlt Remuneration Nomination
Board Committee Committee Committee
- BNZEY HHNZEE R%LZEE

Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Shimin

Mr. Chen Xian

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (resigned as executive
Director and Chief Executive Officer with
effect from 1 March 2024)

Mr. To Kwan (resigned with effect
from 21 February 2024)

Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun (appointed on
30 October 2023) (Note)

Mr. Liang Zhichao (appointed on
29 January 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Weijiang
Mr. Lee Chun Tung
Mr. Yau Sze Yeung

HITES
BHELE
BELE
BFREE (RS- NE
—B—HEERTESK

TEAEE)
HiEsE (RZBZME
“BZ+—HED

REBRE (KT =F
TRA=tREZD W2
REBRE (K22 mE
—BZHNREZE)

BUIEBTES

BEIEE

FEpLEE
HRHEEE

Note:  Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun was appointed on 30 October 2023, 2
Board meetings were held after his appointment.

12113 NATEF N/AT 78 22
11113 NATEH N/AZT 78 N/AZT 8
13/13 N/AT & A NATER N/ATE R
13/13 N/AT & 33 N/AT 78
2 NATREHR NAT B N/AT B
N/ATR B N/ATE NATER N/ATE R
1113 4/5 23 12
13/13 5/5 33 2
13/13 5/5 NAT B N/AT B
Bzt %ﬁﬁ%im:g::¢+ﬁ:+aﬁéﬁ’mﬁ

EZABRBRITMAEETEEH
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EXERKS

Directors’ Induction and Continuous Professional
Development

All Directors, including independent non-executive
Directors, should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities as Directors and of the business and
activities of the Group. Each newly appointed Director
would receive a comprehensive induction package covering
business operations, policy and procedures of the Company
as well as the general, statutory and regulatory obligations
of being a Director to ensure that he/she is sufficiently
aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules
and other relevant regulatory requirements. The Group
also provides briefings and other training to develop and
refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and update all
Directors on the latest developments regarding the Listing
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirement to
ensure compliance and to enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.

Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun has been appointed as an executive
Director on 30 October 2023 and Mr. Liang Zhichao has
been appointed as an executive Director on 29 January
2024. Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun and Mr. Liang Zhichao obtained
legal advice from a firm of solicitors qualified to advise on
Hong Kong law as regards the requirements under the
Listing Rules that are applicable to him as a director of a
listed issuer and the possible consequences of making a
false declaration or giving false information to the Stock
Exchange on 6 November 2023 and 31 January 2024
respectively. Each of them has confirmed he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.
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During the Year, the Directors participated in the
continuous professional developments in relation to
regulatory update, the duties and responsibilities of the
Directors and the business of the Group in the following
manner and provided a record of training they received to
the Company:

EEELHRS

REAFEE EFBEBAUATHASHEEREES
BEZENAB EFZBFABRERTERE
BZRBEXERIPUIAEL LT RHNEF
PR R Eal e it

Attended
Seminars or
Briefing/Read
Materials
Name of Directors BNt g
E5%4 BN g REME
Executive Directors WITES
Mr. Pan Shimin BUHRAE v
Mr. Chen Xian PR & St 4 v
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin (resigned as executive Director BFRiEtE (W2 HFE=A—H
and Chief Executive Officer with effect HERITES RITEAER)
from 1 March 2024) N/AZ 58 FB
Mr. To Kwan (resigned with effect Mg E R _E _YE
from 21 February 2024) “AZ+—H&D N/A3E
Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun RIEBLE (W2 =F
(appointed on 30 October 2023) +HA=1+H%EZD N/AR 38 A
Independent Non-executive Directors BILFFRITES
Mr. Chen Weijiang PRETIAE v
Mr. Lee Chun Tung THEYRE v
Mr. Yau Sze Yeung EBHZIE v
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EEERERS

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

During the Year, the two positions are held separately by
two individuals to ensure their respective independence,
accountability and responsibility. Mr. Pan Shimin, Chairman
of the Board, is in charge of the management of the
Board and strategic planning of the Group. Mr. Cheng Chi
Kin, Chief Executive Officer, is responsible for the overall
business operation and formulating business plans. The
Company considered that the division of responsibilities
between the chairman and chief executive officer is clearly
established.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

All the independent non-executive Directors are appointed
for a term of three years, and subject to re-election on
retirement by rotation at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association (the "Articles”). One of the
independent non-executive Director has appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors
have confirmed their independence to the Company
as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company, based on such confirmations, considers all
independent non-executive Directors are independent.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee
with written terms of reference in compliance with the
CG Code. On 20 December 2013, the Board adopted a
set of the revised terms of reference of the Nomination
Committee, which has brought it in line with the new
Listing Rules relating to the board diversity with effective
from 1 September 2013. The revised terms of reference
setting out the Nomination Committee’s authority, duties
and responsibilities are available on both the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. During the Year
and as at the date of this annual report, the Nomination
Committee has the following members:

Members

Mr. Pan Shimin (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Weijiang
Mr. Lee Chun Tung

The Nomination Committee has adopted a written
nomination procedure specifying the process and criteria
for the selection and recommendation of candidates for
directorship of the Company.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee
are reviewing and supervising the structure, size and
composition of the Board with due regard to the board
diversity policy, identifying qualified individuals to become
members of the Board, assessing the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors.

Potential new Directors are identified and submitted to
the Nomination Committee for approval. The nomination
of Directors should take into consideration the candidate’s
qualification, ability and potential contribution to the
Company. A candidate to be appointed as an independent
non-executive Director must also satisfy the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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EXERKS

During the Year, 2 meetings were held by the Nomination
Committee to recommend the re-appointment of the
Directors standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting, to review the size, structure, composition as
well as diversity of the Board, to assess the independence
of independent non-executive Directors, and making
recommendation of new Director candidate for the Board's
approval. The Nomination Committee has also reviewed
the board diversity policy to ensure its effectiveness and
considered that the Group has achieved the objectives of
the board diversity policy during the Year.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee
with the written terms of reference in compliance with
the CG Code. On 31 March 2023, the Board adopted a
set of the revised terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee, which has brought it in line with the new
Listing Rules relating to the share schemes with effective
from 1 January 2023. The revised of reference setting
out the Remuneration Committee’s authority, duties and
responsibilities are available on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee has adopted the operation model where it
performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management. During the Year and as at the date of this
annual report, the Remuneration Committee has the
following members:

Members

Mr. Chen Weijiang (Chairman)
Mr. To Kwan
(ceased with effect from 21 February 2024)
Mr. Pan Shimin
(appointed with effect from 21 February 2024)
Mr. Lee Chun Tung

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

REAFE RLLEECARMREH EUE
REEBRIRRBFAGLBEERZES,
BMANEFG2RE-RE -ERKRZ L 5F
BEIFRTESFZ2HUM WEEBMEES
BEAN HEFEHE-RBLZETTH R

EFENESTIEBRMUBAREMMY > LR A
FEBFFEEREFTETHNESTIEERRZ
BiRe

HMEES

AABRIUFNEZE G BTEEE BT
ST EEREEE R =F=ZA=+—
H - &EFeRM—ELETFMEE B2
HLE FHETEE_T_=ZF-—H—HBEEX
WERKRMDFHNHFLETRA -HAEHFMEZS
TN - BMEREEZEETRELE TN K
AEPUERERABEEER FMEESEH
Rz EBEFREAREEIESEZEMAG &
FEREBRRMLESATESTKESREERE
ALHFMTBZRD -RAEAFERNAFRA
o -#MEZEEREUTHE

9]

BRESIAE (£/E)
MR A

(R —EZHFE—F —+—HA&I)
BHELE

(R —FEZWFE_—F - +—HEZT)
YA



Corporate Governance Report

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration
Committee are making recommendations to the Board on
the Company'’s policy and structure for the remuneration of
Directors and senior management, reviewing and approving
the management’s remuneration proposals with reference
to the corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board
from time to time and reviewing and/or approving matters
relating to shares schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

Details of the remuneration of Directors are set out in
note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. During
the Year, 3 meetings of Remuneration Committee were
held for, inter alia, reviewing the remuneration policy and
structure for as well as the remuneration packages of all
Directors and the senior management, recommending the
adjustment proposal to the Board, and considering and
recommending to the Board on the remuneration of the
proposed executive Director. No Director was involved in
deciding his own remuneration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG
Code. On 1 January 2019, the Board adopted a set of
the revised terms of reference of the Audit Committee,
which has brought it in line with the requirement of the
Listing Rules. The revised terms of reference setting out
the Audit Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities
are available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. During the year and as at the date of
this annual report, the Audit Committee has the following
members:

Members
Mr. Yau Sze Yeung (Chairman)

Mr. Chen Weijiang
Mr. Lee Chun Tung
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The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor and to approve the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor, and any questions
of resignation or dismissal of such auditor; reviewing the
interim and annual reports and accounts of the Group; and
supervising the financial reporting process and effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 5 meetings and
performed the following work:

1. Financial Reporting
o reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements for the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2022 in conjunction with the
external auditor;

o reviewed the accounting policies and
practices which may affect the Group with
the management of the Company and the
Company’s auditor;

o reviewed the auditing and financial reporting
matters, including the key audit matters of
the consolidated financial statements for the
years ended 31 December 2021 and 2022;

° reviewed the unaudited consolidated interim
financial statements for the six months ended
30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023;

o reviewed the audit planning for the Year in
conjunction with the external auditor;
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2. External Auditors
o reviewed the fees charged by the externals
auditor of the Company;

° approved the remuneration and terms of
engagement of the external auditor with
reference to the Guidelines for Effective
Audit Committees — Section, Appointment
and Reappointment of Auditors published by
Financial Report Council

3. Internal Audit
° reviewed the effectiveness of the internal
audit functions of the Group; and

4. Risk Management and Internal Controls
o reviewed the effectiveness of risk
management and internal control systems.

Each member of the Audit Committee has unrestricted
access to the auditors and all senior management of the
Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

All members of the Board are responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions. The corporate
governance functions are to develop and review the
Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance
to comply with the CG Code and other legal or regulatory
requirements, to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, to develop, review and monitor the
code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable
to employees and Directors, and to review the Company’s
compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in the
Corporate Governance Report.
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EXERKS

DIRECTOR’'S NOMINATION POLICY

The Director’'s nomination policy of the Company was
adopted by the Board and became effective on 1 January
2019 and the Nomination Committee is responsible for
execution.

Director Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and headhunters.
The Nomination Committee may also put forward director
candidates who are not nominated by Board members.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider
director candidates properly submitted by shareholders
of the Company through formal procedures set out in
the Company’s Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a
Person for Election as a Director.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee
shall make recommendations for the Board's consideration
and approval. For proposing director candidates to
stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation.

All director candidates, including incumbents and
candidates nominated by shareholders of the Company are
evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon the
director’s qualifications. While director candidates will be
evaluated on the same criteria, the Nomination Committee
retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting of
such criteria, which may vary based on the composition,
skill sets, and experiences of the collective Board rather
than on the individual candidate.

The Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to the recommendation of director candidates
by the Nomination Committee to stand for election
at any general meeting. The Board will take such
recommendations under advisement and is responsible
for designating the director candidates to be elected at
the annual general meeting of the Company and electing
directors to fill Board vacancies.
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Procedure for Appointment of New Director

Director candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together with
their written consent to be appointed as a Director and
to the public disclosure of their personal data on any
documents or the relevant websites for the purpose of or in
relation to their standing for election as a Director.

The Nomination Committee shall, upon receipt of the
proposal on appointment of new director and the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the director
candidate, evaluate such director candidate based on
the criteria as set out below to determine whether such
director candidate is qualified for directorship.

If the process yields one or more desirable director
candidates, the Nomination Committee shall rank them by
order of preference based on the needs of the Company
and reference check of each director candidate (where
applicable).

For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the
Company, the Nomination Committee shall evaluate such
director candidate based on the criteria as set out below
to determine whether such director candidate is qualified
for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation
to shareholders in respect of the proposed election of
Director at the general meeting (where applicable).

A director candidate is allowed to withdraw his/her
candidature at any time before the general meeting by
serving a notice in writing to the company secretary of the
Company.

Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.
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Procedure for Re-appointment of Director at General
Meeting

The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Directors including their attendance of Board meetings
and, where applicable, general meetings, and the level of
participation and performance on the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall also review and
determine whether the retiring Directors continue to meet
the criteria as set out below.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendation to the shareholders in respect
of the proposed re-election of Directors at the general
meeting.

Director Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee considers the following
qualifications are at a minimum to be required of a director
candidate in recommending to the Board potential new
Director, or the continued service of existing Director:

(@) the highest personal and professional ethics and
integrity;

(b) proven achievement and competence in the
nominee’s field and the ability to exercise sound
business judgment;

(©) qualifications including professional qualifications,
skills, knowledge and experience that are
complementary to those of the existing Board;

(d) the ability to assist and support management and
make significant contributions to the Company’s
success;

(e) the contribution on diversity of the Board and any
measurable objectives adopted by the Nomination
Committee for achieving diversity on the Board;
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(f) an understanding of the fiduciary responsibilities
that is required of a member of the Board and
the commitment of time and energy necessary to
diligently carry out those responsibilities; and

(9) meet the “independence” criteria as required under
the Listing Rules and the composition of the Board is
in conformity with the provisions of the Listing Rules
from time to time (where applicable).

Other than the foregoing, there are no stated minimum
criteria for director candidate, although the Nomination
Committee may also consider such other factors as it may
deem to be in the best interests of the Company and the
shareholders of the Company.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

On 20 December 2013, the Company has adopted a board
diversity policy (the “Policy”) setting out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Policy, the Company seeks to achieve Board
diversity through the consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service.

The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to
implement the Policy and review such objectives from time
to time to ensure their appropriateness and ascertain the
progress made towards achieving those objectives.

All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The ultimate decision
will be made upon the merits and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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EEERERS

As at the date of this report, the information (including sex,
age, educational background, professional experience, term HEER BEK!

zZ it =2

of appointment and designation) of the Board is as follows:

RERSAH - EFCEN (BHFE%H - F&8
EHARER) MT

No. of Director

BEAH
Age group: 41 to 50 3
FHe 4R - A1 ZE508%
51 to 60 4
51ZE605%
Gender: Male 7
MR 3
Female 0
Z
Educational background: Hong Kong and Macau 2
HEE=R: BE R
The PRC 3
FRE
Overseas 2
g4
Length of service (year): Below 1 2
ARFS IR (6F) - TELF
1-5 4
1254
6-10 0
6E 105
Over 10 1
105U E
Designation: Executive Director 4
5 HITES
Independent Non-executive Director 3

BIIFRITES
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For the purpose of implementation of the Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

1.

The Company shall comply with the requirements
on board composition under the Listing Rules from
time to time.

The number of independent non-executive Directors
should be not less than three and one-third of the
Board.

At least one of the independent non-executive
Directors must have appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise.

At least one Director should be the professional or
have intensive experience of the industry on which
the business of the Group is.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the

Policy.

In addition, the Nomination Committee believes that
gender diversity is a representing manifestation of board
diversity, among all other measurable objectives. While the
Board has a domination of male composition, the Company
is expected to appoint a female director by 31 December
2024 in order to achieve a female representation in the

Board.
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EEERERS

The Group is also committed to achieving gender diversity
across the workforce (including senior management).
The details of gender ratio in the workforce (including
senior management) are shown in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report. The recruitment policy of the Group is
to only consider the personal merits and capabilities,
qualifications, working experiences and performance of
the individuals during the recruitment process, transferal,
promotion, and training regardless of gender. In the
interests of enhancing efficiency, the Company has
not set any measurable objective for achieving gender
diversity at workforce level. The Company has nonetheless
always adopted a meritocratic approach and adhered
to the principle of openness and fairness without any
discrimination in respect of gender, disability, marital
status, pregnancy, religion, nationality, social or economic
class, rural or urban, political opinion, pathogen-carrier or
sexuality.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The audit works of the Group for the Year were performed
by McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited.
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The total fee paid/payable in respect of the statutory audit
and non-audit services provided by external auditor is set
out in the following table:

Corporate Governance Report

EEELAHRS

SNEEZBEMFT IR M Z A E R B KR IFZHIR TS
ZEN /BN ZERRBHEHEIIN TR :

Fee paid/payable

Services rendered FRr {2 AR 75 Bt &R

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022

BEZZE=F gEZT_—
+=—B=+—H +=ZB=+—H
WLFE IEFEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT IT
— Audit services —IZ B RS 1,250 1,300

— Non-audit services —IEZEPRTS

Interim review Fh AR 250 300
Total fee paid/payable Bz ERRH 1,500 1,600
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EEERERS

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company engaged an external professional company
secretarial services provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services
Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance and full range
of company secretarial services to the Group in order to
assist the Group to cope with the changing regulatory
environment and to suit different commercial needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying Stella ("Ms. Chan”), the representative
of Uni-1, was appointed as the named Company Secretary
on 6 June 2022.

Ms. Chan has complied with the requirement under Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.

During the Year, the primary contact person at the
Company for the Company Secretary is Mr. To Kwan, the
then executive Director of the Company, in relation to any
corporate secretarial matters.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S
RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors have acknowledged for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements at the end of the
Year which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flows for the
Year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for
the Year, the Directors have selected suitable accounting
policies and applied them consistently, made judgments
and estimates that are prudent, fair and reasonable and
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis. The statement by the auditor of the
Company regarding their reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 105 to 112 of
this annual report.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

ARWE
FARNBER - BEXQAANBERBIR

HER-—EERFERAR (IME—0%1) A
AEBRESRAREZEAATMERE > LUK

FEERNTHINENEEREKRESTE
MWEERE-

m-bEIAERREEL T (TR R
T _FRANBEZEARTWE-

Rz BB EHRAEI29MFMRE -

REFE  ARDERADHMENETEZEZLA
RERBDNFHERTESTHI AL BEEM
NEMESE-

EFRGUMBGREMBEHRRZEE

EXZRBRERRERZIGEUBTERER HEFE
rEBEF FEAREAERHEEERAYT
ZER - ERBEEAFEZHREMBRERE &
ECEMRAABEZESBR FHEE 2
FTMEEZHERER > T RFEEEREER
RECMBRR -ARALBMMEER 2R
G BBRRFAARZIEEH N ETFRFI058
E1NEZBIZBARESE -



Corporate Governance Report

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that
sound and effective risk management and internal controls
are maintained, while the management of the Company
is charged with the responsibility to design and implement
an internal control system to manage risks. A sound system
of risk management and internal controls is designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

Risk Management and Internal Control Framework of
the Group

The Board is responsible for the Group's system of risk
management and internal controls and reviewing its
effectiveness. The Audit Committee supports the Board
in monitoring the Group’s risk exposures, the design and
operating effectiveness of the underlying risk management
and internal control systems. The management of the
Company assesses and presents regular reports to the
Audit Committee on its own assessments of key risks, the
strengths and weaknesses of the overall internal control
systems, with action plans to address the weaknesses.
External auditor also reports on any control issues identified
in the course of its work. Taking these into consideration,
the Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of
the Group’s system of risk management and internal
controls, and reports to the Board on such reviews. Work
and findings of the management of the Company are
considered by the Board in forming its own view on the
effectiveness of the system.

The Group persistently engages independent professional
team and internal team in performing internal audit work
after considering the independence, flexibility, and overall
efficiency.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Systems and
Procedures

Control Environment — The Group has been operating
under an established and appropriate control environment
with reference to principles of “Internal Control and
Risk Management — A Basis Framework” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Risk management and internal controls cover effective
operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations.

Risk Assessment — The Group continues to drive
improvements to its risk management process and the
quality of risk information generated, while at the same
time maintaining a simple and practical approach. We seek
to have risk management features embedded within our
operations, aiming to have a risk management system that
is practised on a day-to-day basis by our operating units.

The Board reviews and understands the risk factors of the
Group and operations annually, and the management of
the Company continuously monitors the scope and quality
of ongoing risk management and internal control systems.
The "Top-down” monitoring ensures risk management
features embedded within the operations and operated
effectively.

Meanwhile, the heads of operation units participate in
risk identification from “Bottom-up” so as to identify the
Group's overall risks.

Control Activities — The Group's core property
development business and trading of raw sugar involve
well-established business processes. Control activities have
traditionally been built on top-level reviews, segregation
of duties and physical controls. We have been formalizing
and documenting the control processes in policies and
procedures. Written policies and procedures with defined
limits of delegated authority are in place, which facilitate
effective segregation of duties and controls.
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EXERKS

Planning and budgeting processes are one of key control
activities of the Group, which have been refined to
take into consideration risk factors. All operating units
prepare their respective operating plans pursuant to
corporate objectives for consideration. In this process,
they are required to identify material risks that may
impact the achievement of their business objectives.
Action items to mitigate the identified risks are developed
for implementation as well as for achieving the budget
and business objectives. Variance analyses are regularly
performed and reported to the management of the
Company and the Board. These help identify deficiencies
and enable timely remedial actions to be taken.

Capital expenditures monitoring is also significant to the
capital-intensive nature of the property business of the
Group. Depending on the nature and the size of the
projects, detailed analyses of expected capital expenditures
are submitted to the heads of operating units, executive
Directors or the Board for consideration and approval.

Monitoring Activities — The Board and Audit Committee
oversee the process, monitored by internal and external
professionals of the Group. The management of the
Company has emphasized in its updated reports to
the Audit Committee on movements of top risks and
appropriate mitigating measures. There is at least one Audit
Committee meeting substantially devoted to risks items.
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Procedures and Internal Controls for Handling and
Dissemination of Inside Information

In handling and dissemination of inside information, the
Group:

will conduct immediate dissemination once inside
information is available and/or respective decision
is made, except the inside information falling into
the Safe Harbours under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
(the “SFO") that allow non-disclosure;

- complies with applicable laws, rules and guidelines
on disclosure of inside information issued by
Securities and Futures Commission;

- decides and implements monitoring procedures
regarding dissemination of inside information; and

- communicates with relevant persons about
corporate information disclosure practices with
respective training.

REVIEW ON EFFECTIVENESS OF RISK
MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
IN 2023

During the Year, the Company engaged an independent
internal control consultant (the “IC Consultant”) to
review the internal control systems of the Group (the
“IC Review”). The IC Consultant issued a report on 2
March 2023 covering its findings, recommendations,
the Board's response and remedial status of the internal
control deficiencies and weaknesses. The IC Consultant
identified four key internal control weaknesses, namely: (a)
deficiencies in the payment approval policy of the Group;
(b) lack of written approval and supporting documents
for payments to connected parties; (c) lack of internal
control policies regarding connected transactions; and
(d) deficiencies in the procurement and price comparison
procedures. Subsequently on 29 September 2023, the IC
Consultant issued a supplemental report of the IC Review.

EEELHRS

BB R Z A #H BAEF I SR e 1

FREREHMABEETE  ~&H !

- —BAXABHEER/HEFLHEFHM
RERAMFERM BRIEFREANBHEE
)’Z"EA*}%%W%SN%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁi@ﬂlﬂﬂ
(TBFRBAERG) HENZEB
BEEMRE

- REEEREBRRITBERERRER
UhEZkIESBEEREZEGRMH
(ABHBIERESD

- HIKEREZAARZEMARHEEN

BEF ;&

— CEBORfEHEBAEBEARBMEEENK
BHRNATHE R R HEAEREE -

—_EBE_C-FRARERE
b3

BRAMEEZRK

FR > AABERBBUANMEIZEER (TAEE
ZEEB) UM AsEENRSEZERR (TR
MEZEEE)) RABEEBEBAR_T-_=F
=R= Eﬁﬁ—fﬁ%ﬁi’mé”@%.ﬁﬁ,m%\
HEZZ EFTNRBUKAMBEIZERE K
P IEEﬁ IR RIB T - W BB B4 BR R 35 IR N 1R
FERNIEERE B () AEENTRER
HREFRAERE (O)BEBRDARRZEEE
#tt&ﬁﬁﬂxﬁ (OBERXZRZ M EEEK

R, RAMEBREBLEREFEFERB - BER
5:7__EE7‘1)% +NH> AEREERRM &
BRI EESEEZ@HARSG -

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

47



48

Corporate Governance Report
EEERRS

The Company has adopted the IC Consultant’s
recommendations and taken remedial measures to address
the key internal control weaknesses identified. For instance:

0) The Group has revised its Financial and Management
Policy and pursuant to the revised policy:

(@) all payment transactions to third parties
exceeding RMB5 million shall be approved by
the Board;

(b)  all payments to connected parties of the
Group, regardless of the amount, must be
approved by the Board; and

(0 all loans, borrowing or payments which are
not in the ordinary course of business of
the Company, regardless of the amount and
the identity of the counterparty, must be
approved by the Board.

(ii) The Group has prepared an internal control manual
regarding its continuous disclosure responsibilities,
which specifies the principles and procedures
for disclosure as per Chapter 14 — Notifiable
Transactions of the Listing Rules.

(iii) The Group has also compiled a Connected
Transaction Manual and Guidelines and a List of
Connected Parties, which will be updated from time
to time in a timely manner.

(iv) The Group requires two of the Group's subsidiaries,
namely Maoming Huada Real Estate Development
Limited* (X2 HEAXEMERZEFRAF) and
Maoming Shang Cheng Real Estate Company
Limited* (X% L EZEHBRAT) (collectively, the
“Maoming Subsidiaries”) that whenever a payment
is requested, a “Payment Request Form” must be
prepared together with the appropriate supporting
documents, e.g. contracts (including but not limited
to loan agreements, if applicable), delivery notes,
invoices, etc, and approved by the designated
person-in-charge of the Maoming Subsidiaries in
accordance with the Approval Matrix under the
enhanced internal control policies.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

FATERMADEEBEBNIEERSE WK
B KA T AR FRE RN T E N EIER
S5IREN - BN :

(i) TEBEEEITHEHMBREERR LR
BEEBITBRRNIT

(a) FArERMF=ZAXZMNEBE ARIES
BETHRSHAESESFTSH
i: 3N

(b)y FRERAEERBEL MM
EoERTREZVOHEERSES
THE S &

() FIBLYERARTDEEEHBRE
PEYE R ERE T R & 8
RZXZEFHNSMHUNME > 5E
ERESEHE

(i =EEEREFERBEEEIRR—OR
MEEFM HPRERELHRAE
UE-ATFTREXZETHENRIK
BRFe

(i) =EETHEREEIS FMRERUK
FEMAO LB ITRAKEEETKREE
e

(iv), =&EBREXAEEMENBE L BIX
LHEABHMEREARLBD KSR L
HEXARAE (BEIRLMNBLRF
RN ME > B BEEIREBFR]
NREENEBAXHE Al ax (B
BARREMWZ (WER)) HEEE-
HRE THEXRWBARNEEES
ARBERTEANFEZERRE N ZER]R
EREETER-



Corporate Governance Report

(v) The Group also enhanced its procurement and price
comparison procedures:

(a)

the procurement assistant would obtain
fee quotations from at least two qualified
suppliers and conduct price comparison
analysis. The general assistant manager and
the general manger would then review the
same and approve the suitable supplier. The
fee quotations of all suppliers, including the
unsuccessful suppliers, should be retained by
the procurement department for record; and

the procurement assistant must compile
a price comparison analysis in support of
every procurement decision. If only one
supplier's fee quotation can be obtained,
the procurement assistant shall explain
the reasons. The price comparison analysis
together with all suppliers’ quotations would
be circulated to the head of the department
making procurement applications, the
assistant general manager and the general
manager for approval.

After reviewing the implementation of the remedial
measures by the Company, the IC Consultant considered
that its recommendations have been generally
implemented and the Company has in place adequate
internal controls and procedures to prevent and detect
incidents similar to the alleged unauthorized payments
made between 1 January 2021 and 28 February 2022
totalling approximately RMB143 million as disclosed in
the Company’s announcement dated 31 October 2022 in
future and to meet its obligations under the Listing Rules.
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GROUP'’S RISK FACTORS rEERBREIR

FRRBEEDHOER IMALBRTHBEE
B AR S B R T 0 MR S & R B 90 fa] BE
R mb Rt TRELAERHETES
REBNEE EXABREINBFRERERN

As a basis of risk management, we should understand the
Group's existing risk factors and respective change from
time to time. Listed below are the nature of significant risk
factors that the Group is facing, whilst the listed factors will

not be exclusive: BE

. The Group may be unable to sell property . RENEMET SN KD SHAERE
investment at expected prices or terms due to ZERBHANERIAGREEREER
volatility in the property market of the PRC. Bo

. The Group is required to comply with numerous . AEBBETZHEENIREAESRKS

HEOFERRE TEETEBES
BEEMETEMERNERS LS.

government rules and new regulations to be
promulgated from time to time, and may be
affected by tightening measures launched by the
PRC government for regulating the real estate

industry.
. The business of the Group may be significantly . HRNRBIINERRREOEETMERR
affected if the engaged external construction TR AHTEEPEANIIERZREK

ERELEHBE AEEEBRRIEKN
AR F -

contractors encounter any problem during
development of property given our full reliance on
them to conduct all the construction projects.

rEBTENEAAX-—BHEREXE

o Principal revenues and expenses of the Group — U

50

Property development business are denominated
in Renminbi. Investors may indirectly invest in
the assets denominated in Renminbi. If Renminbi
weakens against Hong Kong dollars, the asset value
of the shares denominated in Hong Kong dollars will
decline.

Implementation fluency and efficiency of exchange
control of the PRC will mitigate the ability of the
Group's fund transfer.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board makes its endeavour to maintain an ongoing
and transparent communication with all shareholders
and, in particular, use general meetings to communicate
with shareholders and encourage their participation.
A shareholder’s communication policy was adopted by
the Board on 29 March 2012 aiming at providing the
shareholders and potential investors with ready and timely
access to balanced and understandable information of
the Company. The Company also uses various other
means of communication with its shareholders, such as
publication of annual and interim reports, announcements,
circulars and additional information on the Group's
business activities and development on the Company's
website: www.chinauptown.com.hk.

The Board has conducted a review of the shareholders
communication policy for the year ended 31 December
2023 to ensure the effectiveness of the shareholders
communication policy. Such review shall be conducted
annually. The Board considered that the shareholders
communication policy for the year ended 31 December
2023 was effective.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing shareholders
and potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from
investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the
Board or the Company Secretary may be sent by post to
the Company’s head office and principal place of business
at Suite 1501, 15/F, Tower 1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road,
Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”)
was adopted by the Board and became effective on 1
January 2019.

The Dividend Policy is to ensure that the Board maintains an
appropriate procedure on declaring and recommending the
dividend payment of the Company. The Board endeavors
to strike a balance between the shareholders’ interests and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.
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The declaration and recommendation of dividends is
subject to the decision of the Board after considering the
Company’s ability to pay dividends, which will depend
upon, among other things:

the Group's financial results;

o the Group's cash flow, liquidity and capital
requirements;

° the Group's debt to equity ratios and the debt level,

o the accumulated profits and distributable reserves of
the Group;

° the Group's shareholders’ interests;

o the Group’s current and future business operations,

conditions, cycle and strategies;
° the general market conditions;

o the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may
be imposed by the Group’s lenders;

o statutory and regulatory restrictions;
° past dividend record; and
o any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

The Board has complete discretion on whether to pay a
dividend and the form to pay, subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Act of Cayman Islands and the
Articles. Any final dividends declared by the Company must
be approved by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders
of the Company at an annual general meeting and must
not exceed the amount recommended by the Board.

52 CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

EREEZBRNREEATESTLEEZRELR
BRKAMREZENBELRESIFE  MA
ARRNREZENDRKBEF TIESEME B
e

. rEBNPBES

D

e

. rEENRERE - RPETREESD
X5

A

. AEBNEBERGELERREB KT ;

. AEBBRsHEF AT D IR EEE

. AEBKRED ;

. AEBRFRRRNEHEE KR
B KRB

. —RMFBER

. RERKREENPERITENER

. MAEENERAFERMERNRS
Ik EE RS

. EERBEERS

. BEIKSLE ; &

. EFgRERAMEBZEMEMER-

EFSUEENBRERSIKMAKRE RIKM

2N EABTREEE R BEKRMAIZE

ARG - R AT EIRERMKBARE L BLER

ARRINKRERBERAELUEBREBRETY
HE BFASEBREFTEMERZIERE-



Corporate Governance Report

The Board may also consider declaring special dividends
from time to time, in addition to the interim and/or final
dividends.

There is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount for any given period.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to the Articles, an extraordinary general meeting
may be convened by the Board upon requisition by any
one or more shareholders holding not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company and the
securities being held carrying the right of voting at any
general meetings of the Company. The shareholder shall
make a written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary at the Company’s head office and principal
place of business at Suite 1501, 15/F.,, Tower 1, Silvercord,
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong,
specifying the shareholding information of the shareholder,
his/her contact details and the proposal regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.

Procedures for putting forward Proposals at a General
Meeting

A shareholder shall make a written requisition to the Board
or the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office
and principal place of business at Suite 1501, 15/F.,, Tower
1, Silvercord, 30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong, specifying the shareholding information of the
shareholder, his/her contact details and the proposal he/
she intends to put forward at general meeting regarding
any specified transaction/business and its supporting
documents.
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Procedures for Directing Shareholders’ Enquiries to
the Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the Company
Secretary at the Company’s head office and principal place
of business at Suite 1501, 15/F., Tower 1, Silvercord, 30
Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong or send
email to info@chinauptown.com.hk.

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at
the general meetings of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Year, the Company has made amendments
to its memorandum of association and the Articles (the
“"M&A") in order to (i) conform to the core standards
set out in Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules; (ii) update the
M&A according to the relevant requirements of the Listing
Rules and the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands; and
(i) make certain housekeeping amendments by way of
adoption of the second amended and restated M&A by
a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 31 May 2023. The second amended and restated
MR&A is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

Acknowledging the globally growing concern about
sustainability, the Group, as a socially responsible property
developer operating in China, is committed to operating
in an environmentally and socially responsible manner to
produce long-term value.

Reporting Guidelines

This is the eighth Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") Report of China Uptown Group Company Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the
“Group”). This report outlines the efforts the Group has
made to address ESG related risks and opportunities in its
property development business, which accounts for the
majority of its environmental impacts.

Reporting Scope and Period

The report covers ESG performance of the Hong Kong
office and property development business in the People’s
Republic of China (“PRC") for the period from 1st January
2023 to 31st December 2023.
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Feedback

The Group continues to enhance and expand its ESG
disclosures. We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on
the report and any suggestions on sustainability-
related matters. You may share your thoughts at:
info@chinauptown.com.hk.

BOARD STATEMENT

The Board of Directors oversees management of key
risks associated with environment, talent acquisition,
product quality and safety, and customer satisfaction,
as well as deciding ESG-related strategic directions.
Senior management is in-charge of material ESG topics
identification, and various departments are responsible for
implementation of ESG-related measures in the course of
daily operations.

The Board of Directors examines the progress on
environmental objectives on a regular basis to ensure that
the environmental impact of the Company’s operations
is being addressed effectively. The Company's Board of
Directors confirms that it has studied and approved the
report.

Stakeholder Engagement & Materiality

We engage with internal as well as external stakeholders,
including employees, shareholders, customers, sub-
contractors and the local community, and identify topics
that generate significant impact to the environment, the
economy and the society. The identified material topics
are occupational health and safety, product quality,
environmental management and anti-corruption. ESG-
related risks that are relevant to the Group are identified
and prioritized based on the likelihood of occurrence,
followed by the Board’s evaluation and approval, to
manage risks to the business.
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ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

Being a responsible company that abides by governmental
initiatives, the Group is dedicated to managing
and monitoring its environmental impacts. An ISO
14001-certified Environmental Management System
("EMS") is in place, led by the senior management and
backed by the environmental protection and monitoring
team. Environmental technicians of the Group are
competent to keep track of its environmental performance.

In addition to internal management, the environmental
protection department communicates closely with
outsourced contractors and suppliers working on our
construction projects. Regular checks are conducted to
assess the green practices they follow and mitigation
measures they implement on various parameters, including
air emissions, waste and noise. Besides maintaining
environmental performance, efforts are also made to
reduce the potential environmental impacts to the extent
possible.

To conform with the relevant national standards through
the building design and construction stages, the Group
continues to commission a qualified inspection and
testing organisation to conduct an environmental impact
assessment covering noise, air pollutants and sewage.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations' that
have a significant impact on the Group relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

! List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.
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Climate Change

We are concerned about the likelihood of climate change
having an impact on our operations. Extreme weather
events, such as typhoons and floods, might disrupt our
everyday operations. The Group is committed to managing
the climate change risks of its operations and formulates
strategies in accordance with industry practices to mitigate
the impacts of climate change on its operations and
increase its resilience.

A Climate Change Policy has been formulated, which
lists actions required and taken for addressing climate
change. To ensure that relevant information and resources
are available for monitoring and regularly reviewing the
impact of climate change on its employees and business
operations, the Group periodically reviews its climate
change policy.
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IRIG B RERHRS

Risks/Opportunities

B 1His

Potential Financial Impacts
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Our Actions in 2023
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Transition Risks
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government policies for
decarbonisation
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to lower emission
technology

BRI F BRI MBI
PiN

¢ Increased cost of compliance
and operation
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technology development
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Our Actions in 2023
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Risks/Opportunities Potential Financial Impacts
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Energy Consumption

Operations of the Group consume petrol and electricity
while no Liquefied Petroleum Gas (“LPG”) was used
this year and there was a significant decrease in petrol
and electricity consumption compared to the previous
year. During the reporting period, the Group consumed
approximately 268.9 gigajoules ("GJ") of energy, with
energy intensity of 0.08 GJ per square metre of floor area.?

Total Energy Consumption (GJ)
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Carbon Emissions

The Group's operations emit greenhouse gases (“GHG")
directly (Scope 1) and indirectly (Scope 2). Direct emissions
refer to GHG emissions from combustion of petrol by
its vehicles while indirect emissions are from purchased
electricity. During the reporting period, the total GHG
emissions amounted to 24.7 tons of carbon dioxide
equivalent (“tCO2e"). There were about 20.0 tCO2e Scope
1 and 4.7 tCO2e Scope 2 emissions, with emission intensity
of 0.01 tCOze per square metre of floor area.

e Floor area includes offices of the Group in Hong Kong and the
PRC.
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To address the growing impact of climate change, we
strive to optimise energy efficiency and reduce energy
consumption in both office operations and property
management. While the Group aims to fully switch to
electric vehicles by 2030 and ensure 100% of its electrical
appliances have energy-saving labels by 2025, various
energy conserving initiatives have been incorporated
in agreements with service providers in the property
development sector, making certain their operations are
compliant with our environmental protection policies and
guidelines.

Air Emissions

Petrol consumption was due to the use of vehicles for
site visits, resulting in emissions of approximately 0.11
kg of sulphur oxides (SOx), 3.18 kg of nitrogen oxides
(NOx) and 0.23 kg of particulate matter (PM) during the
reporting period. Sprinklers and protective nets are used at
the construction sites to reduce flying dust generated by
machinery and vehicles.

Solid Waste

The Group's businesses resulted in

generation of 8.0 tonnes of non- EEEEEY) (HF)
hazardous waste during the reporting
period. 10 —

To facilitate solid waste reduction,
environmental protection department
of the Group has set up a centralised
waste collection point to stimulate
recycling of construction waste and
encourage employees to adopt green
office measures for paper waste
reduction, with a target to gradually
move towards 100% paper recycling.
Operations of the Group do not
generate hazardous waste and
packaging materials waste.

2021
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e
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Noise

Construction work results in generation of considerable
noise and its control is important for the Company. Our
contractors are bound to work during permitted hours only,
manage transportation vehicles effectively, adopt sound
insulation and vibration reduction measures and set up
greening areas to diminish noise from vehicles.

Water Consumption

The Group used 7,500 cubic
metres (m3) of municipal water
in property development and
office operations during the
reporting period, and its intensity
was about 2.34 m? per square
metre of floor area. There were
no issues on sourcing water that
is fit for the purpose. The Group
is targeted to achieve 100%
compliant discharge.

As a water conservation initiative,
the Group operates temporary
water treatment facilities for
filtering and reusing water at
construction sites. To this end,
all water used for construction

projects is treated prior to discharge.

Water Consumption (m3)

K3H¥E (LK)
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RIE- B KREGHRS

OUR PEOPLE & COMMUNITY EMMWE I KRTE

China Uptown believes its success is built upon its REERMARGEEEMRNELITREENME R
employees’ dedication and competency. As such, BENERE-HIIL EMERTFTEARERBF
promotion and rewards are offered based solely on EREBEEENER -BM -FERKER -F5
expertise, contribution, performance and experience. As TEHREREF BARNOREELZTEENT
an equal opportunity employer, we strive to nurture a EIRIE B EM A X ERE AR o i H IR
diverse and inclusive work environment where any form of ARERITA BTIRASHRBEERERRUFF
harassment or discrimination is not tolerated. Should there RKE—F1THE

be any discriminatory conduct, staff should report to the
senior management for further action.

As of 31st December 2023, the Group had a total of 53 BE_Z_=—"F+°-_RB=+—H &xEBHA
employees. Employee composition by geographic region, S3%EE e FEe MR KBS D
age, gender and position is shown as below: BEAMW TR

36%
Education
Background

HEER

47%

o Degiree or above High school or below
REUUE SEEIVE

23% \
Employee
Category
BE%E5

e Geographical
Distribution

& 5

66%
@ Mainland China Hong Kong @ Management Front line
e 5 BE BEE AR A B
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Turnover and New Hire Rates by Age

RERBDHURKRERNEBLER

80 —
70 —
60 —
50 —
40 —
30 —
20 —
17%
10 —
0% 5%
Below 30 30to 50 51 or above
30 LR yearsold  51pRELl b
3058 E505%
B Turnover Rate New Hire Rate
TR FrESEEE

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations?
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunities, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

The Group is not prone to a high risk of child or forced
labour. Yet, we do stay vigilant about preventing
recruitment of child or forced labour and verify the age of
applicants to make sure they are not underage. During the
year, we were not aware of any non-compliance with laws
and regulations having a significant impact on the Group
relating to employment and labour practices; nor did we
come across any incidents relating to the use of child or
forced labour.

. List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.

RIB B RERHRS

Turnover and New Hire Rates by Gender

RIER B D RURKR BRI LE R

20 —
15 — 16%
14%
|
10 — |
5 J—
4% 4% |
s ‘
0 L -
Male Female
B %
Il Turnover Rate New Hire Rate
TR FEELE=

BREMEA ZERLRANBEMERE B
MemE - BEREA  TERKHEBREBF
SHE-Z T REGUKREMTERET
WHAERBEERLENBBMERER

FAEEEENELIHARFISIRABAS -BE
it WANRFEG BRBEE TR
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R ERERHRS

Health and Safety

The Group attaches great importance to occupational
health and safety. In order to minimise occupational health
and safety risk, we require contractors to strictly comply
with our well-defined safety policies at construction sites, in
accordance with relevant laws and regulations.*

During the construction process, supervisory engineers
collaborate with contractors to monitor performance in
respect of adherence to safety practices. Contractors are
required to prepare emergency action plans and install
necessary equipment and mitigate any safety hazards.
Before construction work commences, contractors
are required to submit a safety measures plan to the
supervising engineer of the Group for approval.

No work-related fatalities were recorded during the year. To
raise safety awareness, we regularly organise safety training
for employees. In 2023, a total of 352 person times of
safety training were recorded.

Total Safety Training Hours

ZRIEBRH

2500 —
2000 —
1500 —
1000 —

500 —

The Group was not aware of any non-compliance with laws
and regulations® that have a significant impact relating to
providing a safe working environment and protection of
employees from occupational hazards during the year.

25 List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Training and Development

China Uptown spares no effort to help its employees
excel and thrive by providing inspiring opportunities for
professional development. Various kinds of training is
therefore delivered to employees across all levels, including
directors, senior management and frontline staff. On top of
organizing mandatory training to update employees about
the latest trends in laws and regulations, we continue
to explore development opportunities that support the
employees to meet operational needs.

Enhancing the capability and competency of our sales team
is crucial. As such, we have formulated comprehensive
training plans for sales employees. During the vyear,
professional training focusing on various skills and
knowledge as outlined below was provided. We strive to
equip employees with a thorough understanding of the
market and pave the way to reach sales targets.

Personal skills trainings 1E A $% 8E =3I

e Professional qualities of a salesperson
e Sales mentality

e Conflicts resolution

e Sales elite training

RIE - ERERKRS

1R R 3 R

hE EMEMHS ARENREERKT 1B
EREMRAME REGRIN B TS
EX SREEEMNBEIZESRESREM
BREIRE - FEPAFIEIUEEERR
RHERZEZRBRIN RAKERERENN®
RETEZEFRNERERKE -

RARMBEEBRENENNKTERER
I EMEABEERENEEEEIE - F
e R T XS ERER N RESE
EEI BNIRNBREXD THERDS HER
HEERWBTER-

IHEABHEXRE

o HEDAE
o BIRRRIE
o SHERBRIE

e Project and sales management
e Property delivery
e Issues on railways around properties

e Sustaining customer relationships
¢ Handling disagreements with customers

Customers relationship trainings & 5 B {& 23

o HE KM E R
o YRR
o 1) 25 Y 3T S8 B I RE

o R PRI
o RIEREFR DI
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R ERERHRS

In 2023, 40% of male employees and 79% of female
employees received training, while 78% of managerial staff
and 51% of frontline employees were trained. The average
training hours completed per employee was 3.1 hours
during the year.

Community Involvement

The Group is keen to fulfil its corporate social responsibility
and actively participates in community services wherever
appropriate and financially feasible. Looking ahead, we
would continue to explore opportunities for collaborations
with third parties in community contribution.

OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE

The Group strives to adopt the industry best practices in
the property development business. We aim at maintaining
high standards in goods and services we provide. We do
this through active supply chain management and product
assurance.

Supplier Management

To ensure delivery of high-quality products, the Group
maintains a stable and close relationship with its business
partners and customers.

Selection of suppliers and contractors is in accordance
with a list of key criteria, including track record, financial
strength, quality standards, ESG performance and ethical
integrity. To fulfill our commitments in quality control,
social and environmental responsibility, internationally
recognised certifications such as I1SO 9001, I1SO 14001 and
OHSAS 18001 are also highly valued and considered in
the selection process. In 2023, the Group worked with 2
suppliers, all from mainland China.

The Group continuously engages with its suppliers and
contractors and enters into well-defined agreements and
contracts to maintain the quality of goods and services.
Terms and conditions listed in contracts ensure all suppliers
meet the required standards. We also regularly monitor and
evaluate their performances, which are recorded for future
screening processes.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aligning with our corporate values, contractors are required
to fulfill their respective corporate responsibilities. Regarding
environmental obligations, agreements are made with
contractors to minimise construction disturbance and potential
risks caused to nearby communities. To maintain occupational
safety and quality, provision of worker training and
establishment of quality award system are also encouraged,
for achieving high standards of contractual requirements.

Product Responsibility

As a responsible property developer, the Group is
committed to offering products and services of top-class
quality and great user experience. To assure product quality,
we enhance performance of our contractors by following
comprehensive selection and approval processes. Inspection
and evaluation of quality are based on criteria such as
construction standards, hygienic and safety conditions, etc.

Product Assurance

The Group maintains close relationships with its contractors
and ensures quality assurance throughout the construction
period. Before construction commencement, our
contractors establish specialised construction management
agencies in-charge of on-site operations and conditions.
Construction permit and commencement report are
obtained upon setting up supervision procedures.

RIE - ERERKRS

BREMVEXEER HEBEARTEADN
TESEZ-REREZHFMs  RMERKOBHE
pipE BRIER VO HBBHREMBERBAE
REBERARE HREREZEREE HMAR
BiRHEIAEIRRIESRBET  UEE
FRKFEHNEHNEK-

=
2]}

i

il

£

FREaEENYERER AEEAERMED
B-—RNERKRGZUREENBRER &
BREREGE RMBBRABTEENRERS
HABRAXEBRE - RARBEEARER
BEhFEEE PNEREE - FERZER

M e

EamRiE

FEEFRAOHEREREG BRREEARSE
BERNEEMRE M IR HFANKE®HIL
HFNEREERB aEREEE RN -
FIEEERFR ESHIFUERALIR

H
= ©

Quality assurance in construction projects

BETRREERE

Contractors A B &

e Make agreements with the Group
regarding construction standards
PIRRRE AR E B ER H &

e Set up supervision procedures of
high quality and safety standards
REBRMERZERENGE
2

e Establish management agencies in

charge of daily operations
MIBESHESNEIEHE

|

The Group &% E

e Ensure standards are met upon
project completion
EARERERET

e Assign supervisory engineers who
are responsible for monitoring
and addressing onsite operational

issues
ZREEETIEMa SRR NEE
R E B E

Government Departments B fF BP9

e Perform inspection on standards including
safety and environmental standards
BT e RIRIRIRELZIRE
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R ERERHRS

A number of environmental protection, safety and quality
control measures are planned and implemented under
the supervision of designated engineers. In case of any
defects being identified during construction, we work
with contractors for taking appropriate actions followed
by immediate re-examination. Upon completion of a
project, it is ensured that it meets all national and provincial
standards.

Customer Satisfaction

The Group enhances customer satisfaction by continuous
and ongoing engagement with customers and providing
responsive services. We endeavor to disclose all necessary
information to customers in order to help them make
informed purchase decisions. Customer satisfaction
is maintained in cooperation with qualified property
management companies. Customers are also encouraged
to provide feedback via our communication channels.
Looking ahead, we would continue to review our
performance and make improvements based on customers’
feedback.

Code of Conduct

The Group places great importance on upholding the
highest standards of ethics, honesty, openness and
accountability in the workplace. Employees at all levels
are expected to follow the stringent code of conduct with
integrity, impartiality and honesty.

Data Privacy

Customer information privacy and rights are protected by
adhering to relevant laws and regulations.® While every
effort is made for managing information disclosure of
projects, identity of employees is not divulged without their
consent, under normal circumstances. During the year, we
were not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the
Group concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

e List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

EEIRMEERIRERSZERFR - ZE2K
BEEHER NMERRBREPEREHR
B RPRRKEDESFERIBERER AR
BlETEZ - TRIET®R  AEMFRwEFTSE
KRB RITE-

ERMEE

AEBRBRFERTHEBENEZRETES
REHAZENERS  BATFWEE KA
IRBERRBEFRMELEZEMN KMANNE
FHREMBEERE RMARGERYEEER
AEfF REZERPAEE -RATXBEFRE
BRFANEBRBIRMERE R LR &
BEZRMANKRBIREER REMBHKE-

17728

FERSEERETLRSAMERESRED
BRE -BE - RARKBE - ZRANEBEREST
BRERBHEE R FRAETAHER -

ERIE

ZMBBETHBEEZRERFEZLEHL
[RREF RIBHEEEBENERKEIN Y E
EBERNTARAEEREFIATREEEN - F
N RMHEEZREAANTERELEZEE
HE RE - ERERFLEFTERBREEN
ERRERMEAERELEERTENE R

¢ AR RERIREIOERER -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Anti-corruption

The Group regards ethical integrity as the foundation
of its success. In compliance with relevant laws and
regulations’, we strictly prohibit any form of corruption
including improper transfer of benefits and other unethical
behaviours on part of employees.

The Group

EE

Anti-

Corruption Suppliers
Policy HAER
R&=

Employees

RIB B RERHRS

R&5

FEBREETRBBRINNESG - FHFIETHE
BERRZR BERBESTELEREEAER
WESTR BEATEMN aBEREMEEE
BRITR-

e Ensure the compliance of relevant laws and regulations
ERETHERBNEERIER

e Conduct investigations on suspected cases of misconduct
HELAETHAEMARAL

e Take disciplinary actions and inform responsible public regulatory bodies

where necessary
EREAC 2 BR 70 Fa i 3 7 s 22 By 4 RN 3 B B 8 P

e Conduct selection based on past records of ethical integrity
RB BT S C o ETTER

e Sign contracts or agreement with the Group
BAREERIT SN H®

e Undergo regular anti-corruption training
TR RE5E

=
1EE e Report suspected cases to senior managers as encouraged under the
whistle-blowing mechanism

RIBRME T A SR EIEERRELUEZ

For prevention of any misconduct, employees are
encouraged to report suspected cases of corruption
using our whistleblowing mechanism. Disciplinary actions
including termination are taken when a malpractice or
misconduct offence are proven after due and diligent
investigations. Offences are also reported to appropriate
authorities if there is any evidence of criminal activities in
breach of legal and regulatory requirements. During the
year, the Group was not aware of any breach of laws and
regulations that had a significant impact on the Group
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money laundering.

/ List of applicable laws and regulations available in Laws and
Regulations.

HEHEEAETR RAXBEEERSR
HHERRUE SER -EERAERIZER
EEILEETAXNTETHBIIET  FHRIL
BT OEKLERBGR MEREEWER
ERAGEERTENLRETHIE RABEH
HERFT - FR xEBTANTEFER
BERER SR MEF AR RERIEH KER
M AERELEEATENBE R

/ AR RERIREIOERER -
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RIF- L RERHRS

APPLICABLE LAWS AND REGULATIONS HERERRER

Laws and Regulations Section

ERRGER =1: 1]
Emissions o Environmental Protection Law of the PRC Environmental

Management

BEBA) . (PE ANRHENRIRIEREE) RIEEE

o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Air

Pollution
. (PEAREMBRARRSRBEREZE)
o Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of

Water Pollution

. (FREAREMBKSEPAEZE)

. Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes

. (hEARANBEEREY) S RIREEE)

o Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment

. (REARENBEIRGZETEE)
Use of Resources o Law of the PRC on Conserving Energy Environmental

Management

BIRfEA . (FPEE AR HEMBEEHAI8ERZE) RIREE
Employment o Labor Law of the PRC Our People & Community
(4 . (REARENMESEE) RPN E T RtE

o Labor Contract Law of the PRC

. (PEARENBEZESRE)

o Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labor

. (BIEFEREIRE)

o Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

. BE(EEIEAD
Health and Safety o Production Safety Law of the PRC Health and Safety
EREZE . (PFEARENBEZZEEZE) REREZ S
Product Responsibility o Regulations on the Quality Management of Product Responsibility

Construction Projects

EmBE . (B IEEEEIERM) EmEE
Anti-corruption J Criminal Law of the PRC Anti-corruption
R&5 . (PZEANRHMBEFED k&5

o Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong Kong

. XA L)
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RIE-HERERRS

PERFORMANCE DATA SUMMARY BYBERE

Employee Total Headcount 53 53
== YN
By Geographical Distribution
i 53
Mainland China 41 38
e NS
Hong Kong 12 15
BE
By Age
HEFhe
<30 6 8
<30%%
31-50 43 39
31-50%%
>50 4 6
>507%
By Gender
b gl
Male 25 28
B4
Female 28 25
geqid
By Educational Background
RYEESR
Degree or above 34 49
REBFU L
High school or below 19 4
S E N
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By Employee Category

HETEER

Management 18 23
SIEE

Frontline 35 30
A AR

Employee Turnover Rate

BIRKE

By Age

R

<30 0% 25%
<305%

31-50 5% 5%
31-50%%

>50 75% 0%
>505%

By Gender

iR

Male 16% 7%
sM

Female 4% 8%
g

Employee New Hire Rate

METABE

By Age

BER

<30 17% 25%
<305%

31-50 5% 0%
31-50%%

>50 50% 0%
>507%
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RIE-HERERRS

By Gender

bz gkl

Male 4% 0%
S

Female 14% 8%
e

Percentage of Employees Trained

1= W=D

By Gender

=R

Male 40% 46%
St

Female 79% 60%
pegid

By Employee Category

METEER

Management 78% 17%
=i

Frontline 51% 80%
Al AR

Average training hours 3.1 3.7
T3 15 51| B 8K

By Gender

=R

Male 1.2 1.8
St

Female 1.1 5.9
pegid

By Employee Category

METEER

Management 2.8 1.3
=i

Frontline 1.5 5.6
A AR
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RIE- B KREGHRS

Safety Safety Performance

Z& ZERIR
Work-related injuries 0 0
I5
Lost days due to work injuries 0 0
HIGERIEEH
Work related fatalities 0 0
BT FERAR A S
Training on Occupational Health and Safety
W REZ2IEI
Total person-times training 352 384
(EPNEEH R
Total training hours 2,034 1,152
AR o)l B 8K

Environment Total Resources Consumption

IR BRHEEE
Electricity (kwWh) 8,300 327,696
B (TERE)
Petrol (litre) 7,500 24,200
R (R
Total energy consumption (GJ) 268.9 1,951
REsFE (B58)
Total energy intensity (GJ/m? floor area) 0.08 0.61
REREE (FE/S§THK—BEEH
Water (m?3) 7,500 2,914
K QLA AR
Water intensity (m*/m? floor area) 2.34 0.91
KEBE UAK/ BEHK-—EEERR
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RIE-HERERRS

Greenhouse Gases Emissions

= R ARHER

GHG emissions (tCOze) 20.0 251.3
BRERBBHK ME_StkE2)

Scope | (tCOze) 4.7 64.4
#HE— (E_ELHRES

Scope Il (tCO2e) 24.7 186.9
#HE" E_FEHREE

Emission intensity (tCO2e/m?2 floor area) 0.01 0.08

MR E WM_atiEE ST K—EEER
Air Pollutants from Vehicles
HWZERSHY
NOx (kg) 0.11 25.92
ag|1ty (=)
SOx (kg) 3.18 0.36
meaEy (A )
PM (kg) 0.23 2.3
RE BN (R T)
Waste
EE¥)
General waste (Tonnes) 8.0 7.50
— AR EEYD (ME)
Community Donation (RMB’000) 0 0
HE B (ARET T
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RIE- B KREGHRS

ESG CONTENT INDEX RIE-#HEREBNBRSI
KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

A SR ERAMRAIRE - HEREARGIESIER Ef/MEE

Governance structure

R

Mandatory disclosure A statement from the Board containing the following BOARD STATEMENT
elements:
(i) a disclosure of the Board's oversight of ESG issues;

(ii) the Board's ESG management approach and strategy,
including the process used to evaluate, prioritise and
manage material ESG-related issues (including risks to
the issuer’s businesses); and

(i) how the Board reviews progress made against ESG-
related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

SR EE HEFEFLNER ERFHE TIARS !

) HEEEGHRE HERELRETENEGE;

(il EFFNRE -HERELABEERHRERE  SFT
E BRI AEEREEENRRE - HEREREMSE
H (BEHETAEBNER VBRE; &

(i) BEBFFNARIRERE -HERELAEAEREAES
AR I 3T A X RRRE

e
it
il
%4
N
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RIE-HERERRS

KPIs

R SRR RIS 1R

Reporting principles
EER R A

Mandatory disclosure

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFIRIR - ERERREIESIER

A description of, or an explanation on, the application of the
following Reporting Principles in the preparation of the ESG

report:

a)

Materiality: The ESG report should disclose: (i) the
process to identify and the criteria for the selection of
material ESG factors; (ii) if a stakeholder engagement
is conducted, a description of significant stakeholders
identified, and the process and results of the issuer’s
stakeholder engagement.

Section/Remarks

SHiMEE

This report is prepared in

compliance with the
ESG Reporting Guide
set out in Appendix
C2 to the Main Board
Listing Rules and
Guidance published by
the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (the “Listing

b) Quantitative: Information on the standards, Rules”). Reporting
methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation tools principles of Materiality,
used, and source of conversion factors used, for the Quantitative, Balance
reporting of emissions/energy consumption (where and Consistency are
applicable), should be disclosed. applied in preparation

Q) Consistency: The issuer should disclose in the ESG of this report.

report any changes to the methods or KPIs used, or any
other relevant factors affecting meaningful comparison.

SRl BR AR ERERE CEREARSHNMAEA TIE FRETHVBREBEHR
WERA PRTISER MR LR
a) 2N I RE - HEREABREEREE ()HNERE BIKEESI (EHRA)

B ERELRRRNBRENEREERRNER;
(NMNETABETHMNES R BRHMNNEZFNE

Py ERC2F B RYIR IR ~ ¢

GREAREIES IR

P RETAFNESRIBRERER RoREARETHHRA
by Bt ARMERIKRE FERER CER FTANE EEN - -2t 1%k
BNFENRR R/ RAETANER UKRFIER —HMERERR -
BB R R A HORIE TIRER
0 —EMIBETARTERR HEREARESHERER

SHHARRABENIERNEE WA EFTHME
ERERIEENBERAR-
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RIE-HERESHRS

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks

R SRR RIS 1R BEABMTAIRIR - HEREAREIESIER ST

Reporting boundary
BEREEE

Mandatory disclosure A narrative explaining the reporting boundaries of the ESG Reporting Scope and
report and describing the process used to identify which Period
entities or operations are included in the ESG report. If there is
a change in the scope, the issuer should explain the difference
and reason for the change.

SR EE BREIRIG B REARENWEREE RHAENLEE RELEKIRRE
RHEBMARR - HERELARGHNBER - SEKRLES
P 1T NERERNRZ R REHREA -
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KPIs

R SRR RIS 1R

A. Environmental

AR
Aspect A1:
Emissions

EEA1 :
HERH

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - ERERKRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFIRIR - ERERREIESIER

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges

into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-

hazardous waste.

—RRE
BRBRR

BEREBN - KRB A ERE

EBEEYNELESH
a) BUER; &
b) BTFHBITAEBEARTENREBEERBONER -

KPI A1.1

RESRAE IS
TBAT.1
KPI A1.2

RESRAE IS
EAT1.2
KPI A1.3

Bk v
1ZA1.3
KPI A1.4

RS TE
RA1.4
KPI A1.5

RASEAE S
1BA1.5
KPI'A1.6

RESRAE IS
EA1.6

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.

R ERR ARRR R B o

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity.

B (#BE—) REREE GEED) BERRE
e E UWEEE) Kk WER) BE -
Total hazardous waste generated (in tonnes)
and, where appropriate, intensity.
FREEBEREEYRE QUETE) &k (#E
) ZEe

Total non-hazardous waste generated (in
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity.

PRELBREEEYEE CUEE) Kk WE
) B

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

HIMPAET UMNHINE B R R A ETIELEER
PTEREX B9 27 B3 o

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.
HERIEAENBEEREEYN G L kit
FTa] LAV B B R K 7 Ba - B AR P ERER
K 5% o

Section/Remarks

SHiMEE

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT

RIEEE

Air Emissions;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY

EEREBEN ;
BEURHBERE
Carbon Emissions;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY

BRHEIR 5
BURHBERE

Solid Waste;

(& BS BE =24

Solid Waste;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY

EIRSEEYD ;
BUNHBREE
Carbon Emissions;
Air Emissions

BRBE

BE R

Solid Waste

(& RS BE 22 4)
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE- B KREGHRS

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
R ERUEE BEABRFIRIR - ERERREIESIER Sfi/EE
Aspect A2: General Disclosure ENVIRONMENTAL
Use of Resources Policies on efficient use of resources, including energy, water ~ MANAGEMENT
and other raw materials.
[EEA2 : — ARk EE RIEEE
BiRfER BXRERER (B1ERIR  KREMEREMR) OEER -
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Energy Consumption;
type in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity. PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
RRENE RENISNERKREFEREESE BEFE
HEA2.1 UUFETFRESSE) REBE- BRI E
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Water Consumption;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
RARENIE REKEREE- KIBFE
1ZA2.2 BB E
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set  ENVIRONMENTAL
and steps taken to achieve them. MANAGEMENT

RAENMIE WP UM RERAMEE R RAERE RREEE
1EA2.3 LE B IR PTERENAY P BR o
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in Water Consumption
sourcing water that is fit for the purpose,
water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
RARERNTE HAUKECER /KR LRI B 1ERIEE > UURFr  KOHFE
12A2.4 ST AR m B R A EDE L B R
EXRy 2 5% o
KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished Solid Waste
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with
reference to per unit produced.
RASRAEIIE HMMFTAEEMRNEE U8 k(1 EREEY
1EA2.5 B BEEBLS-
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIG B RERHRS

KPIs

R SRR RIS 1R

Aspect A3:
The Environment and
Natural Resources

[E@EA3 :
IRIBRRAEIR
Aspect A4:

Climate Change

[EEA4 :
RIREE

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFIRIR - ERERREIESIER

General Disclosure

Policies for minimizing the issuers’ significant impact on the
environment and natural resources.

— IR E
AR EEAT

KPI'A3.1

AHIRIERRAE REMERF EHER

Description of significant impacts of business
activities on the environment and natural
resources and actions taken to manage them.
FARANIE HWMMEREBHRIERRXABERNEALE
1ZA3.1 REENEERMEZENTH

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

— AR EE

ﬁﬂ&%ﬁeﬁ AREEHETAELERENERRIER
BAE HEABER

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related

issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.
RRENIE HlEKKAIEGHETAELERENEKX
EA4.1 RIGHEAEE > KELHTE

Section/Remarks

SHiMEE

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT

RIFEE

ENVIRONMENTAL
MANAGEMENT

Climate Change

RIREE

Climate Change

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED *E LisEEARAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

83



84

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE- B KREGHRS

KPIs

R ERUEE
B. Social
BAt®
Aspect B1:

Employment

[EmEB1 :
EfE

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements

BEABMTAIRIR - HEREAREIESIER

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

related to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and

promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity,

diversity, anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

—RIRE

BRI E BIEASH s LIRS R 5%

2 EZalb - RERUREMFBREFD :

a) BUR ; &
by EBTHBETABEARENEREEARGANE
#} o

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region.

RARENIE BRI BERE  FHAER R MES SR

1EB1.1 ISEEY 6

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region.

RAENGE IR FicAER R E S DRI E S MK

1EB1.2 o
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Section/Remarks

SHiMEE

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RPNEIKHt&

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
HPANETRHEE ;
BMBIERE

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY;

BFNETIRHE ;



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERERRS

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
RARE A ISR BEABRFIRIR - ERERREIESIER EHfi/fEE
Aspect B2: General Disclosure Health and Safety
Health and Safety Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards.

[EmB2 : — R RERZE
REEZE BRRELZETHRRIERREREREHCHEMTCEN !
a  HBE R
by ETHETABEAXEZNEMEERRAINE
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities PERFORMANCE DATA
occurred in each of the past three years SUMMARY

including the reporting year.
RRENIE BE=FRN (BEREFEE ELEMRIET BXEEREE
1ZB2.1 A B LR -

KPI B2.2 Lost person days due to work injuries. PERFORMANCE DATA

SUMMARY
RGN RIEBATIIFEH- BNEIERE
12B2.2

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety
measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.
RSRENIE HFTRANBERREE 22N UWRIE #REZEE
12B2.3 RAIT R %
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE- B KREGHRS

KPIs

R SRR RIS 1R

Aspect B3:
Development and
Training

fEmB3 :

BERE R

Aspect B4:
Labour Standards

[BTEBA4 :
BT #A|

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFIRIR - ERERREIESIER

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for
discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.
— ARk

BRI EEEIT LER BN K i AR BUR o #iiE
SESE o
KPI'B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by
gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

BmRENE "M RESER WMESREERE PREE

1EB3.1 EB% BlnN=ZilEERtE-
KPI B3.2 Average training hours completed per

employee by gender and employee category.

RSRENIE BB REEERREI D SHEETHZI
1%B3.2 GRS

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to prevention of child or forced labour.

— AR IR EE

BRAPy L E T a5 TAY

a) B &

by BTHETABEARXENEREERRAINE

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment

practices to avoid child and forced labour.

RASRAERIE HitEsT B E AR LUE R E T K aa|

1ZB4.1 g To

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such

practices when discovered.

Bt EERIB R H bR A R B T IR EY

B BR o

RESRAE IS
1ZB4.2
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Section/Remarks

SHiMEE

Training and Development

Al %R

Training and
Development;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
EilREE ;
BUBBRE
Training and
Development;
PERFORMANCE DATA
SUMMARY
BilRER ;
BNEIERE

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RPN BE T RitE

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RPNETIKRHt&

OUR PEOPLE &
COMMUNITY

RPNEIKRt&



KPIs

R SRR RIS 1R

Aspect B5:
Supply Chain
Management
JEEBS :
HFEHEEE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - ERERKRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
BEABRFIRIR - ERERREIESIER Sfi/EE
General Disclosure OPERATIONAL
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the EXCELLENCE
supply chain
— ARk EE PHEE
EEHRENIRE A E REREER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supplier Management
RASRAEIIE HMESoNHEHSE - HEEEER
12B5.1
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supplier Management
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
RASRAEXNIE I ERBAEEENIES mERITER  HEMEIE
1ZB5.2 BAHNHERSE - UkEREANRNITR
BERAE
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supplier Management
environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
RASRAERIE WA RMHRESERANEREREE HEHEIE
1£B5.3 R EERIE A U BRI T B 5 7% ©
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supplier Management
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
RSB HEREHEERECSRARREMKR HEHEIE
12B5.4 FRVIE G > LURABRAIT R 5%
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIF- L RERHRS

KPIs HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements Section/Remarks
RARE A ISR BEABRFIRIR - ERERREIESIER EHfi/fEE
Aspect B6: General Disclosure OPERATIONAL
Product Responsibility Information on: EXCELLENCE

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy

matters relating to products and services provided and

methods of redress.

[EEB6 : —ARiREE SHEE
EmEE ERFTEERNRBHNRREZ2 - BES RE NES
BEUREH A EDN !
a) BR; &
b) EBTHBEITABEAXEMNERNERARAINE
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Data Privacy
subjected to recalls for safety and health
reasons.
FRENIE EENCEXEMRBTELZEBREER BEBELE
1%B6.1 AW B DL
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Customer Satisfaction
complaints received and how they were dealt
with.
RRAENIE BEENERMRBILFHEUKRERT BRREE
12B6.2 %o
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing Data Privacy

and protecting intellectual property rights.

BREMIE B R RIE R AR A RVIEA - ESE RN

12B6.3

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and Product Assurance
product recall procedures.

RRENIE HlEERTEBREKREmLIWRER - mERE

12B6.4

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Data Privacy
privacy policies, how they are implemented and
monitored.

RASRAERIE HIUSEE BB RERMBEER  UREE  BURNE
1%B6.5 HITRERG Ao
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KPIs

R SRR RIS 1R

Aspect B7:
Anti-corruption

[EHEB7 :
RES

Aspect BS:
Community
Investment

JZEBS :
HERE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIE - ERERKRS

HKEX ESG Reporting Guide Requirements
BEABRFIRIR - ERERREIESIER

General Disclosure

Information on:

a) the policies; and

b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

— AR

BRI LR~ 81 R ~ RO B8R0 ¢

a) BE; &
by ETHETABEAXZEZNERMEERRAINE
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding

charges of corrupt practices brought against
the issuer or its employees during the reporting
period and the outcomes of the cases.

BREME RERPAABETANHESRETEES

1%B7.1 NESHFAREGRIME KL ER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and

whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.

RRENIE WM EEEARRRERF  URBEERITR

12B7.2 BRAE
KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided

to directors and staff.
FRENIE WinEEAETRMANRETE -
1ZB7.3

General Disclosure

Policies on community engagement to understand the

needs of the communities where the issuer operates and to
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.

—ARiR R

BRIt @2ERTHRETASEMETLREEMERE
EFEBEETRUENTAIBR

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution.
AN EFaREE-

1ZB8.1

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area.

RIBAENIE TR IHEmMHAEER.
1ZB8.2

Section/Remarks

SHiMEE

Anti-corruption

A n—

RES

Anti-corruption

R&=

Anti-corruption

R&ES
Anti-corruption

k&5

Community Involvement

H&

(&l

W

~

Community Involvement
HEesH

Community Involvement
HEesH
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Report of Directors

EFEHS

The Directors are pleased to present their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of the Group are engaged in (i) property
development and investment; and (i) trading of raw sugar.
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group's turnover by business segments
and geographical segments for the Year is set out in note 5
to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the Year are set out in this annual
report on pages 113 to 228.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any
dividend in respect of the Year.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities,
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five
financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated
financial statements is set out on page 4 of this annual
report. This summary does not form a part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND MARKET
OUTLOOK AND PROSPECTUS

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and
a discussion on the Group's future business development
are provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis
on pages 5 to 16 of this annual report.
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group’s financial condition, results of operations,
businesses and prospects would be affected by a number
of risks and uncertainties including market risk, credit
risk, and liquidity risk. The risk management policies and
practices of the Group are shown in notes 39 and 40 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Group commits to the long term sustainability of the
environment and communities in which it operates. Acting
in an environmentally responsible manner, the Group
endeavours to comply with laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection and adopt effective measures to
achieve efficient use of resources, energy saving and waste
reduction.

The Group also commits to the principle and practice of
recycling and reducing. To help conserve the environment,
it implements green office practices such as re-deployment
of office furniture as far as possible, encourage use of
recycled paper for printing and copying, double-sided
printing and copying, reduce energy consumption by
switching off idle lightings, air conditioning and electrical
appliances. Details for the environmental policies and
performance of the Group during the Year are set out in
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages
55 to 89.

Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

As far as the Board is aware, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group. During the Year, there was no
material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable
laws and regulations by the Group.

Report of Directors

EFTHS

FERBREAEERSR

FAEEBZHUBRR KEXR - EZHBRAIEF
RBRZABRKRIERERNZFZE BETEHEA
Z-EERARKABETAR AERZ AR
EERRARBEERINGEMBHREMEE39
k2400

IRIEBUER R R IR

AEBRNIREKERERERABZRY
AFEE -AEBUHREESZANITS
BNEBETERMBRZEBRRER  LRIA
MBMERERE M A EREA KREY R

/1N
Mo

FEBETETRERANBNBHNZRAESE
HBonBIRERR FAEBERGOHAE
T NEAEEMZEEHANBRAIERE
SRR EERRITEREH - REEEITE
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Report of Directors

EFEHS

Relationship with Suppliers, Customers and other
Stakeholders

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a
good relationship with its suppliers, customers and other
stakeholders to meet its immediate and long-term goals.

During the Year, there were no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its suppliers, customers
and/or other stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY

Pursuant to the memorandum of association of the
Company and Articles, the applicable laws and regulations,
every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in the
execution of their duties in their offices. Such permitted
indemnity provision has been in force throughout the Year.
The Company has arranged appropriate Directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and
officers of the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group during the Year are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

ORDINARY SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE
OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s ordinary share
capital and share options are set out in notes 29 and 30 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARES ISSUED

The Company has not issued any Shares during the Year.

Subsequent to the Year, as disclosed in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” above, the
Company issued and allotted 50,888,000 Placing Shares on
6 March 2024.
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DEBENTURES ISSUED

The Group has not issued any debenture during the Year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME" below, no equity-linked agreement was entered
into by the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Articles and the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares of the Company
on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company’s shares.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 117 of this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

There is no distributable reserves of the Company as at 31
December 2023, available for distribution, calculated in
accordance with the provisions of Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands (2022: Nil).

Under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will
be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business. The reserves of the
Company available for distribution further depend on the
dividend distributable by the Company’s subsidiaries.
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Report of Directors

EFEHS

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the eligibility of the shareholders of the
Company to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday,
20 June 2024 (“2024 AGM"), the register of members
of the Company will be closed from Friday, 14 June 2024
to Thursday, 20 June 2024, both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of Shares will be registered. In
order to be eligible to attend and vote at the 2024 AGM,
all transfers of Shares accompanied by the relevant share
certificate(s) must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Union
Registrars Limited at Suites 3301-04, 33/F, Two Chinachem
Exchange Square, 338 King's Road, North Point, Hong
Kong for registration not later than 4:00 p.m. on Thursday,
13 June 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest
customers were less than 30% of the Group’s total revenue
for the Year.

The Group's suppliers are mainly contractors for property
development. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group has only one supplier and purchase from this
supplier amounted to 100% whereas purchase from the
largest supplier for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to 100%.

Save as disclosed above, during the Year, none of the
Directors, their close associates or any shareholders of the
Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the total number of the Company’s
shares in issue) had any beneficial interest in the five largest
customers and suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the report date are:
Executive Directors

Mr. Pan Shimin (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Xian (Vice-Chairman)
Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun
(appointed on 30 October 2023)
Mr. Liang Zhichao
(appointed on 29 January 2024)
Mr. Cheng Chi Kin
(resigned as executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 1 March 2024)
Mr. To Kwan
(resigned with effect from 21 February 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Weijiang
Mr. Lee Chun Tung
Mr. Yau Sze Yeung

Mr. Pan Shimin and Mr. Chen Xian shall retire from office
by rotation pursuant to article 87(1) of the Articles, and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2024
AGM.

Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun and Mr. Liang Zhichao, who were
appointed by the Board in year 2023 and in January 2024
respectively, shall hold office until 2024 AGM pursuant
to article 86(3) of the Articles, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in pages 17
to 21 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Pan Shimin has entered into a service contract with
the Company on 28 January 2022 without a fixed term.
He may receive a discretionary bonus as determined by the
Remuneration Committee based on his performance and
the Company’s performance.

Mr. Chen Xian has entered into a service contract with the
Company without a fixed term. He is entitled to a double
pay in accordance with his service contract. He may receive
a discretionary bonus as determined by the Remuneration
Committee based on his performance and the Company’s
performance.

Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun has entered into a service contract
with the Company on 30 October 2023 for an initial term
of three years commencing from 30 October 2023 unless
terminated by not less than two months’ notice in writing
served by either party to the other or payment in lieu of
notice.

Mr. Liang Zhichao has entered into a service contract
with the Company on 29 January 2024 for an initial term
of two years commencing from 29 January 2024 unless
terminated by not less than two months’ notice in writing
served by either party to the other or payment in lieu of
notice.

Mr. Chen Weijiang has signed an appointment letter issued
by the Company on 31 March 2023 for the continuous
appointment as an independent non-executive Director
for a term of three years with retrospective effect from
3 January 2023 unless terminated by not less than one
month’s notice in writing served by either party to the other
or payment in lieu of notice.
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Mr. Yau Sze Yeung has signed an appointment letter issued
by the Company on 6 July 2022 for an initial term of three
years commencing on 6 July 2022 unless terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either
party to the other or payment in lieu of notice.

Mr. Lee Chun Tung has signed an appointment letter
issued by the Company on 17 June 2022 for an initial
term of three years commencing on 17 June 2022 unless
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing
served by either party to the other or payment in lieu of
notice.

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2024 AGM
has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without
payment other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either
direct or indirect, in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any its
subsidiaries was a party at any time during the Year.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

Each independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yau
Sze Yeung, Mr. Chen Weijiang and Mr. Lee Chun Tung, has
confirmed his independence to the Company as required
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company, based
on such confirmations, considers all independent non-
executive Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the highest
paid individuals of the Group are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company did not have any connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions which were subject to
the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules during the Year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable
market statistics, and approved by the Board.

Details of the related party and connected party
transactions are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITION
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE
COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company has any interests or short
positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of the Part XV of the SFO) (1) which are
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests or short positions which they were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO); or (2) which are required, pursuant to section 352 of
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or
(3) which are required, pursuant to the Model Code to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the
Directors, the following persons (other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company) has interests or
short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register of substantial
shareholder required to be kept by the Company under
section 336 of the SFO.
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Long position in ordinary shares REBERZIFE
Approximate
percentage
of the total
number of
Number of shares of
ordinary the Company
Name of substantial shareholders Capacity/Nature of interests share(s) held in issue
BEATBET
BRI HE M
TERKMS 4R Bip/#RE%E PriF @R 8 E BAaE Rt
Ming Hung Fung Company Limited Beneficial owner 72,000,000 28.29
(Note 1)
HREERAT HHEAA (1)
Mr. Liu Dong Interest of a controlled corporation 72,000,000 28.29
AmAE REFARNER
Mr. Liu Zhongxiang Interest of a controlled corporation 24,210,526 9.51
(Note 2)
B EE REFARER (MzE2) 9.51
China Sugar Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 24,210,526 9.51
(Note 2)
TEIEEEEERAE ERBEBA (MzE2)
Guangdong Nanyue Bank Person having a security 24,210,526
First Direct Branch* interest in shares 9.51
EREERTROERRAE BERDzEREZZAT
F—HBXT
Mr. Chen Qiang Beneficial owner 14,950,000 5.87

ks

*  For identification purpose only

BmBEAA
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Notes:

1. These Shares are held by Ming Hung Fung Company Limited
which is 100% owned by Mr. Liu Dong. By virtue of the SFO, Mr.
Liu Dong is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Ming
Hung Fung Company Limited.

2. These Shares are held by China Sugar Holdings Limited which
is 100% owned by Mr. Liu Zhongxiang (“Mr. Liu"). By virtue of
the SFO, Mr. Liu is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by
China Sugar Holdings Limited. China Sugar Holdings Limited has
provided a share charge in respect of 24,210,526 Shares held by
it in favour of Guangdong Nanyue Bank First Direct Branch*.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors and chief executive
of the Company are not aware that there is any party who,
as at 31 December 2023, had an interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would be required to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme") was
adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 29 May 2019.
The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing from the date of adoption of the
Share Option Scheme from 29 May 2019, i.e. from 29 May
2019 to 28 May 2029. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to enable the Company to grant share options
to the participants who, in the sole discretion of the Board,
have made or may make contribution to the Group or any
invested entity as well as to provide incentives and help
the Group in retaining its existing employees and recruiting
additional employees and to provide them with a direct
economics interest in attaining the long term business
objectives of the Group.
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The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the Board considers, in its sole discretion,
have contributed or will contribute to the Group) options
to subscribe shares in the Company, subject to a maximum
of 10% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue as at the adoption date and as at the approval date of
refreshment from time to time, excluding for this purpose
shares issued on the exercise of options. The subscription
price will be determined by the Board and will not be less
than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares, (i) the average of the closing price of the shares
quoted on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on the
five trading days immediately preceding the grant date and
(iii) the closing price of the shares on the grant date.

Upon acceptance of the options, the grantee of the Share
Option Scheme shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company as
consideration for the grant. The acceptance of an offer
of the grant of the option must be made within 21 days
from the date of grant. The exercise period of any option
granted under the Share Option Scheme is determined by
the Board upon granting the options but in any event must
not be more than 10 years commencing on the date of
grant.
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The maximum number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company (if any) shall not, in the absence of shareholders'’
approval, in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the Share Option Scheme. The Board may seek approval
by the shareholders of the Company at general meeting
to refresh the 10% limit. However, the total number of
shares available for issue under exercise of options which
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme in these
circumstances must not exceed 10% of the total number of
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of approval
of the refreshment of the 10% limit.

The total number of shares available for issue under the
Share Option Scheme is 18,246,905 Shares representing
approximately 5.98% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of this annual report.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company shall
not exceed 30% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue from time to time and the maximum
number of shares in respect of which options may be
granted to each eligible participant shall not exceed 1% of
the total number of shares of the Company in issue for the
time being in any 12-month period up to and including the
date of offer of the grant.

No share option has been granted by the Company under
the Share Option Scheme since the Adoption Date and up
to the date of this report.

As at 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023, the number
of share options available for grant under the Share Option
Scheme was 18,246,905.
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY'S
SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the section “Share Option
Scheme” above, at no time during the Year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors or chief executives of the Company (including
their spouses and children under age of 18) to have any
right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any
of its associated corporations as defined in the SFO or to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

No Director had interests in a business which competes or
is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
businesses of the Group, as defined in the Listing Rules,
during the Year and up to the date of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied
throughout the Year with the code provisions of CG Code.
Details of the Company's corporate governance practices
are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” section
of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Year, the Group did not have charitable
donation (2022: Nil).
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PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge or its Directors
as at the date of this annual report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float as required under the
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as auditor
of the Company with effect from 15 August 2022 and
McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited (“McMillan
Woods") has been appointed as auditor of the Company
with effect from 9 September 2022 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte.

Save as aforesaid, there was no change in auditor during
the last three years.

A resolution for the re-appointment of McMillan Woods
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the 2024
AGM.

On Behalf of the Board

PAN Shimin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024

*  For identification purposes only
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Independent Auditor’s Report

M McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

TO THE MEMBERS OF

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED
PEEHERBRAR

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Uptown Group Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the”Group”)
set out on pages 113 to 227, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
"HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance
with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

BWAZBEMER S

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO
GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to Note 3.1.1 to the consolidated
financial statements, which indicates that the Group
incurred a net loss of approximately RMB51,637,000
during the year ended 31 December 2023. As stated in
Note 3.1.1, these events or conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in Note 3.1.1, indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion
is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the consolidated financial statements of
the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

The key audit matters we identified are:
1. Revenue recognised from sale of properties; and

2. Valuation of properties held for sale/properties under
development.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key audit matter

RELEE

VR ER S IR

How our audit addresses the key audit matter

MR EZPRIEMREZEE

Revenue recognised from sale of properties
MY EHE R 2 W=

Refer to notes 3.2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified revenue recognised from sale of properties
as a key audit matter as it is significant to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

R EHERIB I NAHGREEBaR2EENL R
IR s H E M sl 2 W i p R BB B IZEH o

The Group’s revenue from sale of properties for the year
ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB4,437,000, representing approximately 99% of
the Group’s total revenue. As disclosed in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements, revenue from sale of
properties is recognised when the development of the
relevant properties have been completed and the control of
the completed property is transferred to the customer.

BE_Z_=_F+_A=+—HLFE> EEEYE
HEZ W@ A AR4L,437,00070 0 16 EEEBKE

#999% o SN 4R & M AR MY SESPTINER - WIS E Z UK
TN EREREAYEECS R IYEZIEHREEET
R R HED o

RIAR S MBS M 5E3.2%5

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognised from
sale of properties included:

REBERAMYEHERIB W2 B8

Obtaining an understanding, evaluating and
validating the Group’s internal control over the
process of revenue recognition of sale of properties;
and

TR ML EE SEERREMYEHERS
WamBFZzRESEET 2B ; &

Assessing whether the criteria for the delivery of
properties have been fulfilled by checking, on a
sample basis, to the terms of the sales and purchase
agreements, the relevant completion certificate for
construction work, as well as the delivery notices
issued by the Group to the buyers to assess whether
the control of properties is transferred to the buyers.
RMREETEEXYENRERSEREES
WENHRR - REIREHATHESEUR 85
ERThEETREESEBETEAMAER
BRI HBAIER
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Key audit matter

RELEE

How our audit addresses the key audit matter

MR EZPRIEMREZEE

Valuation of properties held for sale/properties under development

REHEME TEMEZMGE

Refer to notes 3.2, 4 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

We identified the valuation of properties held for sale (the
"PFS”) and properties under development (the “PUD") as
a key audit matter as it is significant to the consolidated
financial statements and significant judgements and
estimation are involved in the determination of the net
realisable value (the “NRV") of the PFS and PUD.
ARFEREZYE (HEHEYE) kTEEYE (1T
BYE) 2 HEHGREMBRRCEEURNEEFF
HEMERTRYEZ PISIRFE ((PI2RFE)) KY
RERH R G5t R E B RRAREZSFE

The Group’s PFS and PUD of approximately RMB152,942,000
and RMB383,753,000 respectively are situated in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC") as at 31 December 2023 as
disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.
The management of the Group determined the NRV of the
PFS and PUD with reference to the valuation performed by an
independent professional property valuer (the “Valuer”) and,
taking into account certain factors, including but not limited
to recent sales transactions in nearby locations, rate of new
property sales, the legal and regulatory framework and general
market conditions.

RZEBEZ_=F+Z"A=+—H> EEEBE2NOA
R #152,942,0007T % A R #383,753,00070 2 5 1F
HEMERTEMEMRPEARENE (THEH))
(BNGEHBRRMF17FAEE) o EEEEE
BEERKFRENERTRYEZAIERFERS
TRUFEEYEMLEM ((HEM) BT 2EE I
ARETHEARZ BEETRNREBILOBEERS
MMEHEXR ERAREEERUKRBET R
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Our procedures in relation to valuation of properties
held for sales/properties under development included:
BEMERFIELENE TRMEZHEZEFE
N

Evaluating the Valuer's competence, capabilities and
objectivity;
FHELEMZBEEE - BHREEN

Obtaining an understanding from the Valuer about
the valuation methodology, the performance of the
property markets, significant assumptions adopted,
critical judgemental areas on key inputs and data
used in the valuation;

MGER T RLER Z - METBRE FIRRZ
BEABKR - EHEMRAZEIEZEHABREEZE
RFVEn S

Engaging independent competent auditor's expert
to review the valuation process, methodologies
used and market evidence to support significant
judgements and assumptions applied in the
valuation model prepared by the Valuer; and
BREBIIcERZUMEREREERRE EA
WA ZERTHRE > UXFHEEMRENGEER
BIhPrE AR E KA B R R 5 &

Assessing the management’s estimations of the
NRV of the PFS and PUD, on a sample basis, by
comparing the estimated selling prices of the PFS to
the recent sales transactions in the same project and
in nearby location, rate of new property sales, the
legal and framework and general market condition,
based on our understanding of the Group’s business
and operation and our research on the PRC real
estate industry.

R EE BANILKIFHEYEREEY =
REEEEAREE REABTAHEERZ Y
FHEX ERABREERREBRET R RIEHM
H SEREBREENTRURBRMANPERE
WETEMNMT T EEEHFEHEYET
BB ENGE -
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Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the annual report, but does not
include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If,
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee for
the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

VR ER S IR

Hh &
BERBEFAHHEMENET - HMENSHE
FAFHZER EFNEEREMBERR LK
FIBY % BB R 5 o
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents
of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

R B GEMBRRARKEZEE

ZPNERACEREGGMBHREREBEM
EROAFAEBANMFENBERMERNZERX
Rt TEHHAERMER 2 ZHENE
S RFERBEHEZRFRAEZERRIR
SoRIEZIINEEMBN - RMAEME
BREANFTAERNEMALTE LRI AEEFE
F-tEREBSEBRZLE HERESTES
SFEAESTZEZ IR A REBEREFN
FEZ B R SRMRA - $5 3R [ 4t °J (K] #R 5F 2 5
RMEL HENNERESERMBERTH
TECTHERBRSGOMBRERMFHZE
EORER > BIIRR B ERERERAL -

REEBEFENETERRE RMEREX
FlE - R EBEREBZBREFRITEZIRER
B o FMITF

. s Bl K 5T i BB RS BROE SR BR AR M B B AR
GHERRFEEANERRAZ AR
Rt hATEZEFUBREZERAR
UREBRTRNBEZEZEE FR
HPERZER -BARIEFERIED & H
mOBRE - EERER ERRAIERE
P BB IE Fl 2 15 o (A I oK BE 3 3R K BREF
MERZERERRANERS N AREE
HRRNERMER 2 ERERERAE
Bz o



Independent Auditor’s Report

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date
of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial
statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

VR ER S IR
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit
Committee, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chan Chun Sing

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO5537

24/F., Siu On Centre

188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai

Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
FeEmE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
g = =T
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
fisE AR®BFT ARETT
Revenue g 5 4,442 60,709
Cost of sales SHE A (4,262) (51,625)
Gross profit EF 180 9,084
Other income Eu A 6 161 1,305
Other losses EthAsiE 7 (868) (1,762)
Impairment loss reversed (recognised) under EIFEWRIETEHAE BE51E
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on (FEfR = &K B\ T
other receivables #2[0] (FEsR) MRERSIE 274 (419
Allowance recognised on properties M EH E Y £
held for sale BiE (23,526) (5,222)
Allowance recognised on properties under — FLTEE¥)ERERAVE
development - (48,187)
Selling and marketing expenses HEREHER (4,500) (4,580)
Administrative expenses THER (22,275) (27,031)
Finance costs VR ID %N 8 (1,940) (903)
Loss before taxation PRIATRS 18 (52,494) (77,715)
Income tax credit FrigfiiEs 9 857 2,246
Loss for the year FAEEIE 10 (51,637) (75,469)
Loss for the year attributable to: M T REIEFREIE !
Owners of the Company RABEB A (46,231) (55,768)
Non-controlling interests JEEEHI MR (5,406) (19,701)
(51,637) (75,469)
Loss per share (in RMB cents) EREE (ARIED) 13
— Basic — EK (18.17) (21.92)
- Diluted — #F (18.17) (21.92)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e Em A HMEENmR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
B TEZ-C
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARW®TT
Loss for the year FRNEE (51,637) (75,469)
Other comprehensive expense Hiha2mBAx
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or JF T B E# FBEEE w2
loss: EHH
Exchange differences arising on translation of g hE S E A 255k
functional currency to presentation currency EE4 7 FER ZE%E 19,081 56,576
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to H#& BJFEE#T 4 E 8w =
profit or loss: EHH
Exchange differences arising on translation of KRB BN EFE 2 M FEHRKRE
financial statements of foreign operations 4 7 [E R Z= 8 (19,325) (59,228)
(244) (2,652)
Total comprehensive expense for the year A2 EMX42%8 (51,881) (78,121)
Total comprehensive expense for the year U TFELAEE R ERMAY
attributable to: 4a%E -
Owners of the Company KABHEBA (47,214) (59,960)
Non-controlling interests JEFER M (4,667) (18,161)
(51,881) (78,121)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

4R MFSIARR

At 31 December 2023 RZE_=F+_F=+—H

2023 2022
—E=F =
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
Mz AR®FTxT AREFT
Non-current Assets ERHEE
Investment properties KEME 14 1,420 1,800
Property, plant and equipment MR B R 15 15,625 15,974
Right-of-use assets FRESE 16 2,187 338
19,232 18,112
Current Assets MENEE
Properties under development TERYE 17 383,753 349,000
Properties held for sale FIEHEYZE 17 152,942 170,156
Investment properties held for sale FIEHEREME 17 - 746
Deposits, other receivables and prepayments % - ELfth & IR =R I8 K%
T IE 18 36,240 34,489
Financial assets at fair value through BARBESTABGZ T BEE
profit or loss 19 - 3,821
Restricted bank deposits EREIRITER 20 39,226 7,094
Pledged bank deposits ERFIRITER 21 3,133 3,924
Bank balances and cash IRITHEERIRE 21 17,208 26,710
632,502 595,940
Current Liabilities mENaE
Trade and other payables B2 REMENRIE 22 132,331 151,142
Contract liabilities =Y OI=LE 23 124,528 32,496
Other borrowings EHE=x 24 29,994 8,844
Lease liabilities — current portion HEaE-—REHn 25 1,455 344
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FEAT JEEE S MR TR FRIE 26 115,498 105,750
Amounts due to directors B EERIE 33 96 96
Tax payable FE(IFRIE 93,739 97,066
Secured bank borrowings BIRHIRITE®R 27 = 12,184
497,641 407,922
Net Current Assets MENEEFE 134,861 188,018
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities MEEMREAE 154,093 206,130
Non-current Liabilities ERHEE
Lease liabilities — non-current portion HESB-—IFREED 25 706 5
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE 28 5,312 6,169
6,018 6,174
Net Assets BEFE 148,075 199,956
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR MR

At 31 December2023 RITE_=F+"A=+—H

2023 2022
—B=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT ARW®TT
Capital and Reserves BXRR#E
Share capital %N 2,222 222,157
Reserves 15 174,711 1,990
Equity attributable to owners of NABIHER ANEL#ER
the Company 176,933 224,147
Non-controlling interests eSS (28,858) (24,191)
Total Equity ReiR4a%E 148,075 199,956

The consolidated financial statements on pages 113 to 227
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors of the Company on 28 March 2024:

Mr. ZHANG Xiao Jun
REEZE A
DIRECTOR
EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
m SR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiE_ZT_=

AR

Attributable to owners of the Company

Ft+TR=+—HLEFE

FARZHERNEL
Share Non-
Share Share  Translation options  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
BE  RINEE  BEEE  BRERE  2HEB it FRERINEE st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETn ARETz ARETT  ARETR
(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)
(Fzt1) (f322) (Frz3)

At 1 January 2022 RZE-_"&-A-H 222,157 578,540 (40,862) 5481 (481,209) 284,107 (6,030) 278,077

Loss for the year ERER - - - - (55,768) (55,768) (19,701) (75,469)

Exchange differences arising on FA#mEEERER

translation of functional currency SIERELVERER

to presentation currency - - 56,576 - - 56,576 - 56,576
Exchange differences arising on FAEEIEE

translation of financial statements MBRREEZERES

of foreign operations - - (60,768) - - (60,768) 1,540 (59,228)

Total comprehensive expense for the year ER2ER AR = = (4,192) = (55,768) (59,960) (18,161) (78,121)

Lapse of share options ﬁ% RERN - - - (5,481) 5,481 - - -

At 31 December 2022 and RIE- &+ E —-H

1 January 2023 RZEZ=£-8 222,157 578,540 (45,054) = (531,496) 224147 (24,191) 199,956
Loss for the year ERER - - - - (46,231) (46,231) (5,406) (51,637)
Exchange differences arising on AREERATA

translation of functional currency SHEREEZERER

to presentation currency - - 19,081 - - 19,081 - 19,081
Exchange differences arising on REEENER 2

translation of financial statements MEBRELZERER

of foreign operations - - (20,064) - - (20,064) 739 (19,325)

Total comprehensive expense for the year R 2 EE % 2% - - (983) - (46,231) (47,214) (4,667) (51,881)

Capital reduction fAHlE (219,935) - - - 219,935 - - -

At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=F+ZA=+-H 2,022 578,540 (46,037) = (357,792) 176,933 (28,858) 148,075

Notes: FfEE -

1. Pursuant to the Companies law of the Cayman lIslands and 1. RIEEEBNENTERAN 7%&&9' KATE
the Company’s Articles of Association, the share premium of DREITSRFEEEE /N EREEESREE
the Company is distributable to the equity holders provided EHAANBBEEBEENAEEKB *Eq:: FER > 1&
that immediately following the date on which the dividend is %o
proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

2. The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange 2. BE IR IR E BN TR T TR IR E
differences arising from the translation of the financial £ REER EE LGRS SR EM
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in 32FFEMNEARE ST BRE R RIE
accordance with the material accounting policy information
set out in note 3.2 to the consolidated financial statements.

3. The share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual 3. B RIS IRIE S e S M AR BT EE3 2L &

or estimated number of unexercised share options granted to
employees of the Group recognised in accordance with the
material accounting policy information adopted for equity-
settled share-based payments in note 3.2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BEZRMIRPMIRAER S ERER BRE
ERESERHRTEBREERIGHHEZA
Mo
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maRERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—Z== -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REED
Loss before taxation FRF2 AT ES 18 (52,494) (77,715)
Adjustments for: HEIEE -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME-BRERZEITE 751 736
Depreciation of right-of-use asset i 1,177 954
Fair value change on financial assets at fair value AR EABRZ
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") MHEEEZ AR EES 488 824
Fair value change on investment properties KREMEZ NAEE 380 938
Allowance recognised on properties MFEH EY XN
held for sale B 23,526 5,222
Allowance recognised on properties IRV ERDI RS
under development - 48,187
Finance costs RSN 1,940 903
Net (reversal of impairment loss) impairment loss ~ EMfERFIETEHRE EE518
under ECL model on other receivables BRI Tz (R EREERE)
BB IR PR (274) 419
Interest income FMEUA (117) (144)
Operating cash flows before movements in SEETEFA KERENE
working capital (24,623) (19,676)
Increase in properties under development TERRYZEIE N (34,753) (33,187)
(Increase) decrease in properties held for sale FIEH &Y (5) R (6,312) 58,366
Decrease in investment properties held for sale HIEHEREYERLD 746 9,311
(Increase) decrease in deposits, other receivables and 2 ~ EL{hFE UL TR IE K2
prepayments FE(IRRIE (G00) R (1,451) 9,460
Decrease in financial assets at fair value through A REAERZ
profit or loss BB ERLD 3,902 860
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables B 5 REMEARIE (L) B0 (18,859) 5,030
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities BHEEEM ) 92,032 (24,222)
Cash generated from operations KEESRE 10,682 5,942
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") paid B E {2
(TEZFrISIRI) (361) (178)
PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") paid B P L #IE E R
(T #hIBER) (2,972) (1,037)
NET CASH GENERATED FROM REFTPELEHEFE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 7,349 4,727

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

maREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFTT AR®BTT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREIEE
Withdrawal of restricted bank deposit IRENVA RRFIRITER 7,094 S
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits IRENBEIRIRIRITER 3,924 4,482
Interest received BUH & 117 144
Placement of restricted bank deposits FRAERAIRITER (39,226) (7,094)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FREIEFIRITER (3,133) (3,924)
Proceeds on disposal of investment properties HERBEWEZMEMIE - 1,662
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEME -BRERZE - (6)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZHFAREFEE (31,224) (4,736)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AEEE
New secured other borrowing METNEMBIRIRER 20,774 -
Advance from non-controlling interests FEFEH M HE i B 9,748 9,000
Repayment of secured bank borrowing BIEAIRIRIRITER (12,444) (909)
Interest paid [=ENpARS (1,764) (886)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEEEaR (1,219) (1,017)
Advance from a director —REFBN - 8,844
Advance from a former director —ZFTERERM - 6,721
New secured bank borrowing raised MEEZBIRMIBITER = 4,396
Repayment to a former director BE—RAEESEZHE = (22,552)
Repayment to a director BREEZNIE = (10,379)
Repayment to non-controlling interests BIRFEEFIM R 2 FIE = (1,500)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING REEENFRTE (FRA) IR FEE

ACTIVITIES 15,095 (8,282)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND HERFEEBMZ R FEE

CASH EQUIVALENTS (8,780) (8,291)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RENZRERIFREEEY

AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 26,710 38,183
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES [ER &8> % & (722) (3,182)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZRERIREEZEY

AT END OF THE YEAR 17,208 26,710

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n\7|-\ iﬁ% ;)tfl. E ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE

“EC=H+RA=+—HLEFE

2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREBTT ARETT
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF CASH AND  IRE&RERERIA
DEPOSITS
Restricted bank deposits BRGRITER 39,226 7,094
Pledged bank deposits BIRIRIRITEMR 3,133 3,924
Bank balances and cash RTEERRES 17,208 26,710
Deposits, bank balances and cash in the FENBRRRAEE  BITE
consolidated statement of financial position EFRIRE 59,567 37,728
Less: Restricted bank deposits o BIREIIRITIER (39,226) (7,094)
Pledged bank deposits EEFIRITER (3,133) (3,924)
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated (Z&IRERERARER
statement of cash flows REEEY 17,208 26,710
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

1. GENERAL

China Uptown Group Company Limited (“the Company”)
is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability and its shares are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”). The addresses of
the registered office and principal place of business of
the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information
section of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in property development
and investment. The activities of its principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong
dollar ("HK$") while the consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB") for the convenience of
the financial statements users.

1. —KREH
hELEREBMERAD (TAAT)) HREE
BHESMMIZSHReERADREBHAE
EBHMARSHARAD (EBMA)
WMET o RATZHMPERRTELS Lt
ERERPZIATER —HHE-

KRB AREZERRB - AR KRENRB R
Bl (A TAEH)) TENEYEZERRE
BE-HTEWBRAIZEFRENGSYHERE
MizE36°

FAABWNEERRBE (TBE) HAHE
MHERERZERE GEMBRRDUARE
(TAR®E 2%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the first
time, which are mandatorily effective for the annual period
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including Insurance Contracts
the October 2020
and February 2022
Amendments to
HKFRS 17)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform-Pillar
Two model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEEMBRAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs"”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism

In June 2022 the Hong Kong SAR Government (the
"Government”) gazette the Hong Kong Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment
Ordinance”), which will come into effect from 1 May 2025
(the “Transition Date”). Once the Amendment Ordinance
takes effect, an employer can no longer use any of the
accrued benefits derived from its mandatory contributions
to mandatory provident fund (“MPF") scheme to reduce
the long service payment (“LSP") in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date (the abolition of
the “offsetting mechanism”). In addition, the LSP in respect
of the service before the Transition Date will be calculated
based on the employee’s monthly salary immediately before
the Transition Date and the years of service up to that
date. In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong” that provides accounting
guidance relating to the offsetting mechanism and the
abolition of the mechanism. In particular, the guidance
indicates that entities may account for the accrued
benefits derived from mandatory MPF contributions that
are expected to be used to reduce the LSP payable to
an employee as deemed contributions by that employee
towards the LSP. However, applying this approach, upon
the enactment of the Amendment Ordinance in June
2022, it is no longer permissible to apply the practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 that previously
allowed such deemed contributions to be recognised as
reduction of service cost (negative service cost) in the
period the contributions were made; instead these deemed
contributions should be attributed to periods of service in
the same manner as the gross LSP benefit.

4R e ARSI RMIEE

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

2. ERIIEBMBEEED (EBE
BIRE LA REETUREMES
BEZ B (&

EROGMAGM(EREREEARMRE IR
H BN E 5 R E) & L eRES

RIEZZHFXA &BFNTHREERA (MK
B ZERTEEB(CE__FERBRENR
stEAD (R = 5F) (B5T) 1R A1) (MEETIF
B RBEZE-_HEEFREA—H (TEFIR))
BEM - —BEITHRAEN  BEFAIBEA
HefltABE (MadE)) st8 h st
HRFEENENRERERD  NRMEER
BHHENRFEMHRARST S ((RARK
Bal) (BEFRTIREHMES]) o tb5h > st 8 HI B Al
WIRFBEMNERARBERREEZRZES A
FNESRHFARBEZANRGEHRFAE-
R CECZFLR BEBEHMAGEME
AEGERETRRARFT S HEHEES O
TE) B EEA RERZEAIRE SIS
Sle THEHRZ > %IE5I 5 HERPIRK H g Fl Mt
MERMAEENRERa FRBR AN
BNTFTEENRART ) FAZEEHE
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AAXBERAGHERF193RHE93(b)RFHY
BIITRE A ZZEBESSFIRFHERBR
B ZEFREEHRBEISRBRANNRE (B
BRFBAEA) Mz ZFRERRELE
RGO BERBENRFBHER-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs"”) AND CHANGES IN OTHER
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications
of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism
(Continued)

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism, the Group has changed its
accounting policy in connection with its LSP liability and
has applied the above HKICPA guidance retrospectively. The
cessation of applying the practical expedient in paragraph
93(b) of HKAS 19 in conjunction with the enactment of
the Amendment Ordinance resulted in a catch-up profit
or loss adjustment in June 2022 for the service cost up to
that date and consequential impacts on current service
cost, interest expense and remeasurement effects from
changes in actuarial assumptions for the rest of 2022, with
the corresponding adjustment to the comparative carrying
amount of the LSP liability. This change in accounting policy
did not have any material impact on the opening balance
of equity at 1 January 2022. It also did not have a material
impact on the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023.

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs
and change in other accounting policies in the current
year had no material impact on the Company’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years
and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Company has not early applied the amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective for
the financial year beginning on 1 January 2023. These new
and revised HKFRSs included the following which may be
relevant to the Company:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture'

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback?

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)?

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements?

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

c Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

£ Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

2. APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs
will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

2. ERMIEEMBHRSERN (FEM
B EEN) REETTUKREMES
HERZEE (&

ERHERREREEMBIREGENZEST @)

ARABEFTENERAMBEMIEBMBRE
ZRAREETRASGRARRENRES Y
BRREMERTE-

3. iﬁi‘%iﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ&ik@%’rﬁ%ﬁ

31 HFEVMBRREREE

HMEMBREDREEESSAMAGEMZ
BEEUBREERR LI REHHTRE
EREBBMIMIBF LR ERBTHELQI K
BIFFREZBERME -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1.1 Going concern

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact
that the Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB51,637,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023
and recurring a net loss over four year. The current liabilities
included the trade and other payables for the construction
cost amounting to approximately RMB79,424,000,
amount due to non-controlling interests amounting to
approximately RMB115,498,000 and other borrowings
amounting to approximately RMB29,994,000 that will be
due in the coming twelve months. The Group might not be
able to meet its liabilities in full when they fall due unless
it is able to generate sufficient cash flows from future
operations and/or other sources, since as at 31 December
2023, the Group only had cash and bank balances of
approximately RMB17,208,000, pledged bank deposit of
approximately RMB3,133,000 and restricted bank deposits
of RMB39,226,000, which restricted for construction
purpose. These events or conditions indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

In this regard, the directors of the Company have identified
various initiatives to address the Group's liquidity needs,
which include the following:

(@) The Group has been actively negotiating with the
relevant party for renewal of the revolving other
borrowing with outstanding principal amount
of RMB9,089,000. The other borrowing had
successfully signed an extension agreement on 25
March 2024 to renew the maturity date up to 30
April 2026;

3. MEBRRGREBEREKRT
()

SRR

3.1.1 BFERE
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B=1t—H Zx&EEEERESKRBTEHRY
ANE#17,208,0007t  BHEFRITERLI A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

The Group will actively negotiate with the
relevant party for renewal of the revolving other
borrowing with outstanding principal amount of
RMB20,905,000 to further extend the maturity date.
The other borrowing, which is due in August 2024,
is secured by the Group’s property located in Hong
Kong with the carrying amount of RMB14,556,000;

The Group has obtained written confirmations from
the relevant non-controlling interests that they
will not demand repayment of the outstanding
principals in the total amount of approximately
RMB115,498,000;

The Group will continue to make pre-sale of the
properties of Second Maoming Project;

As disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 6 March 2024, the placing for an
aggregate of 50,888,000 placing shares have been
successfully placed at placing price of HK$0.14 per
placing share. The Group received net amount of
approximately RMB6,321,000 and propose to use
for repayment of outstanding liabilities and general
working capital of the Group, which shall be applied
on, including, staff cost, professional fees, rental
payments and general administrative and operating
expenses of the Group; and

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1.1 Going concern (Continued)

(f) The Group will continue to take active measures
to control administrative costs and maintain
containment of capital expenditures.

Based on the cash flow forecast of the Group prepared by
the management and assuming successful implementation
of the above measures, the directors of the Company are of
the opinion that the Group would have adequate funds to
meet its liabilities as and when they fall due at least twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

Accordingly, the directors of the Company consider
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be
unable to continue as a going concern, adjustments would
have to be made to write down the value of assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for further liabilities which
might arise and to reclassify non-current assets and non-
current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effect of these adjustments has not been
reflected in the consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for investment properties,
investment properties held for sale and financial assets at
FVTPL, which are measured at fair values at the end of each
reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set
out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for equity-settled share-based payment
transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases (“HKFRS 16")
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value
but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS
2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of
Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best
use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based
on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

3.2  Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved
when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control listed
above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group'’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to
a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant
subsidiaries upon liquidation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

o The customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

o The Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

o The Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

As set out in Note 5, which include information about the
Group's policy related to revenue recognition criteria from
contracts with customers.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts
the promised amount of consideration for the effects of
the time value of money if the timing of payments agreed
(either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or the
Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of
goods or services to the customer. In those circumstances,
the contract contains a significant financing component.
A significant financing component may exist regardless of
whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the
parties to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and
transfer of the associated goods or services is less than two
years, which under normal business operation cycle, the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
transaction price for any significant financing component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests
of properties which includes both leasehold land and
building elements, the entire consideration is allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and restricted deposits arising from pre-sale of
properties that are held for meeting short-term cash
commitments. Cash equivalents are held for the
purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Properties under development and properties held for
sale

Properties under development which are intended to be
sold upon completion of development and properties
for sale are classified as current assets. Except for the
leasehold land element which is measured at cost model
in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-
use assets, properties under development/properties held
for sale are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on a specific identification
basis including allocation of the related development
expenditure incurred. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price for the properties less estimated
cost to completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
Costs necessary to make the sale include incremental costs
directly attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Properties under development are transferred to properties
held for sale upon completion of development.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investment properties/investment properties held for
sale

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at fair value, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued
operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected
from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
of the property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the
property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investment properties/investment properties held for
sale (Continued)

Investment properties are classified as held for sale and
under current assets if the Group has been committed
to a sale plan at the end of the reporting period and
their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale
transaction. This condition is regarded as met only when
the asset is available for immediate sale in its present
condition subject only to terms that are usual and
customary for sales of such asset and its sale is highly
probable. Management must be committed to the sale,
which should be expected to qualify for recognition
as a completed sale within one year from the date of
classification. Investment properties classified as held for
sale continue to be measured in accordance with the
accounting policies for investment properties as mentioned
above.

Leases
Definition of a lease
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys

the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of warehouse that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-
term leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use asset

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;
o any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date; and
o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liability

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease
is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liability is adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as
finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the leased asset. Other than investment
properties measured under fair value model, such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business is presented as revenue.

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease
components are separated from lease component on the
basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor (Continued)

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not
part of the original terms and conditions are accounted for
as lease modifications, including lease incentives provided
through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating
lease as a new lease from the effective date of the
modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “profit or loss before
taxation” as reported in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from initial recognition of goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there
will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected
to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred taxes for
investment properties that are measured using the fair
value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are
presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when
the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to
the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the leasing transaction
as a whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same entity by the same taxation authority
and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the
period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation
attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified
to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group’s net assets in HK$ and United States dollars to the
Group's presentation currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
translation reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated
in the translation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instruments. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on
initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at
FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised
cost as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the
end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss
recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend earned on
the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on financial assets (including deposits, other
receivables, restricted bank deposits, pledged bank deposits
and bank balances) and financial guarantee contracts
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS
9 Financial Instruments ("HKFRS 9”). The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of
future conditions.

For all instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which
case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(i) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default
has occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging default
criterion is more appropriate.

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(iii) Credit-impaired financial assets (Continued)

(0 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings or in case of other receivables, when the
amounts are past due, whichever occurs earlier. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking
into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-
off constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The
assessment of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the
respective risks of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with
the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate determined
at initial recognition.

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required
to make payments only in the event of a default by the
debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of
the expected payments to reimburse the holder for a credit
loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group expects
to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and financial guarantee
contracts (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

For financial guarantee contracts, the loss allowances
are recognised at the higher of the amount of the loss
allowance determined in accordance with HKFRS 9; and
the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate,
cumulative amount of income recognised over the
guarantee period.

Except for financial guarantee contracts, the Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another
entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and
receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables,
other borrowing, amounts due to non-controlling interests,
amounts due to directors, amount due to a former
director, bank overdrafts and secured bank borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails
to make payments when due in accordance with the terms
of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities
are measured initially at their fair values. It is subsequently
measured at the higher of:

° the amount of the loss allowance determined in
accordance with HKFRS 9; and

o the amount initially recognised less, where
appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised

over the guarantee period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group'’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When
it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group
of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts
of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the
recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating units.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising from
past events but is not recognised because it is not probable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of
the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected to be
met by other parties is treated as a contingent liability and
it is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether an
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits has
become probable. If it becomes probable that an outflow
of future economic benefits will be required for an item
previously dealt with as a contingent liability, a provision
is recognised in the consolidated financial statements in
the reporting period in which the change in probability
occurs, except in the extremely rare circumstances where
no reliable estimate can be made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

In the application of the Group's material accounting
policy information, which are described in note 3.2, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, that the directors of the Company
have been in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies and that has the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities
arising from investment properties that are measured
using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the
Group's investment property portfolios and concluded that
the Group's investment properties are not held under a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially
all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
properties over time. Therefore, in measuring the Group's
deferred taxation on investment properties, the directors
have determined that the presumption that the carrying
amounts of investment properties measured using the
fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is not
rebutted. The Group’s investment properties are situated
in the PRC and the deferred taxes on changes in fair
value of investment properties are recognised taking into
account PRC LAT and PRC EIT payable upon sales of those
investment properties.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year.

4. FRAEFERTREEMEE (B

RERE T BUERR L Z @ FIE (1)

REYFEZEEZRE

M BEHERA AR EEREAEZREYEFN
EENEERBEAEMS  EFCERTLEER
WREMEEHGRBEESERBTERENE
UEREBRAEZEARLESEREVERN
WA ESaAEBEEN -HIt > ReE8F
EERBEVEZREERBER  EFIR UL
AERAFENREYEZREETIZBEY
EXHREZRREARANED -FEBZKRE
MEMRTE MEEREVEZAAREBES
ZBEERBEDNEARDEZSRENERE
2P MIBERKRTEEFEFRFRESR -

&5t REARA R R B E E KR

UTHERARZEIBZBRIRNBSHKRMG
DJrTEHEHI%'fZHTHJIK?M_’EJ EEEXRA

ERTEMBEERNZEERERZERE
Tﬁfﬁﬂjikuﬁﬁo

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

167



168

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Provision for LAT

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s best estimates according
to its understanding of the requirements set forth in
the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual
LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by the
tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group has not finalised its LAT
calculation and payments with the tax authorities for the
property development project. The final outcome could be
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, and
any differences will have impact on the LAT expense and
the related provision in the period in which the differences
realise. The carrying amount of provision for LAT at 31
December 2023 was approximately RMB26,593,000 (2022:
RMB26,821,000).

Estimated net realisable value of properties under
development

In determining whether allowances should be made to the
Group’s properties under development, the directors of
the Company make reference to the valuation performed
by an independent professional property valuer and take
into consideration the current market environment and the
estimated market value prices (i.e. the estimated selling
price less estimated costs to sell) less estimated costs
to completion of the properties. An allowance is made
if the estimated market value is less than the carrying
amount. If the actual net realisable value of properties
under development is less than expected as a result of a
change in market condition and/or significant variation
in the budgeted development cost, material provision
for allowance may result. At 31 December 2023, the
carrying amount of properties under development was
approximately RMB383,753,000 (2022: RMB349,000,000),
net of allowance recognised of approximately
RMB119,213,000 (2022: RMB119,213,000).
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ZEBENEREEERBEEMBATRERBE L2
RERZEEZEBRAEE 2 REM B
BREItiEEREEEERYELREERTN
EHRBTERAT AEEEABDRBERS
EZEHYERRBE T HEBERTERM
FoRBBERIEERYLRSBERMAR
BN EERFEREEHEEHMz L H
EERMAYIREBREE R_E_=ZF+=
B+ —H I #HEEREBEEHENEREELNS
AR%26,593,000c (ZCE__F: AR
26,821,0007%) °©

B EZ G5 TS FE

RNEETREEHAEE TR EIRER
R ARBEENL2EBUSEYEMGE
ETZHELF RER MR REmE (BME
STEERMETIEEREK) RYEE T 2 Estm
Kot mEENRIREE  BIGHREE M
TEYEZERTHRBIEEN T RELK
S RBEERER A RS MENR AR B3
gEHEABE RNZE-_=F+-"B=+—
H B ERRBEBENAR®119,213,0007T
(ZE__%: AR¥119,213,0007T) > £ &
MEZIRBEELNAS ARK383,753,0005T (=
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

4. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated net realisable value of properties held for
sale

The directors of the Company determines the net realisable
value of properties held for sale by using prevailing market
data mainly most recent sales transactions. These estimates
require judgement as to the anticipated sale prices by
reference to the valuation performed by an independent
professional property valuer and recent sales transactions
in the same project and in nearby location, rate of new
property sales and general market conditions. If the
actual net realisable value of properties held for sale after
considering the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale are less or higher than expected as a result of changes
in market conditions, material provision for or reversal of
allowance may result. At 31 December 2023, the carrying
amount of properties held for sale was approximately
RMB152,942,000 (2022: RMB170,156,000), net of
allowance recognised of approximately RMB331,566,000
(2022: RMB308,040,000).

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION

(i Disaggregation of revenue

An analysis of the Group's revenue arising from the
Mainland China for the year is as follows:

4. FRAEFERTREEMEE (B

EEFABERN T ERE (B

FELENEZ IG5 AT E 5 FE

AEBRESTEFRAFTAROIHERZE S
AMmBEE EERFFEFHEMEZTERF
B -ZEMT BEEB2ERHILIEEYERGE
fMETZHEREREBEEREBE Y EH
EXRERETRAGBEHES - MR EEE
THENGEAXERAZ FEHEYMEZ
ERTJERIFEARTRELELMERISR
EH A XEEEEABELELR R T
TZE+ A=+ —H HKBRERIEED
AR M®331,566,000 0 (ZCE__F: AR
308,040,0007T) B  FIELEYWEZREAE
NAANREE152,942,0000c (ZEZZF . A
R 1170,156,0007T) ©

5. WmkoWER

(i =D

AEBFRAREFEAMZ W@ DA -

2023 2022

—E-= -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT

Arising from the Mainland China IR B AR ETP

Sales of properties — a point in time MEEIHE — B 4,437 60,546
Revenue from contracts with customers EREHNE 4,437 60,546
Lease — other source HE-HMRR 5 163
4,442 60,709
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the relevant properties specified in the contracts
are based on standardised specifications with no alternative
use. Taking into consideration of the relevant contract
terms, the legal environment and relevant legal precedents,
the Group concluded that the Group does not have an
enforceable right to payment prior to transfer of control of
the relevant properties to customers. Revenue from sales
of properties is therefore recognised at a point in time
when control of completed property is transferred to the
customer, being at the point that the customer obtains
the physical possession or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.

In general, the Group receives 30% of the contract value
as receipt in advance from customers when they sign
the sale and purchase agreement and remaining 70% of
the contract value would be received through the banks
by releasing the mortgages to the customers in two to
three months after the agreement signing date. Such
advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being
recognised throughout the property construction period for
the full amount of the contract price.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

(iii)  Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)

Wi B B ERE# (2

SEEFERSHNZAETENREENRZE

F+-A=+—H DEEGTE
MEENRZE (REEHEIREE) KA

as at 31 December 2023 and the expected timing of AW m Al T
recognising revenue are as follows:
2023 2022
—B=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Within one year R—5FR
Sales of properties MEHE 124,528 32,496
(iv) Leases
2023 2022
—B=f T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
For operating leases with respect to investment ~ FLIERBREVXNKEREMS -
properties:
Lease payments that are fixed EEHEENR 5 163

Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer of
the Group, being the chief operating decision maker
("CODM") regularly review revenue analysis as set out in
the revenue analysis above for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of performance. However, other
than revenue analysis, no operating results and other
discrete consolidated financial statements is regularly
reviewed by the CODM for the purpose of resource
allocation and assessment of performance of respective
businesses which generate different types of revenue.
The CODM review the operating results of the Group as
a whole to make decisions about resource allocation and
for performance assessment. The operation of the Group
constitutes one single operating and reportable segment
under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” and accordingly no
separate segment information is presented.

MAEETH@EZ NEEZEERRA (TE
BEERRAN) RENEHDREFHER
DREKEFEREMEMTER R EXWIm DR
PRECRY W am o0 #fr o 2210 » PR W m o9 A 5 > I R
MEXEREMENGEMBREBETES
BRARAREEATRAEBENZN KB EBF
HERDEAFLEREMENER TEEE
RRAEBRAEEERBLEEXE LRTER
NEREARBFAF G - REEBEMHBREERES
WIEEN I AEFEEBENE—KERA
BREDE B WESIEILDEE K
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

(v) Geographical information

The Group's operations are located on the Mainland China
and Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from continuing
operations from external customers is presented based
on the location of the operations. Information about the
Group's non-current assets is presented based on the
geographical location of the assets.

5. WmKkAWER E

(v) StEHEH
AEBNEBUNPEAMKRES -
FERFBEEEBRAIBERZERRE

B REGZEfMR B2 - AREAER
FRBEENENDEREEMEBUERS -

Revenue from Non-current
External customers assets
RBEINBER ZUWE JEMENEE

2023 2022 2023 2022
o= B _F ZTEI=Hf T __

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARBETRT ARBTT ARBTR ARETT

The Mainland China A e P 3t 4,442 60,709 3,871 3,162
Hong Kong 58 - - 15,361 14,950
4,442 60,709 19,232 18,112

(vi) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group
are as follows:

(i) FEEXREH

REERFELAERBERDI10%ULEZER
Wl

2023 2022

RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARETRT ARETT

Customer A ZHA 1,093 =
Customer B =B 879 =
Customer C =ZhAC 755 =
Customer D ZFAD 576 =
Customer E ZPE 536 =

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEEMBRAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

6. OTHER INCOME 6. HfthilrA
2023 2022
g = -
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETr AR®BTT
Compensation received upon cancellation of BUEMEE S &a41%
sugar trading contract IWER Ry BS1E = 1,140
Bank interest income IRITHA B WA 117 144
Other income H A 44 21
161 1,305
7. OTHER LOSSES 7. Hftgsia
2023 2022
—B=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETFT
Fair value change on investment properties KREMEANEES 380 938
Fair value change on financial assets at FVTPL BAnEst ABmNHBEEN
NREEEF) 488 824
868 1,762
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. B
2023 2022
—B=F T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Interest expenses on FMERMX
— secured bank borrowing —BIRPIEITENR 341 232
— other borrowing —HMER 1,357 508
— lease liabilities —HHEaR’ 177 17
— bank overdrafts —iR1TEZ 65 146
1,940 903

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT

9. FRSIAIERE

2023 2022
= =
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT
Current tax ENEAFR I8
PRC EIT R FPTSR - 193
PRC LAT FR[EE + I (E R = 3,053
- 3,246
Deferred taxation (note 28) IEIEFRIE (BPsE28)
Current year KEE (857) (5,492)
(857) (2,246)

Under the two tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the
two tiered profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed
at a flat rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 as the
Group has no assessable profit for the years.

Under the Law of the PRC on EIT (the "EIT Law"”) and
Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of
the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

The provision of PRC LAT is estimated according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. PRC LAT has been provided at progressive rates
ranging from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land
value, with certain allowable exemptions and deductions.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 9. Frigfiige (&
The income tax (credit) expense for the year can be RERZFAER (BER) BXEGsERET
reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated HERMRATEE 2 HERAT !

statement of profit or loss as follows:

2023 2022
—EZ= - ——
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFTRT AR®ETT
Loss before taxation PRI EIES 1R (52,494) (77,715)
Tax credit at the domestic income tax rate of 25% &7 FREIFRZR25%
(2022: 25%) (Note) (CZZF:125%) 582
MBI % (5T (13,124) (19,429)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax RANRESZ 2 MBLE
purpose 4,438 588
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose  FEERFRUIA Z IR FERE (35) (1,765)
Provision of PRC LAT for the year AR IS ER B - 3,053
Tax effect of PRC LAT deductible for PRC EIT AL B EPTERIAE
R HIEERZINB T E - (763)
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences not k&2 BT #1078 & = 2
recognised MRS & 5,881 13,352
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REMBEEERE
operating in other jurisdiction WMEBABRERE & 1,983 2,718
Income tax credit TSR (857) (2,246)
Note: The domestic income tax rate (which is PRC EIT rate) in the iz . RAAEEKEXBFIEMAES AR AMFTRE
jurisdiction where the operation of the Group is substantially MME EIPEREMESRE) -

based is used.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has PREBXR AEBERPNEEELEBREY
deductible temporary differences of approximately EVEERIBENTHNREREEZOA

RMB331,566,000 (2022: RMB308,040,000) arising from R#331,566,000c (ZE__F: AR
allowance recognised on properties held for sales and 308,040,00070) REL BEEY E RN #E
approximately RMB119,213,000 (2022: RMB119,213,000) BHOAR®119,213,0000 (ZE - —F . A
arising from allowance recognised on properties under K 1119,213,0007T) °

development respectively.

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to HRAKAERERF B BRIEN IR }D
such deductible temporary differences as it is not probable HNERMEERE AILIRIERIBE ZE KK A

that taxable profit

will be available against which the BINERMEERRM-

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 28. RIEMRIBE B H M 5E28 ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 10. FREE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging FREEENR GFA) X TEIE
(crediting):
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TFT
Directors’ emoluments (note 11a) EE=ME (sE11a) 4,245 3,163
Other staff costs HMBE T piz 8,004 10,484
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRREF B 971 986
13,220 14,633
Gross rental income from investment properties & EYELEE S WA (5) (163)
Less: Direct operating expenses incurred for B FERELAESBRANKEEY =
investment properties that generated EENEREERS
rental income during the year 1 23
(4) (140)
Cost of properties held for sale recognised as RARZNFIEHEMERA
expenses (included in cost of sales) (Gt ASHE i AS) 4,262 51,625
Auditor’s remuneration ZEEMBN & 1,136 1,356
Net foreign exchange loss ERREREE = 62
Allowance (reversed) recognised under ECL model HfthfEWIBTEHE B EBE
on other receivables TE TSR 2 18 (12 [m)) (274) 419
Allowance recognised on properties P EL Y =R EE
held for sale 23,526 5,222
Impairment loss recognised on properties MIERYERPIRER R
under development - 48,187
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME-BERREBITE 751 736
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FTREESEITE 1,177 954
Expenses related to short-term leases FHATR S /BRI 464 784

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#



11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND 1. EF-FETHAERESEME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 &=

EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS
(@) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) EBEERTETBAEMNE

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eight
(2022: twelve) directors and the chief executive were as

—E-=F+-A=+—BILEE

P

BRadEaN U (ZCE__F:. +-)EEK
ETBHABZEEZNZHMENT !

follows:
Executive directors
BTER
Mr. PAN Mr.CHEN ~ Mr. CHENG Mr.To  Mr. Zhang Mr. CHEN Mr. LEE Mr. YAU
Shimin Xian Chi Kin Kwan Xiao Jun Weijiang  ChunTung  Sze Yeung Total
BRAE RERE FFERE HEEE REERLE REIRE FTHYRE BRERE At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
AEBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(notes ii) (notesiii)  (notesix)  (notes xii) (notesx)  (notes xi)
(M ki) (Mt zHiii) (ffzkix) — (fskxi) (RfzEx) (FitzExi)
For the year ended HEZSC=E
31 December 2023 +ZR=t+-BLEE
Directors' fees ESig - - - - - 160 160 160 480
Salaries and allowances HERER 1,249 776 m 840 65 - - - 3,701
1,249 776 m 840 65 160 160 160 4181
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRIt BIER 16 16 16 16 - - - - 64
Total izt 1,265 792 781 856 65 160 160 160 4,245
Executive directors Independent non-executive directors
HiES BUFanES
Mr. POON Mr. CHAR
Mr. PAN Mr.CHEN  Mr. CHENG Mr. To Mr. LAU Mr. LU Mr. LU Lai Yin, Shik Ngor, Mr. CHEN Mr. LEE Mr. YAU
Shimin Xian ChiKin Kwan Sai Chung fFeng  Zhongxiang Michael Stephen Weijang  ChunTung  Sze Yeung Total
BREE  RERL BFRRLE HHEL DEREL DHRL ADHRL  ERERL  ERRALT REIRE TEYRL  BRBRL &3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
A\EEFR  ARETR ARETR ARETR AREBTR ARETR ARETn ARBTn ARETr ARETR ARETRn ARETR  ARETR
(notes ii) (notes iii (notes i) (notes v, vi) (note iv) (note iv) (note vii) (note viii) (notes x) (notes xi)
(i) (H3kii) (zEx) (i) GEN) (Hizkv) (Htzhvi) (Biakvii) (Fzx) (Hizkn)
For the year ended HEZZ_-E42A
31 December 2022 =+-ALEE
Directors' fees Bzhg - - - - - - - 66 76 153 8 74 451
Salares and allowances FeREH 514 %7 377 381 139 7 3 - - - - - 2648
514 987 377 381 139 177 73 66 76 153 8 74 3,099
Retirement benefits scheme BIVERIEIER
contributions 9 25 9 9 4 4 4 - - - - - 64
Total @t 523 1,012 386 390 143 181 77 66 76 153 82 74 3163
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

11.

(a)

Notes:

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for
their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services as directors of the Company.

Mr. Pan Shimin was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 10 February 2022.

Mr. Cheng Chi Kin was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 17 June 2022.

Mr. Liu Feng and Mr. Liu Zhongxiang resigned as executive
directors of the Company on 28 January 2022.

Mr. Lau Sai Chung resigned as an executive director of the
Company on 10 February 2022.

Mr. Lau Sai Chung was also the chief executive of the
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include those
for services rendered by him as the chief executive.

Mr. Poon Lai Yin, Michael, resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 6 June 2022.

Mr. Char Shik Ngor, Stephen resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 30 June 2022.

Mr. To Kwan was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 15 June 2022.

Mr. Lee Chun Tung was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 17 June 2022.

Mr. Yau Sze Yeung was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 6 July 2022.

Mr. Zhang Xiao Jun was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 30 October 2023.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived or
agreed to waive any emoluments paid by the Group during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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(a)

Mk -

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2022: three) were directors and the chief
executive of the Company whose emoluments are set out
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2022: two)
individual were as follows:

= .2 H
)

AA 5 ER R MIEE

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

M. EBF - FETBRAERESME (&

(b) EEME

AEEA AR
-

SMEEMNALTR 0% (2F
=R) RERBZEEREE

TEA

% REZMEEN EXIE - Feg—B (T

= ——EE

m) BRI AL ZMEWT :

2023 2022

—E°= B
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREFTRT AERBTT
Salaries and allowances e oRRL 483 926
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIAEHEHEHERR 11 64
494 990

Emoluments of the five individuals with highest emoluments
including directors were within the following bands:

TxmeME@ENAL (8
FUTHER :

BEE) ZMEN

Number of individuals
(including directors
and chief executive)

BIHE (BREFEK

EFETHAR)
2023 2022
ZEI=F T F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR
Nil to HK$1,000,000 ZE11,000,00078 4 4
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 711,000,001 70 E
781,500,0007T 1 1
5 5

No emolument have been paid by the Group to the
directors and the chief executive of the Company or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of
office during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022.

BE_T_-FR-_F-_F+-A=+—
ALEE AEERENARADEEREET

BAEBERDLBERS

M <2 18 Bl A 1= 32 B == 1F

AIRSIMASIA A& B2 R Fa %

B
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND
EMPLOYEES' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued)

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in note 33, no significant transaction,
arrangement and contract in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
was a party and in which a director of the Company and
the director’'s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

12. DIVIDEND

No dividends were declared and proposed by the Company
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period.

13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculations of the basic and dilutive loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

1. EBF -FETBRAERESME (&

(b) EEME

EFRRG HHAESHBIEAXE D

PR E33FIRBEE N A RATEEFREEN
HELDBERERNERNEMEBDAFE
UERRBDNEEANBADERITNTHA
FEBEFERNEARZ LRGN TE
FERHBENERED

12. KR

RBE_ZE_=Z"Ffr_FE_-_F+°H
S+—BLEEE ARTHEERKEIKEM
KRE TERSHRETERKEARKRE -

13. ©BREE

FERBBEAEABEESREARBEESGRER
BUTHEE -

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Loss EsiE
Loss for the purposes of basic and st EEREAREEEE
diluted loss per share ma 2 &8
— loss for the year attributable to owners of — A REHEE ANEBLFEANEIER
the Company (46,231) (55,768)
Number of shares KRB
Weighted average number of share M EEREAREEHEEMS 2
for the purposes of basic and READ NORE I
diluted loss per share 254,469,052 254,469,052

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LiEEMBRAR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

13. LOSS PER SHARE (Continued)

The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume
the exercise of the Company’s share options because the
exercise price of those options was higher than the average
market price for shares for the year of 2022.

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group leases out retail stores under operating leases
with rentals receivable monthly. The leases typically run
for an initial period of 3 to 5 years, with unilateral rights
to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees
only. Majority of the lease contracts contain market review
clauses in the event the lessee exercises the option to
extend.

The lease contracts do not contain residual value guarantee
and/or lessee’s option to purchase the property at the end
of lease term.

13. SKEBIE E

STEERBEEERITIERKEIATZER
BETRE J_I%DZ:%@%HREZTT@T%%ETHR
PR-IBZ_F22FHHE

14. KREYE

AEERBEECEHERALTEERITLE A K
WS AEE-—RZIESERF B HRE KL
SHE MABALEEVRABREREES
MERDEBEF - HAMEAITEIERERE > K
DHEGHHE T BB IR -

%ﬂ%é%’]]ﬁﬂtﬁzﬁi FEEERK S HAME
ARBERERFEEYENERE-

2023 2022

—E=F =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTT

FAIR VALUE ARE

At 1 January »w—B—H 1,800 4,400
Decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss Bﬁaﬁﬁﬁ%@z/&ﬁﬁﬁﬁi\ (380) (938)
Disposals HE = (1,662)
At 31 December W+-_B=+—H 1,420 1,800

The fair values of the Group's investment properties of
approximately RMB1,420,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: RMB1,800,000) have been arrived at on a basis
of valuation carried out by Norton Appraisals Holdings
Limited, an independent professional property valuer not
connected with the Group.

EIZ@%MEJJ/\EW&

BEYMEN _SE _ZF+_-_8A=+—
,420,00070 (=&

— "% ARK¥1,800,0007m) HEMREKRE
B EEAE B LEEYELERNorton
Appraisals Holdings Limited# 7 2 {5
o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recognised the loss in fair value of approximately
RMB236,000 in fair value change on investment properties
under other losses in the consolidated profit and loss upon
the disposal of investment proprieties. The fair value change
related to unrealised losses of investment properties is
approximately RMB380,000 (2022: RMB702,000) for the
year.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
third party qualified valuer to perform the valuation. The
management works closely with the Valuer to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs and data to
the model. The management reports the valuation report
and findings to directors semi-yearly to explain the cause of
fluctuations in the fair value of the assets.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
independent professional property valuer adopted the
investment approach for the properties which are currently
held for earning rental income and capital appreciation.

In estimating the fair value of the investment properties,
the highest and best use of the investment properties is
their current use. The fair values of investment properties
have been adjusted to exclude prepaid or accrued
operating lease income to avoid double counting.

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair
values of the investment properties were determined by
the independent professional property valuer by reference
to capitalised income to be derived from the tenancies and
the reversionary income potential of the properties.

The following tables give information about how the fair
values of these investment properties are determined (in
particular, the valuation techniques and inputs and data
used), as well as the fair value hierarchy into which the fair
value measurements are categorised (Levels 1 to 3) based
on the degree to which the inputs and data to the fair
value measurements is observable.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

14. BREWE &)

BE_ S+ _B=+—HLEEE &X&
ERHEREYEENGEERBENEHMER
BT ZREVELAAGBETRILNABEERE
AR M236,000cc EREREY E KRBT
EEARNAAEESH AL AR K380,0007T
(ZE-—F: AR¥702,0007T) °

RESFEEZRAARER  ZEBRBIREZ
TSR BE - HILETRAZE —RBEAHK
BoRAEBEZEGEMETHE - EEEA
BERIIBEEMERESFE URIGEZMG
BERTEREEZGABERBE - EBEESYF
MEFERLGERSKRER UBBEEQAR
BRFHZRE-

BE_ ST _=—"FER-_ZE-__F+"-B=1+—
HEEE  BUSEYEGEMMERNIFIER
NEAEWALRBEREEZYERBRE L

RIEFRENVEZAREBR REVEZRS
RREREAHEERRAGZ KENENARE
ERBEE UFBRAMIESF Z2KEREK
AN BREEFHE-

BE_E__FERIEZ_F+ZA=+—
AIEEE REYWEZAAENBHBILIEEY
XEEIM2ERAEAEEENELRTBTRAR
MEERBABIMERTE -

TRINTEMNAEEXSTRENELAE
ZEH (CHEGERMRMAH AERHK
B URBERAANEFEMBHAEREERN
HERREEDEZAREAEMBARESFR
(B—MREB=MH) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
As at 31 December 2023

14. BREWE &)
WZE_=F+"-HA=+—H

BRI

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

Range
Fair value Valuation techniques (weighted
Category Fair value hierarchy and key inputs and data Significant unobservable inputs average) Sensitivity
RERTAEEHAE #E
85 RAE RREER  REE EXFIHRBAE (NEFI9E) HEE
RMB’000
ARETR
Retail stores 1,420 Level 3 Investment approach - 1. Term yield 4.0% A slight increase in term yield would
in the PRC B income capitalisation of 1. EHIKE result in significant decrease in fair
KAz ZERE the net income and made value, and vice versa

provisions for reversionary
income potential

REE-FWABIWAE
KNMERFERBAENE
R

2. Reversionary yield

2. ERW@

3. Unit rent
3. Bfig

4. Monthly market rent
4. BRMBHEE

5.5%

RMB26
ARE267T

RMB31
ARB31T

EHE R R ERN AR ERE
B R Re

A slight increase in reversionary
yield would result in significant
decrease in fair value, and vice

@Emllﬁlmfﬂ%fﬁ HAREKRE
ﬁ"“)ﬁZ?T*

A significant increase in unit rent
would result in significant increase
in fair value and vice versa.

BAESABENRERARE
KB K2 TR

A significant increase in the market
rent would result in significant
increase in fair value and vice
versa.

MIHHEE KRB MRER QA E
KIBIEM R 2 T59R
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. BREWE &)
As at 31 December 2022 R B _HF+"RA=+—H
Range
Fair value Valuation techniques (weighted
Category Fair value hierarchy and key inputs and data Significant unobservable inputs average) Sensitivity
HERTREEHAR _ i
85 RAE RREER  REE EXFIHRBAE (NEFIE) HEE
RMB’000
ARBTR
Retail stores 1,800 Level 3 Investment approach - 1. Term yield 4.0% A slight increase in term yield would
in the PRC B income capitalisation of 1. EHIKE result in significant decrease in fair
RHBZzZERE the net income and made value, and vice versa
provisions for reversionary THRGREEENNAEAR
income potential R RZ I Re

REE-BFWABWAE
RERMERBNEE
LB

2. Reversionary yield 5.5% A slight increase in reversionary
2. BRWE yield would result in significant
decrease in fair value, and vice

@Emllﬁlmﬁﬁiﬁ HAREKRE

A RZI *
3. Unit rent RMB31 to A significant increase in unit rent
3. Bfifig RMB39  would result in significant increase

ARE31TE  infair value and vice versa.

ARE39T BUBSAREMEERANE

ARG k2 TR
4. Monthly market rent RMB38 A significant increase in the market
4. BRmBHER AE387c  rent would result in significant
increase in fair value and vice
versa. )
TSHEERBEMEERARE
AR RZTRR e
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the BHE_Z_-_FRIZE-C E ‘f— —_A=+—
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. BEFE #@IESAREBEHE=
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. YE - -BERRE
Leasehold
land and Leasehold Motor
buildings improvements  Equipment Furniture vehicles Total
HETHR
BF e R &R pal:d oz
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEBTr ARETr AREFTT ARETR ARETR ARETR
cosT A&
At 1 January 2022 RZE-"F—-H—H 19,561 845 1,793 167 2,9% 25,360
Exchange differences ERER 1,665 72 2 = = 1,739
Additions RE - = 6 = S 6
At 31 December 2022 and =S
1 January 2023 +ZA=1+—-8k%
& =£-A-H 21,226 917 1,801 167 2,99 27,105
Exchange differences EREE 588 25 4 - = 617
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=f
+-B=1t—H 21814 942 1,805 167 2,994 27,122
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION RitirE
At 1 January 2022 R-_E-_F—H—H 5,683 845 1,510 167 1,612 9,817
Exchange differences EREH 502 7 4 - - 578
Provided for the year ENEE 429 - 48 - 259 736
At 31 December 2022 and R_E__F
1 January 2023 +ZA=1+—-8k
—E_=-#—-H-H 6,614 917 1,562 167 1,871 11,131
Fxchange differences ERESE 186 25 4 = = 215
Provided for the year FREE 458 - 45 - 248 751
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=f
+-B=1+—H 7,258 942 1,611 167 2,19 12,097
CARRYING AMOUNT IREE
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=f
+-A=+-H 14,556 - 194 - 875 15,625
At 31 December 2022 RWZEZZF
+ZA=+—H 14,612 - 239 - 1,123 15,974
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

15.

Notes:

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into account
their estimated residual values, at the following useful lives or
rates per annum:

Leasehold land Over the shorter of the term of
and buildings the lease or 50 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of
the leases or 5 years

Equipment 18% to 25%
Furniture 18% to 25%
Motor vehicles 10%

The leasehold land and buildings are situated in Hong Kong.

Leasehold land and buildings with an aggregate carrying value
of approximately RMB14,556,000 (2022: RMB14,612,000)
have been pledged to secure the other borrowing and general
banking facilities granted to the Group for the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022 respectively.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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15.

5T

ME - -BERRE (2

M EME BB RRFHEEB D&t A FIERE
BERZUT A ERFRASFERUEREINE !

HE M REF ZIAERIE50F

MUBIEE R )
HEXE BB E
UBIEE B )
B4 18%E25%
®E 18%E25%
It 10%

FAE LM RIEFHMUREE -

HEREENARM14,556,000 (T2 & AR
1461200075)2%3 THRIBFENIEREE
TR CFERIFICETIA=+—HIEEEH
AR T AEE—RIRTEE Z )R
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiE_Z —

AA 5 ER R MIEE

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS FEHEEE
Leased Office
properties  equipment Total
HEME MIERE st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTFT ARETT ARBTT
At 31 December 2023 R-_Z2_=F+"H=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 2,184 3 2,187
At 31 December 2022 RZE-_"_+”-A=+—H
Carrying amount FREE 330 8 338
For the year ended BE_T_=
31 December 2023 +ZA=+—HLEE
Depreciation charge mEER 1,172 5 1,177
For the year ended BE_ZT__—
31 December 2022 TZA=+—HLHFE
Depreciation charge mEEA 949 5 954
2023 2022
—E”= .- ——
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Expense relating to short-term lease FEHATR EAERER 464 784
Total cash outflow for leases HERSMHARZE 1,683 1,801
Additions to right-of-use assets NETHAEEE 3,021 -
The leased properties and office equipment are depreciated MEMERBAEREERES LA M

over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term using the straight-line method.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
leases a staff quarter, an office, car parking spaces and
a copier (2022: a staff quarter, an office, car parking
spaces and a copier) for its operations. Lease contracts are
entered into for original fixed terms ranging from 1 to 5
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

PR FRRERNREERE-

BE_T_=—F+-_RB=t—HLFE T&%
EmHEEHEEIES MAE FEAK
TR (CE-"F BIBES " WMAEFE
URTHE) - HEGNENFIESFZR
Bl EFHT - HERRZEHEELER > I
HFEZSBARMBERRFF REBEERERMK
FEAHOBAENRER  AEBRBEH
MERILETEGARRERNITHHARE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately RMB2,161,000
(2022: RMB349,000) are recognised with related right-
of-use assets of approximately RMB2,187,000 (2022:
RMB338,000) as at 31 December 2023. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than
the security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets cannot be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

The Group regularly enters into short-term leases for
warehouse. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of
short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense
disclosed above.

17. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE/
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE

Properties under development are classified as current
assets as the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to be completed in the
normal operating cycle.

Properties under development substantially represent
the cost of the land situated at JIXIANG-23, Maoming
Jixiang District* (XM &5 #£/)\&) in the PRC (the "PRC
Land”) and costs incurred for construction work. As at
31 December 2023, properties under development were
scheduled for completion partially and delivery within
twelve months from the end of the reporting period.

The carrying amount of leasehold land is measured at cost
less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses. The residual values are determined as the estimated
disposal value of the leasehold land component. No
depreciation charge is made on the leasehold land taking
into account the estimated residual values as at 31
December 2023 and 2022.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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16. EFREEE (&
1R E PRI 25

o > R ZBEZ=F+"B=+—H B
HWARM2,161,0000 (ZE-_—_F : AR
349,0007) 2 HEGB LR AMEREEE E
HWARM2,187,000c (ZE - —_F: AR
338,0007) R -BRHBAMBHEEEEDN
IR R S T B 15 58 0 A AE 00 AR T 2255 o
MEESEASBEERZEER-

rEBEHARBET LEHREE - R -T2 "=
FRIBZFTRA=+—H ' EHEEN
HMEHEN ERBENEHEERXNEREE
HEEEL e

17. EEME FEHEME FEHE
REYE

MR ERARNEBEEA > RBERER
EEBRARN MEENERADEES
£ -

EFEYETBEEMARFERAREGTETENE
JIXIANG-23 2z £ (THRE £3#)) REETRE
FMEENR A RZ-ZSE-_=F+=-B=+—
B EEYMEXRFEI N ERSHBRES 2
BARILD TR

& 1 B9 BR (B LA AL AR E 7 R 51 T & &
ERREBRFE - FNREERESEE LM
BoWESHHEBE - TRIN T =

TR CH+ZR=+—HKMALERRE
B HELHMAHRTEER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

17. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT/
PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE/
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD FOR
SALE (Continued)

Properties held for sale/investment properties held for sale
are situated on leasehold land in the PRC. Properties held
for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value while investment properties held for sale are stated
at their fair values with reference to the selling prices
contracted in the sale and purchase agreements signed on
or before the end of the reporting period.

The Group engaged Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited,
an independent professional property valuer, which has
appropriate qualification and recent experience in the
valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations. The
properties held for sale were valued individually on market
value basis.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, in
view of continuous slow turnover of the properties held for
sale and downturn of the property market in the PRC, the
management of the Group then assessed the net realisable
values of the properties held for sale and properties under
development as at 31 December 2022 and 2023, with
reference to the valuations conducted by an independent
professional property valuer. The net realisable values
of the Group’s properties held for sale and properties
under development were arrived at by the independent
professional property valuer with reference to transaction
prices of comparable properties in the similar or same
locations with adjustments made according to nature of
each property and its specific location and condition.

As at the reporting date, there are temporary cease to
register transfer of the properties for the First Maoming
Project by the Maoming Municipal Housing and Urban-
Rural Development Bureau.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the
management of the Group, after considering the results
of valuations conducted by the Valuer and recent sales
transactions, has determined that the net realisable
values of properties held for sales and properties under
development are less than their carrying amounts and
an allowance of approximately RMB23,526,000 (2022:
RMB5,222,000) and Nil (2022: RMB48,187,000) has been
recognised in the profit or loss respectively.

4R e ARSI RMIEE

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

17. EEYE FEHEME FEHE
REME (@

FFHEME FELEREMEDUNF
Bl HE T FFHEY E LU AR K P&
REEURBESE) IR MEFLERSE
METNBERRERAR A BT EE W
EFETNZEBRAREBEY R

AEBEZBBEIEXYEEERMNoOrton
Appraisals Holdings Limited > ##A &N
B URREHMARERUENBLIYEE
ﬁﬁigﬁ’ﬂ,@%ﬁO%T’Eﬁ’%%*@ﬁﬁiﬁﬁi%%ﬁ—@
Al (& o

BE_ T __FARB_="F+_H=1t—
BLEFE  ERFEFHEYERFEGHEUKLT
EMETHZN T B AEREEEBERZSZE
%I%%%%ﬁ@%%ﬁ@%&ﬁﬁ%hﬁ
HEMERSERTYWER S _—_Fh_
TZE+TR=T—HNIUERFE- K%l
BEHEMERERTYEZULRFEH
BUYUEXYEGEMER2EURBANER
UENALEBYEZRZER URRESE
WERME R ES E L E M KM PR
BMER-

RBREBH RETERFMMBERRE TS
BE-—EAXREENREEBRELTFE-

BE_Z _—FE+_B=Z+—HLEEE" zts%
EEEEBKERBIUGEMETZEHELS

B HASHE R 7 1% E#E%TT’EtH%fF%%&é*
ERYEASRIERNKSEREELE
REZTDRIERHN ARBE23,526,0007T (=
BEZ_F ANRMS5,222,000m) RE(ZE
I =i )\Em%48,187,000m)z%r‘f1%o
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

18. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 18. 1#E - HthEIFERIERTA{I I
PREPAYMENTS

2023 2022

B = 2T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFTT AR®BTT
Other receivables (Note 1) HahpgEugsrs (MsE1) 8,122 14,264
Less: impairment losses recognised, net B BRESRERE  FEB (1,094) (1,358)
7,028 12,906
Deposits and prepayments (Note 2) BEREARE (fsE2) 4,408 1,933
Value-added tax and other tax receivables FEWIE E R K ELfth iR 18 24,804 19,650
36,240 34,489

Notes:

It includes loan receivables of approximately RMB335,000
(2022: RMB861,000) extended to the buyers of properties
as at 31 December 2023. The amounts are interest-free,
unsecured and repayable within twelve months.

Details of impairment assessment of other receivables are set
out in note 40(b).

1. BRER_SE_=ZF+_RB=1+—HAYEEHE
F 2 EWE A AR K335,00000 (CE-_F A
F£861,0007T) e ZERIBEA R E  BIRIF R BN
+ @B REE

HA IR R ET & BEIC I EE40(b)

2. BER_E_=ZF+_A=+—HARBEEEHN

2. It includes a deposit paid of approximately RMB185,000
(2022: RMB550,000) for purchasing sugar as at 31 December EARESHARK185000T (CE-—F: AR
2023. 550,0007T) °
19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FVTPL 19. BAREFABEZMBEE
2023 2022
2= . S—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBFTT AR®BTT
Listed securities held for trading: FERXZ 2z LS .
— Equity securities listed in Hong Kong —REB LM ZRAEFES - 3,821

The fair value of the Group's investment as at 31 December
2023 was classified as Level 1.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

AEER-Z_=ZF+-_RB=+—HHNKRELRN
BRDERE R



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4R e ARSI RMIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

20. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the restricted bank
deposit represents a guarantee deposit for the construction
of project required to be placed in a designated bank
account by the PRC Construction Bureau of Maoming City*
(PRI ™M ERE) . The amount will be released upon
the bank receiving the certificate of property ownership.

Restricted bank deposits carry interest at a market rate of
0.20% (2022: 0.25%) per annum.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

21. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

As at 31 December 2023, pledged bank deposits
amounting to approximately RMB3,133,000 (2022:
RMB3,924,000) have been pledged to guarantee the
mortgage loans granted by the banks to the customers of
the Group and are therefore classified as current assets.

The pledged bank deposits carry interest at a market rate
which range from 0.20% to 0.30% (2022: 0.25%) per
annum.

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which ranged
from 0.05% to 0.30% (2022: 0.05% to 0.39%) per
annum.

Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Central Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations. The Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

20. HERHIRITER

A _=FER_F__F+_B=+-—
B ARERGHERISAE ATER S TRS

BIEERTEAABNIRER 2 RES - &
TR B SRAT OB D 3K P S MR 1R AR ©

BERGABTEREDSFENZE0.20% (ZF
T 10.25%) 5t B o

21. BERRITER RITEERRE

RIEZ_=F+"B=+—H ' 2HEHOUARK
3,133,000 (ZZ2 "4 . AK3,924,000
7o) CERFRITEREFRTF > LIERIET
MAEEEERHEZZBEF A2 EA R

BEE-

BIRFRITEAEDTHFEMNENF0.20%E
030% (CE - _"F:0.25%) st &

BTHERETSEMNNENF0.05%FE0.30%
(ZEZ % :0.05%%F0.39%) st B o

ARBRBINERBT(REARKEMBEIINE
EIEARA ) R (HE EE /EEEZTTEFQEE%EE»O
FEBRZEREETIHEEH ZRITR M
ARBSHMEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. B KRHEMESRRIE
2023 2022
—E= B F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREFT AR®TT
Trade payables BRI 6,284 8,069
Value-added tax payable FETIZER 39,540 39,720
Other tax payables HENIRIE 3,036 3,040
Other payables H A& TRIB 10,331 14,217
Accrued charges fEst& A 73,140 86,096
132,331 151,142

Credit periods granted to the Group by suppliers range

from 0 to 180 days.

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables,
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the

reporting period:

HEBETAEROEIBOKRZIEER -

RBEHAZESBRARBREZHHES

ZEREDHWMT

2023 2022
—2-= —ZC

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT ARBTT

Within 90 days 90K IR 6,284 8,069
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ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_Z

23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

4R e ARSI RMIEE

:_EH-_H =+—HILEE

23. &4af’

2023 2022

—EZ= TECCF

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBFTT ARBTT

Receipts in advance for sales of properties HEYETAWRIE 124,528 32,496

As at 1 January 2022, contract liabilities amounted to
approximately RMB56,718,000.

Contract liabilities increased during the year ended 31
December 2023 because the Group received in advance
from pre-sale of properties of Second Maoming Project
amounts significantly outweighed the amounts on
delivering the properties held for sale to the customers in
prior year.

Contract liabilities are expected to be settled within the
Group's normal operating cycle.

Revenue recognised during the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 that was included in the contract liabilities
balances at 1 January 2023 and 2022 amounted to
approximately RMB4,437,000 and RMB53,906,000
respectively.

24. OTHER BORROWINGS

Other borrowing from an independent third party
amounted to approximately RMB9,089,000 (2022:
RMB8,844,000) which is unsecured, interest-bearing at 6%
per annum and repayable within twelves months from the
end of the reporting period.

Secured loan from a finance company amounted to
approximately RMB20,905,000, which is secured by
the leasehold land and building of approximately
RMB14,556,000, interest-bearing at 13% per annum
and repayable within twelve months from the end of the
reporting period.

RIEZZF—H—R GHERANARR
56,718,0007T °

ENEERB8E T _=ZF+"A=+—~H
EEEEMN RESETERRARE - XLEE
HEYERBEEZEBELFERRERRZNF
EYERNRIAR-

FHRENEAERNAEBEZERKERENRR

BlE-

FAR_E_ZEA_E__F£F—FB—H®
EHNEEERNEBE _S_=K_T__
FE+_B=+—HEFEEEBEIKRZD A
HANR®E4,437,000c & AR #53,906,000

JT ©

24. Hfhfgm

—ABUF—_FIREBHEMEBEROARE
9,089,000t (ZZE =4 : AR 18,844,000
7o) CERRBEABRIETF BEFE6%TE 1L
BERSHARET—EARERERE-

XE—RBYBLAENBEHREROA A
K 120,905,000t ZERUHZY AR
14,556,000c M E T M RIEFEIRITF &
MEBIBUREERSTHARET-EBERE
2= ©

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#

193



194

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

25. LEASE LIABILITIES

25. THE&E

2023 2022
—E-= —E-
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTFRT AREBTT

Lease liabilities payable:

BUEERRE:

Within one year 1,455 344
More than one year, but not exceeding two years —E& B BB M & HARH 706 5
2,161 349
Less: Amounts due for settlement within B R12E B R EI BB ENRIE
12 months shown under current liabilities PR E B EIE N ER) (1,455) (344)
Amounts due for settlement after 12 months R12E B & EBENFIA
shown under non-current liabilities RIEREEBEE TR 706 5

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied

to lease liabilities is 6.92% (2022: 3.52%).

26. AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The amounts represent the advances from the non-
controlling interests in respect of acquisition of the
PRC Land and construction cost for properties under
development which are unsecured, interest-free and have

no fixed repayment term.

It includes the amount of approximately R\MB49,500,000
(2022: RMB49,500,000) due to non-controlling interests of
the subsidiary, which is also the substantial shareholder of

the Company.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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HEAGEBERZ2NMETFrYHEEERINEXS
6.92% (CE - "4 :3.52%)c

26. ME(FIEERIMERARIE

ZEMIETE A B o B T ith 2 IR 4 I
mERMRERYENERA T SERF %
B B EEEERR -

HEEENHKB AR (FAELXATETERE)
FELEFMEERRIEL AR ®49,500,00070(=
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

27. SECURED BANK BORROWINGS

27. HEMRITER

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Secured bank loan BIERIBRITER
— Variable-rate borrowings — B EER — 12,184
Carrying amount of bank loan that contain a HAEBRERBEKRREERN
repayment on demand clause (shown under UTHIBEZRITEM
current liabilities) but repayable: ZEREE WRSBHasET
FER) -
— Within one year ——FR = 5,356
— More than one year, but not exceeding two ——F BB BiE M E AR
years . 982
— More than two years, but not exceeding five —MEBERBE A FHARE
years - 3,084
— More than five years —hF%BIAME = 2,762
Amount shown under current liabilities RREhBaEE NR &5 - 12,184

The Group's variable-rate borrowings carry interest at
3-month HIBOR plus 1.75% per annum or 1-month HIBOR
plus 3.00% per annum for the year ended 31 December

2022.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal

FRBMERNEK3.00%TR

RBEE_Z-__F+-A=+—HLEHFE 'R
EEZFHNXERDR=_BAEBRITH
ERFBEMEFNF1.75%—E A FERITHE

AEBBREBERANX (HTHEERGHFX)

to contracted interest rates) on the Group's borrowing are #HEMT -
as follows:
2023 2022
—E= “ECF
Effective interest rate BRH=
— Variable-rate borrowings —F BB - 1.99% to 7.46%
- 1.99%%&7.46%
28. DEFERRED TAXATION 28. IRIERIE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETFT
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEaE 5,312 6,169
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o]

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE

28. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities

“EC=H+RA=+—HLEFE

28. RIERIE (&

RAEEE CRBNISBEERESMRHS

recognised and movements thereon during the current E R
year:
Fair value
adjustments Change in
arising from fair value of
PRC LAT properties  investment
provision  held for sale properties Total
BifE  REWEZ
hELH  HEWMEZ ARfE
BEREE ARKERE £ st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AERETT ARBTR ARBTn ARBT=R
1 January 2022 R_E-_"F#—H—H 1,465 9,571 625 11,661
Credit to profit or loss REHETA (46) (5,019) 427) (5,492)
At 31 December 2022 and RZEZ”E+-A=+—-Hk
1 January 2023 —¥”=%-B—-H 1,419 4,552 198 6,169
Charge (credit) to profit or loss RN GTA) 45 (807) (95) (857)
At 31 December 2023 RZE2Z=#+ZA=+—H 1,464 3,745 103 5,312

At 31 December 2023, the Group had unused tax losses
of approximately RMB46,952,000 (2022: RMB36,635,000)
available for offset against future profits. Included in
unrecognised tax losses are losses of approximately
RMB13,125,000 (2022: RMB5,132,000) with expiry dates
as disclosed in the following table. Other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of such losses as at 31 December

R_E_=F+_B=+—H ' AEBEXH
BRIEEELN ARNE46,952,000 0 (T2 - —
£ ANEM%36,635,0007T) 7] B EHE 88 2k 2R i
MeoBETEBRHEE AEIAREBEEE
B ARME13,125000c (ZE__F : AR
#5,132,00070) » EIBAE M FTRIFE - HME
B ERAEE R _ S _ =K _T__
+-_B=+—8" EEE’\EEZE/ MR 2 A A 78

2023 and 2022 due to the unpredictability of future profit M TR ZEHBEDBRELEREEE -
streams.
2023 2022
—B=F =TT
RMB’000 RMB'000
AEETr ARBT
2023 - ;‘:EEE = 184
2024 —E g 50 50
2025 “ETRHEF 386 386
2026 —ETREF 4,512 4,512
2027 5 8,177 -
13,125 5,132
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiE_Z —

28. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued)

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred
taxation has not been provided for in the consolidated
financial statements in respect of temporary differences
attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC subsidiaries
amounting to approximately RMB78,908,000 (2022:
RMB100,935,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

4R e ARSI RMIEE

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

28. REFRIE (&

RIB(PETEMSRE)  BZEENE—HF—
HiE B E M B A ST BEE M A B E KR
EHWFENR RN AEEEM TG TR =B
MBI RERERBEAIER Y RARKRFG A
B> B ETh A B A AR 178,908,000 (ZF
— 4 AR#100,935,0007T) IREME AT E
SR BN E R EEN GRS M BRRANIRE
JEFRIB 1R o

29. SHARE CAPITAL 29. BR7s
Nominal
value per share Equivalent to
SREE Number of HER
HK$ shares HK$'000 RMB'000
B R BT AEBFT
Authorised: AT
At 1 January, 2022, 31 December 2022, AR "&E-B-H>
1 January 2023 “ECTE+TR=-R
“®B--F-H—H 1.0 300,000,000 300,000 281,070
Increased upon capital reduction (Note) PR AH AR (5D 29,700,000,000 = =
At 31 December 2023 RZE_=#+"A=+-H 0.01 30,000,000,000 300,000 281,070
Issued and fully paid: BETRER:
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 and WZE__&-F—R
1 January 2023 R CEtCA=+-HR
—E_=%-F—H 254,469,052 254,469 222,157
Capital reduction (Note) RAcElA (ET) - (251,924) (219,935)
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=#+_A=+—H 254,469,052 2,545 2222
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ANNUAL REPORT 2023 —ZT_=FF#



198

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

in e MRS IR AR MIEE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

29. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Note:

On 26 June 2023, a special resolution has been passed by the
shareholders of the Company for a capital reorganisation which
involves capital reduction and share subdivision. The par value of each
of the issued shares of the Company of HK$1.0 each (the "Existing
Share(s)”) is reduced from HK$1.0 to HK$0.01 by a cancellation of
HK$0.99 of the paid-up capital on each issued Existing Share so that
each issued Existing Share is treated as one fully paid up share of par
value HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company (the “New
Share(s)”) Immediately following the capital reduction, each authorised
but unissued Existing Shares of HK$1.0 each is sub-divided into one
hundred authorised but unissued New Shares of par value HK$0.01
each so that immediately following the capital reduction and the share
subdivision, the authorised share capital of the Company shall become
HK$300,000,000 divided into 30,000,000,000 New Shares. The
capital reorganisation is completed on 11 September 2023. Details of
the capital reorganisation are set out in the Company’s circular dated 6
June 2023.

The only externally imposed capital requirement for the
Group to maintain its listing status on the Stock Exchange
is that it has to have a public float of at least 25% of the
shares. Based on the information that is publicly available
to the Group and within the knowledge of the Directors,
the Group has maintained sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2023 as required under the
Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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RIBEZ=ZFRAZ /N ARBREM S MBI RR AR
BRIz RAELBBE BRI \uﬁ%°$’&jlﬂyﬁ
BEBE1.0c 2 BETRM (BRERMD) SEZEEREBE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The old share option scheme (the “2009 Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by the shareholders of the
Company at the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 30 November 2009. The 2009 Share Option
Scheme remained in force for a period of 10 years
commencing from the date of adoption of the 2009 Share
Option Scheme from 30 November 2009 (that is from 30
November 2009 to 29 November 2019).

On 13 July 2017, the Company granted a total of
64,000,000 share options to subscribe for 64,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company to certain
eligible individuals without vesting conditions under the
2009 Share Option Scheme.

The 2009 Share Option Scheme was terminated and a new
share option scheme (the “2019 Share Option Scheme”)
was adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 29 May
2019. The 2019 Share Option Scheme will remain in force
for a period of 10 years commencing from the date of
adoption of the 2019 Share Option Scheme from 29 May
2019 (the “Date of Adoption”) (that is from 29 May 2019
to 28 May 2029). Following the termination of the 2009
Share Option Scheme, no further options will be granted
under such scheme, but in all other respects the provisions
of the 2009 Share Option Scheme will remain in full force
and effect and options granted prior to such termination
will continue to be valid and exercisable.

On 16 October 2020, the Company held an extraordinary
general meeting and approved the consolidation of every
ten issued and unissued ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
in the share capital of the Company into one consolidated
share of HK$1.00 in the share capital of the Company. The
share consolidation became effective on 20 October 2020.

30. HERRHESTE

EEkastd (T2 NEBERESED) ER
ARABAR_ZEZEANF+—R=+HETZR
RBERGLEEARTRERM - _ T
BRESESHE _FEAF+—BA=+HHE®M
“ETABRESIBRESTFEHRE (BT
EENET+—A=+tHE-E-—NAE+—A8
“t+hAB) RDBABEN-

RIE—tTtFtA+=-HB AREREBEZZZE
NEBERESTEEE S364,000,00017 B AL #
FTEFLEERAL LUEEEG64,000,0008%
AACIEREEBEKOIOTZEZER  TER
&1

“ETNBRESIER L M ERES
g (IT=—hBRESE) ERNERANT
E-NERR-+NHBEGTZREBEKRE
EREARBDRERP - _ TN EBRESS
B-Z-AFRAZ+NB (MRMBEBH) K
M_T— N BRESEIHRES -FHE (B
—E-AFERARTAHEZE-AEREAR
“HTNANB)RMABR - —EZNERESE
RIEB TBREZAIREEAERE B
EFREEMAE —TTNABRESEINEE
DB+ RMADRER R IEATR LAY B AR &
R EAMNER TR

RIZEZEF+AT B A28 8TRRR
AREBTLHERAERTDRARETRKRERE
BABONOTZERTRAETERR S H
mERBREFT-—REREEBE1.00TZ
BHRMN - RONEHNR _EZTFE+A-+H
FIYRE R
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The Company may grant to eligible participants (including
any directors, non-executive directors, employees, advisors,
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents,
customers, business partners, joint venture business
partners, promoters, service providers of any member of
the Group whom the board of directors consider, in its sole
discretion, have contributed or will contribute to the Group)
options to subscribe for shares in the Company, subject to
a maximum of 10% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue as at the Date of Adoption and as at the
approval date of refreshment from time to time, excluding
for this purpose shares issued on the exercise of options.
The subscription price will be determined by the Company’s
board of directors and will not be less than the highest of (i)
the nominal value of the Company’s shares, (ii) the average
of the closing price of the shares quoted on the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange on the five trading days immediately
preceding the grant date and (iii) the closing price of the
shares on the grant date.

The number of share options granted and remained
outstanding under the 2009 Share Option Scheme and the
2019 Share Option Scheme are 6,400,000 after adjusting
for the effect of the share consolidation on 20 October
2020 and no share option has been exercised under
the 2009 Share Option Scheme and 2019 Share Option
Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, all the outstanding share options
granted under the 2009 Share Option Scheme and the
2019 Share Option Scheme has lapsed during the year. No
options has been granted, exercised and cancelled during
the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.
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30. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 30. BBRRHESTE ()

The following table discloses movements of the 2019 Share
Option Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2022: FEZZT-NEREFSH Z2EHBRN .

Number of share options

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

TRREB#E_ZT__F+_A=+—HL

BREHR
Balance Balance
as at Lapsed as at Exercise
Category of 1 January during 31 December price
participants Date of grant 2022 the year 2022 Exercise period per share
W_BI_E
j +ZR
—HA—H =+-H iR
SHEEER ek A ERERM 2&w {16 1@
Directors 13 July 2017 4,500,000 (4,500,000) - 13 July 2017 to 2.50
8% b o5 2 July 2022
tA+=H e of 3
tB+=H%
tA+ZH
Employees 13 July 2017 1,900,000 (1,900,000 - 13 July 2017 to 2.50
{28 “E-tE 12 July 2022
tA+=H ZZ2—tF
tA+=H%
“ETCF
tA+ZH
6,400,000 (6,400,000) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

31. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME
Hong Kong

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
its Hong Kong employees. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the subsidiaries in
Hong Kong and its employees makes monthly mandatory
contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employee’s
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance. The mandatory contributions from
each of the employers and employees are subject to a
cap of HK$1,500 per month. During the year ended 31
December 2023, a total contribution of approximately
RMB322,000 (2022: RMB587,000) was made by the Group
in respect of this scheme.

During the vyear, there were no forfeited contributions
which arose upon employees leaving the scheme prior to
their interests in the Group's contribution becoming fully
vested and which are available to reduce the contributions
payable by the Group in future years.

The PRC, other than Hong Kong

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the
PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute to a state-
managed retirement plan for all its employees at a
certain percentage of the basic salaries of its employees.
The state-managed retirement plan is responsible for
the entire pension obligations payable to all retired
employees. Under the state-managed retirement plan, the
Group has no further obligations for the actual pension
payments or post-retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
a total contribution of approximately RMB713,000 (2022:
RMB463,000) was made by the Group is respect of this
scheme.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At the end of the reporting period, certain assets of the
Group were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to
the Group and to obtain the mortgage facilities provided
to certain purchasers of the Group's properties for which

32. KHREE

AEBIRTEE KRR

fR) ZI|WWT ¢

guarantees were provided by the Group to the banks as

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

REREHMAR AEBZETEEEBER/ERT
BREEBYMEETE
HREZZENE (THAEEMRITRMIE

follows:
2023 2022
—Fg-= - S—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT
For banking and other facilities IRITRAMEENZ
Leasehold land and buildings HE T RIEF 14,556 14,612
For mortgage facilities EIEHET =
Pledged bank deposits BIERIEITEMN 3,133 3,924
33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 33. FAEFRIKE
The remuneration of directors and other members of key BE_S_—_FRIZEZZFE+ZA=+—

management during the years ended 31 December 2023

and 2022 are as follows:

Compensation of key management personnel

mE

TEERREME ZH

HIEEE: %%&ET@IE/—FEEF%EZ&JH%

2023 2022

—E=F =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTT
Salaries and other benefits in kind HEREMEYI = 4,664 4,025
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RIKEFFHEHRR 75 128
4,739 4,153

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard

BEAXRBERTSEZEE -

EFENFEEEAEZZHFMAFMNEZEZRE

to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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33. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(Continued)

Related party transactions and balances

Other than the disclosures in notes 11, 26 and 33, amounts
due to directors disclosed on the consolidated statement
of financial position which are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand, there were no other significant
related party balances or transactions.

34. COMMITMENTS

Operating leasing arrangements
The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
approximately RMB5,000 (2022: RMB163,000). The
properties held had committed leases mainly running for
the three to five years.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as
follows:

“EC=H+RA=+—HLEFE

33. FAERHWE &
BRES R 5 Rk

BRI 26 R33MBEE BRI R A HBR
RERBEEER RERALERMBE R
3 3 S RUE SN o 19148 4 £ ELth B K I 5 4
%5

34, KiE
REHEZHE

FEEERHAN
RERBIRZYERSWA BN ARES,000

T(ZEBEZ—F: AR%163,0007T)  FAF¥Y
¥ AEHBAFTFENF=ERE-

HERUBAKRBIREEMRNT

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTRT AR®TT

Within one year —FR 5 5
5 5
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 ﬁi_v i

34. COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Other commitments

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the

34. K (B

Hfth e

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

REBREHAR AEEREYEZERKEN

following capital commitments for development of S e
properties:
2023 2022
2= . S—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTFRT AR®TT
Contracted for but not provided in the BN ERBEASHMBRE
consolidated financial statements SRR 242,952 295,205

35. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's maximum
obligations in respect of the mortgage facilities provided to
certain purchasers of the Group's properties amounted to
approximately RMB94,046,000 (2022: RMB41,814,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group provided
guarantees in respect of the mortgage facilities granted
by certain banks to certain purchasers of the Group's
properties and pledged its bank deposits and properties
to the relevant banks. Pursuant to the terms of the
guarantees, upon default on mortgage payments by these
purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the
outstanding mortgage principals together with the accrued
interest and penalties owned by the defaulted purchasers
to the banks.

35. MBERAFEELN

RIE_=F+"B=+—H > xEBEMLE
EYECETEREREBEZERBERZRS
SEEHAREEIL, 046,000 (ZE-__F . A
R #41,814,0007T) ©

RBERR cEBRETRITAEERYE
ZETERRHZEBEMREHRER LEA
FIRTHRFEBRTERRYE - BREBEEFRE

PoMREERREEERBRIE AIEAEER
BEEEREXR E%Tﬁ%ﬁﬁZﬁE EERBE
T ER BB RFR
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35. FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS
(Continued)

Under the above arrangement, the bank deposits were
pledged to the banks as securities on the mortgage loans.
Upon default on mortgage payments by these purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the bank deposits
and legal titles of properties and can realise the pledged
properties through open auction, or the banks transfer the
pledged properties to the Group, then the Group sell the
properties through open auction. The Group is obliged to
repay the banks for the shortfall if bank deposits and the
proceeds from selling the properties through the auction
cannot cover the outstanding mortgage principals together
with the accrued interest and penalties.

The Group's guarantee period starts from the dates of grant
of the relevant mortgage loans, and ends upon the earlier
of (i) the issuance of real estate ownership certificates to
purchasers, which will generally be available within one
to two years after the purchasers take possession of the
relevant properties; and (i) the settlement of mortgage
loans between the mortgage banks and the purchasers.

In the opinion of the directors, the fair values of these
financial guarantee contracts of the Group are insignificant
at initial recognition and the directors consider that the
possibility of default of the parties involved is remote;
accordingly, no value has been recognised at the inception
of these guarantee contracts and at the end of the each
reporting period.

The Company engaged an independent professional
valuer, Norton Appraisals Holdings Limited, an independent
professional valuer not connected with the Group, to
assess the fair values of the financial guarantees of the
Group and the directors of the Company concluded that
the effect is insignificant, and accordingly, no provision
for guarantee has been recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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REBEXLZE BRARTEFREFRARIBEMN
ZHEARERFRT - HZFERREEERS
mIE ARTTARBEBIRTERRYMEREE
FROVAIEBARMEZRIMVYE > R
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BARPEHEZEYE - HIRTERRBE
HEMEFMSMBEZIBAEREEZRBE
TEREFAMNERIR AAEBRARRTE
BAE

AEBZERPEBRLEBRISEERBHHA
B EUTRERREREA L (IBDERE
HEMEFMBERE —MRERBEEERDE
B—EMEFEAFEL; RINVEBRBIRTHRE
RZEHRBEM

EERR rEEZSMBERGNZANE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZF_—

36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

Details of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023

36.

BRI

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

AT EEMBABTZEFE

B ZHER-BZHFTRA=+—H

and 2022 are as follows: ZEENBRAAFMABERTNT
Place of
establishment/ Issued and fully
incorporation/ Class of paid capital/ Proportion ownership
Name of subsidiary operation shares held registered capital interest held by the Company  Principal activities
R/
Bl ERTRBERS/
WEAERE B BERHERN ARER AT RAEEE LA FTELH
2023 2022
Z§C= St
Directly Directly
E# E#

Techwayson Management Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Provision of management services
Limited &8 ZiEk 7#1%10,0007T RIHEERY

BEHKEEERAR

Techwayson Trading Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Trading of raw cane sugar

BERESARAT &8 ZER 7#1510,0007 ]

Weina Land Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$10,000 100% 100% Property holding

HBREBRAT e BER 71#£10,0007 MEER

Maoming Huada Real Estate The PRC Contributed capital  RMB50,000,000 90% 90% Property development and investment
Development Limited** (“Maoming & BABR AR 150,000,0007T MERBREE
Huada")

pEAEYN NG
4 EN)

Maoming Shang Cheng Real The PRC Contributed capital - RMB30,000,000 65% 65% Property development and investment
Estate Company Limited*# FE UN=ES A 30,000,0007T WERERRE
("Maoming Shang Cheng")

RELHEEERAT
(% L3

Shenzhen Qianhai Shang Cheng The PRC Contributed capital  RMB38,000,000 100% 100% Trading of sugar
Supply Chain Management FE UN=US AR #38,000,0007 EiEES
Limited** (“Shenzhen Qianhai")

A8 LR ER
BRAR (TRYIAE)

* The English name is for identification purpose only " R BBEMHHT

i These companies were established in the PRC as non-wholly ! ZEABRIHEMRILZ FHIEEEE

sino-foreign owned enterprises.

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
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36. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 36. KAATEEMBRBZHE &
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, IREBINARFDEEZERARTIEFELRERE
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally BHNEEZAEBENBAB ARBESERA
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details FIEEMKBABERKSRERBBNR TR

of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors
of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities BMEREANBABDERFENTFERNEME
outstanding as at the end of the year or at any time during BEERKERERFES
the year.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other REREHFX A B EHAEEMEIABEE

subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. A majority ZHMNBERAB ZEMBABZHNEEK
of these subsidiaries operate in Hong Kong and the PRC. FEKES - ZEMNBABIZEEZEZHBH RN
The principal activities of these subsidiaries are summarised S e
as follows:
Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries
FEEH FEEEME MEBAS#®E
2023 2022
—8== -
Investment holding Hong Kong 1 1
REER BE
Investment holding The British Virgin Islands 1 1
REER REBEUHS
Investment holding The PRC 3 3
BREER HhEl
5 5
Inactive Hong Kong 1 1
Inactive The British Virgin Islands 1 1
T EEBRELES
Inactive Cambodia 1 1
Inactive The PRC 2 2
mER thEl
5 5
10 10
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiE_Z —

37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned

= .2 H
)

37. FEEERIMEED
TRINTEBEERFEFNERTZAERIFE

AA 5 ER R MIEE

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-controlling BB AR zEMER !
interests:
Proportion of ownership  Total comprehensive
interests and voting (expense) income
Place of incorporation and rights held by non- allocated to Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary principal place of business controlling interests non-controlling interests controlling interest
FERIRERMSHER DR THINMREZ
MWERE % EMBLREE B EERRAELA 2@ (A% BALSE RetIFmI R
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E°= “E-CF ZBIZE “T-"F ZEBIZE T "E
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT ARETR ARBFR ARETR
Maoming Huada The PRC
RAER HE 10% 10% (2,517) (245) 8,565 11,082
Maoming Shang Cheng The PRC
[ gt HE 35% 35% @150  (17916) (37423  (35273)
(4,667) (18,161) (28,858) (24,191

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
subsidiaries that have material non-controlling interests are

set out below.

BERFEFMREZAERANBELAS 25
BEMNBERHINWT-

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT

Maoming Huada RBEK
Current assets MENE E 234,631 263,965
Non-current assets ERIEE 2,409 3,057
Current liabilities mEaE (146,088) (150,043)
Non-current liabilities JEREAEE (5,312) (6,169)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KABHER ANEILER 77,075 99,728
Equity attributable to non-controlling interests FEIEFIM (L 8,565 11,082

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE EiHEMARAF
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37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

37. FEEERIEED (B

(Continued)
2023 2022
B = 2T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TT
Revenue e 4,442 60,709
(Loss) profit for the year FR (E518) EF (23,562) 1,675
(Loss) profit attributable to owners of Company — ZxAFEHE AL (B518) #F) (21,207) 1,507
(Loss) profit attributable to the non-controlling JEIEHI MR TR E(L (B538) 7% A
interests (2,355) 168
(Loss) profit for the year FR (E518) EF (23,562) 1,675
Other comprehensive expense KABEE ANRGLEMEZERS
attributable to owners of the Company (1,446) (3,715)
Other comprehensive expense FFEFIMEREEEMEEAS
attributable to non-controlling interests (162) (413)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FAHMEEMAZ (1,608) (4,128)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FABEREERXERE
for the year (25,170) (2,453)
Loss and total comprehensive expense KABHEE ANBLENEER
for the year attributable to P HEBEXERE
owners of the Company (22,653) (2,208)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year JFE3ZE )14 1 2 FE 15 €F 9 5 18
attributable to non-controlling interests KREHEMAZ A% (2,517) (245)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FABEREERSZERE
for the year (25,170) (2,453)
2023 2022
t - —
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®ETT
Net cash (outflow) inflow in operating activities ~— &EEEFTAIRE (RH) RAFEE (1,378) 9,597
Net cash inflow from investing activities S EEHFIEIRERAERE 791 2,343
Net cash outflow in financing activities MEESFARE M EEE - (15,500)
Net cash outflow REMEFEE (587) (3,560)

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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AA 5 ER R MIEE

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

37. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 37. FEEEFHIMEDS (2
(Continued)
2023 2022
—E-= S
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AREBTFT ARETT
Maoming Shang Cheng &l k]
Current assets MENEE 451,292 380,227
Non-current assets ERBEE 71 97
Current liabilities mEaE (558,182) (481,105)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company KATEB NELER (69,396) (65,508)
Fquity attributable to non-controlling interests RGN T (L R (37,423) (35,273)
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETT
Revenue Wzm - -
Loss for the year FAKE (8,716) (56,768)
Loss attributable to owners of the Company KATEB NELEE (5,665) (36,899)
Loss attributable to non-controlling interest FEFREH 1M e i PR A 5 18 (3,051) (19,869)
Loss for the year FANEE (8,716) (56,768)
Other comprehensive income attributable to KRR ANEEEMZER G
owners of the Company 1,777 3,628
Other comprehensive income attributable to FEEGIM R EM AN G
non-controlling interests 901 1,953
Other comprehensive income for the year FAHMPEUWE 2,678 5,581
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year SERES1E & 2 H B2 4848 (6,038) (51,187)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year $QE%EEAE§TTEEEWJ§§?E7§Z
attributable to owners of the Company PHEASZAR%E (3,888) (33,271)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year FEIZE /14 1 2 FE (5 EE WS B K
attributable to non-controlling interests PEMZAERE (2,150) (17,916)
Loss and total comprehensive expense for the year SRR & 2 H B2 4858 (6,038) (51,187)
2023 2022
RMB%OO RMB'000
AREFTRT ARETT
Net cash inflow (outflow) in operating activities —~ &EEEFFFAIRSRA CRL) F5E 45,577 (1,844)
Net cash outflow from investing activities KREEBMRREMLIPE (20,093) (7,088)
Net cash inflow from financing activities B ERBFTSIRE R AFEE 9,746 9,000
Net cash inflow BE&ERAFEE 35,230 68
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38. ASABMFFERAR
OF THE COMPANY
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARETRT ARETFT
Non-current Assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries R EB AR 2w 965,573 965,573
Amounts due from subsidiaries R EYNCIE O] 37,608 36,745
1,003,181 1,002,318
Current Assets MENEE
Other receivables HAE W FIE 193 248
Bank balances and cash RTEFERIRS 344 631
537 879
Current Liabilities mENAaE
Other payables HAE I 5,128 7,635
Other borrowing HAER 9,089 8,844
14,217 16,479
Net Current Liabilities mEBEFEE (13,680) (15,600)
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities BWEERTEEE 989,501 986,718
Non-current Liabilities ERENEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries AN ENGIE | 903,722 879,251
Net Assets BEFE 85,779 107,467
Capital and Reserves B RG#E
Ordinary share capital Eim AR 2,222 222,157
Reserves Bt 83,557 (114,690)
Total Equity R4 85,779 107,467
Approved and authorised for issue by the Board of RIEZ_HNFE=A-+\HELXREEEE

Directors of the Company on 28 March 2024:

Mr. ZHANG Xiao Jun

REEERE
Director

B

HEE R R RET 2

CHINA UPTOWN GROUP COMPANY LIMITED HE LifEEERAR
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Mr. LIANG Zhichao

Director
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 38. HRTHBRAR (B
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)
The movements in reserves are as follows: EZEHAOT !
Share
Share  Contributed options  Translation ~Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
RipiaE MARE  BRERE ER G RHEH gt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AT ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note)
(Rzx)
At 1 January 2022 RZE-_"&-A-H 578,540 67,614 5,481 17,646 (692,606) (23,325
Loss for the year FRER - - - = (25,019) (25,019)
Exchange differences arising on translation of functional A S B EALH BT
currency to presentation currency EEVERER - - - (66,346) - (66,346)
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year FRZENE (%) 258 - - - (66,346) (25,019) (91,365)
Lapse of share options BRERY S S (5,481) S 5,481 =
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZE__F#+-_A=1+—-H%
ZRZ-F-f-H 578,540 67,614 - (48,700) (712,144) (114,690)
Loss for the year ERER = = = (23,798) (23,798)
Exchange differences arising on translation of functional ~ BIAESAEA2H EEM
currency to presentation currency EEZERER - - - 2,110 - 2,110
Total comprehensive expense for the year ENEERRAR - - - 2,110 (23,798) (21,688)
Capital reduction (notes 29) BRAHIE (H529) - - - - 219,935 219,935
At 31 December 2023 KZBZ=#£+"A=1+-H 578,540 67,614 - (46,590) (516,007) 83,557
Note:  Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference MsE © AABMAREBIEA QB EETEER  EERR

between the nominal value of the ordinary shares issued by
the Company and the net asset value of subsidiaries acquired
through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group
reorganisation in 2001.

BRIEZ—FERSETBROMESRER
Bz BEFEME 2 E
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39. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balances. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include other borrowings, lease liabilities, amounts due to
non-controlling interests, amounts due to directors and
secured bank borrowing, and equity attributable to owners
of the Company, comprising issued share capital and
reserves.

The directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associate with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of

39. BEXREMEIR

AEEERHE A LR A 5 8 s
HEEE R B BB L ESRRETHRA
TR 32 755 00 58 (01 3R o 7 £ ) > B B 4R B B
R o

FEBNEARBOEES (BEAMER
HEEGE BAFEFMEEERBE -BNES
RIERBWIPRITER) REREER AEML
o (BEEETRERER)

EETEMRASBEEARB -FRZ BT Z—8F
D EBEFERELANARAKSBESARAZA
BRoRBEFZHEBER s&EBERBBIRN
RE-FRETRROBEUKRETHESN
BOREEBTHHEBRERRBE -

dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as
the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 40. BT A
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) BFEITALEHR
2023 2022
—E=F =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT ARBTT
Financial assets HREE
FVTPL BRAREST ARG
Mandatorily measured at FVTPL BEEARESABRTE
— Held-for-trading —FHER 5 - 3,821
Financial assets at amortised cost BT ECMHEE 66,831 50,806
66,831 54,627
Financial liabilities BEasE
Amortised cost I A AR 162,203 149,160
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include deposits,
other receivables, financial assets at FVTPL, restricted bank
deposit, pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade
and other payables, other borrowings, amounts due to
non-controlling interests, amounts due to directors, lease
liabilities and secured bank borrowing. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The
risks associated with the Group's financial instruments
include market risk (interest rate risk and equity price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to other borrowings and lease liabilities. The
Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to restricted bank deposit, pledged bank deposits,
bank balances, variable-rate secured bank borrowing
and bank overdrafts. Interest rate risk is managed by
the management on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rates.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based
on the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate secured
bank borrowing at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 50 basis points (2022: 50
basis points) increase or decrease is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management personnel.
Restricted bank deposits, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as
the directors of the Company consider that the exposure
of cash flow interest rate risk arising from them is
insignificant.

40. MFETH (=
(b) MBRKREEZEERRIBR

FEBZTEVHIREGERS HMEWR
E-BAREFABZZVBEE B RGR
TEF - EERBRTER - RTEE BB K
HMEARIE HMMER B IFER
RE-EBNEFHE -HEEERBEMRT
ER - BB ITRAZFBR S EARNERE-F
HAEEFHFIAZARGED SRR (FIXR
EEkERABERRAER - EERBRRTES
B - AEZERBZBREINUW T -E
EEgEBAEEZTRE BEABERAIM
BERBEERK-

S AR
FIE @

rEBREMERREEGERE 2 AER
XREKBR AEBTABRGRITER  SHEFT
RITER - RITEF - FHHNEXAIMIFRTHE
RRBTEXHBREREN XEAR EEE
REBEREEENXEAR TEZBNARHF
ERAXPRZNXAFNEHZENEE -

HRGURE D

UTHHEREDHTEHNBSHRZFEHF
REMMIBTERORMEEABLMAEL - 25
BRINBREMARKREEMB LAREBEED
RKEEMEHR - MEIBEEAERMNXERE
TTAEBERE > FRAEMSURDS0EER (T
T "F IS0EEE) - BMRESOWMIAEESR
RERITER BERBBTERKRBITESR
RARERAEERIREBREEENR S
MEBHNEREBEARK -
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40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rates had been 50 basis points (2022: 50
basis points) higher or lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group's post-tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately Nil (2022: RMB52,000).

Other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
equity investments measured at FVTPL which are quoted in
the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the management will
monitor the price movements and take appropriate actions
when it is required.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the end of
the reporting period. If the prices of the respective equity
investments had been 10% (2022: 10%) higher/lower,
the post-tax loss for the year ended 31 December 2023
would be nil (2022: decrease/increase by approximately
RMB319,000) as a result of the changes in fair value.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model under application of HKFRS 9
on other receivables individually. In this regard, the directors
consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. M#FIA @

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) MBEREREEBFEREE @)
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment

comprises the following categories: 17 .

1B R R E G ()

FEBNRNEBEERBRRIFLEEFEATD

Other financial assets/

Internal credit rating Description other items
AERE E5T 4R ik HithsEE HittEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does 12-month ECL
not have any past-due amounts
RERE R HNELNRERE > B S rEERmRE 128 B FEHE & E1E
Medium risk There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
since initial recognition and had past-due amounts
but have been settled subsequently
hERE BYIP AT EERREXEREM BEEARE 2HEBREESRBEKEREE
FIE - BEREREE HE
High risk There is evidence indicating the asset is credit- Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
impaired
=R BREBXRABEECHRESHE THRTRIEEEE—E8RE
Written-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
it 55 BEEBXRAEFABARENHGRE MAEEH DEEMIE

BER LEEREIRIE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the
Group's other receivables, restricted bank deposit, pledged
bank deposits and bank balances which are subject to ECL
assessment:

40. HAEIH &
(b) HERAREEEEREE (&

1B R R E G ()

TRFLAEBHEMBWRRIA - BRFIETHE
FoBHHBTERKRRITESF (BBIRETE
HEEBERNMG FEERZEERR :

External Internal
credit credit 12-month or Gross
Notes ratings ratings lifetime ECL carrying amount
. 9|‘:ﬁ~1'§f§ W%‘BEE 128R% )
iz 4R 4R 2HPRREERE MR (E
2023 2022
—E-= “EICE
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AREFT
Financial assets at REAH AL EZ
amortised cost HEE
Bank balances RITHER 21 Al1-Baa3 N/A 12-month ECL 17,161 26,667
B REREHEESE
Restricted bank deposit BREIRTER 20 Al /A 12-month ECL 39,226 7,094
B REREHEESE
Pledged bank deposits BHEHRITER 21 Al N/A 12-month ECL 3,133 3,924
B REREHEESE
Other receivables HinEWEE 18 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 7,205 13,357
TR il REREHEESE
ngh risk lifetime ECL 917 907
S ERE (credit-impaired)
EHREERE
EERE)
Deposits %% 18 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL . 236 172
EN L EER ERFEHEESE
Other items HEH
Financial guarantee MBERGH 3 /A Lowrisk  12-month ECL 94,046 41,814
contracts (Note) (hi=E) TBH AR AR EHEESE

Note: For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount
represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed
under the respective contracts.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances, restricted bank deposits and pledged bank
deposits

The credit risks on bank balances, restricted bank
deposits and pledged bank deposits are limited because
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned
by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk in
relation to its restricted bank deposits, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances placed with a bank amounted
to approximately RMB35,364,000 (2022: RMB9,438,000)
which accounted for approximately 59% (2022: 25%) of
the Group’s total restricted bank deposits, pledged bank
deposits and bank balances.

Other receivables

For other receivables under 12m ECL and under lifetime
ECL (not credit-impaired), the directors of the Company
make periodic individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information. The other receivables mainly
represent loan receivables which are not past due and with
settlement during the year and after assessing the ECL,
an allowance of approximately RMB274,000 was reversed
(2022: RMB419,000 was recognised) for the year ended 31
December 2023.

40. B I H &
(b) HERAREEEEREE (&

1B R R E G ()

IRITHETZ ~ B IRFIIRIT 7K R BB AFIRITIZA

HRRXZH D AESHEREETREBTE
e EEFRNIRT FHILARMIRTEF A
REFBTERRERBPRBRTERNEERR
BR-

AEEBEBBEEAERRBITINOARR
35,364,0007T (ZE -4 : AR9,438,000
7T ZBRFETER BEBRTERKIE
PEEERZEREERB HEAEBERT
fﬁﬁﬁ-ﬁ BIRFRTERRIETEFEEY
#59% (ZFEZTHF 1 25%) °

Rt HE

MI2EREABEEEREKREHEHEERE
(RELEBEFERE) BETHHMEWRRIEM
SRR EEREBEAFEELE BEL
BoUKEEBEAOSEEEREHRTEEE
HEHEMERREZTKROREEZRBETTE
G HEtMERRETEEERER I &
BH TR ERGEE BT EEHEERIE
B BE_E_—F+°"B=1+—HILEEE"
BOBEOARK274,00000c (T2 ZZF
sl AR M419,0007T) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Other receivables (Continued)

For other receivables under lifetime ECL (credit-impaired),
receivables which are past due more than five years are
considered as default and irrecoverable and has been fully
impaired.

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk in
relation to its other receivables and deposits from the
Group's five major debtors amounted to approximately
RMB5,080,000 (2022: RMB6,873,000) which accounted
for approximately 70% (2022: 51%) of the Group's total
other receivables and deposits. The major debtors of the
Group are property buyers. The management considers that
the credit risk is limited in this regard.

Other than disclosed above, the Group does not have any
other significant concentration of credit risk.

Financial guarantee contracts

The credit risk of financial guarantee contracts are limited
as any default on mortgage payments by the purchasers,
the banks are entitled to take over the bank deposits
and legal titles of properties and can realise the pledged
properties through open auction, or the banks transfer
the pledged properties to the Group, then the Group sell
the properties through open auction. The directors of the
Company believe that there are no significant increase in
credit risk of these amounts since initial recognition. For
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group
assessed the ECL for financial guarantee contracts as
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.
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AEEBRELEBIAERRARABHEAZEHME
WHIBEBREZEAGARES,080,0007T (ZF
—__®F: ANR¥6,873,0007T) 2EFREEEE

SO AEBREMERRBRESHEBE DN

70% (ZE-Z"HF :51%) o AEFBZFTEF
BALAYEER -MIULMES  EEEBRARGE
BEAER-

fREXFIREEN  AEBTEEFEMERN
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HBEERERSH
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=FE+RA=+—HILEE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40.

(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b)
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

The following table shows the movements in 12m ECL and
lifetime ECL that has been recognised for other receivables

BMBIA ®
MBRREEERKRER (@

MRS (&

1B R R E G ()

TREIIREFE RS AR A HME WA

WI2ERRHEEEEREHRHEERE

under the general approach. 288 o
Other receivables HthE=E
Lifetime ECL
2HFERGEESRE
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
12BBTEEE CRHREER
=15t {E) (FERE mEt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETFTT AREFTT ARETF T
At 1 January 2022 W_E2__#—H—H 345 162 398 905
Changes due to financial RIE-__&—HF—HK
instruments as 1 January MBI RS :
2022:
~ Transfer to credit-impaired - EEEEERE - (162) 162 -
— Impairment loss recognised -E SRR EE1E 83 - 313 396
New financial assets originated B E4£ I EMEE NI H
or purchased EE 23 = = 23
Exchange differences PR EEE - - 34 34
At 31 December 2022 and A_EBZTF
1 January 2023 +ZB=+—HkK
_E_=%#—HF—H 451 - 907 1,358
Changes due to financial AZEZ=F—F—HP
instruments as 1 January MHRIEES :
2023:
— Impairment loss - BBEIREEE
reversed (274) - - (274)
New financial assets originated EE4+ HERENHTHE
or purchased E - - - -
Exchange differences [ERE4E - - 10 10
At 31 December 2023 TR =F
+=A=+—FH 177 - 917 1,094
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowing and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

Liquidlity risk analysis

The following table details the Group’s contractual maturity
for their non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management of the Group to
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows. The management of the Group
believes that the Group will have sufficient working capital
for its future operational requirements.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a significant
source of liquidity. The Group has available unutilised
banking facilities of approximately RMB17,269,000 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: RMB16,127,000).

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.
To the extent that interest flows are floating rates, the
undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate at
the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 40. BBIAR #&
(b)  Financial risk management objectives and (b) HBERMEEBEREE @)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) FEETEE ()
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued) TENE TR (B
Carrying
Weighted On demand Total amount at
average or less than 3 months 1yearto  undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 month to 1 years 2 years cash flows 2023
RZIEZ=
REXS *ERRE +R=1+-H
MEFF)= YRR =ZERE-%£ —EERE e ZIREE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTFT AEBFT AEBFT AEBTFR AEBTFR
Non-derivative financial liabilities FiEMBaR
Trade and other payables B5 REMEMTTE N/A REH 16,615 - - 16,615 16,615
Amounts due to directors EREETE N/A &R 96 - - 96 96
Amounts due to non-controlling interests ~ FE{ FE% 4 W&Emm N/A REH 115,498 - - 115,498 115,498
Other borrowing Hitfz 10.9 - 31,625 - 31,625 29,994
Lease liability HEBR 6.92 348 1,145 755 2,248 2,161
Financial quarantee contracts HBEREH N/A &R 94,046 - - 94,046 -
226,603 32,770 755 260,128 164,364
Carrying
Weighted On demand Total amount at
average or less than 3 months 1 year to undiscounted 31 December
interest rate 3 month to 1 years 2 years cash flows 2022
N
BRERY FUERRE +°A=1+-H
il Sl PR=ER ZEEE-F —FERE ik ZEE
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEEFT AEBF ARETT ARETT AEEFT
Non-derivative financial liabilities FEMBER
Trade and other payables B & REMENTIE NA T BF 22,286 - - 22,286 22,286
Amounts due to directors ERESTE NA 7B 96 - - 9% 9%
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  FE(TFEIZHI B FUE NA TBR 105,750 - - 105,750 105,750
Secured bank borrowing BIRMBRTER
- variable rate i LES 6.96 12,184 - - 12,184 12,184
Other borrowing EfiEm 6.00 = 9,109 = 9,109 8,844
Lease liability HEBR 352 254 91 5 350 349
Financial quarantee contracts HBEREH NA REF 41,814 - - 41,814 -

182,384 9,200 5 191,589 149,509
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE_E_=F+_A=+—HIFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

Secured bank borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause is included in the “on demand or less than 3
months” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at
31 December 2022, the aggregate undiscounted principal
amounts of the secured bank borrowings amounted
to approximately RMB12,184,000. Taking into account
the Group's financial position, the directors do not
believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise its
discretionary right to demand immediate repayment. The
directors believe that such secured bank borrowing will
be repaid in eight years (2022: eight years) after the end
of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled
repayment dates set out in the loan agreement, details of
which are set out in the table below:

40. HAEIH &
(b) HERAREEEEREE (&

TEEEmE (&)
BB REIHT (B

EEREREZERAZBIRIFRITERS
STALMBEBEOMIBEERI LR =@EAH]
sEESEERN N2 _F#+=Z/A=+—
B> BIRFIRTERZAMBWREAESE I EH
AEINRME12,184,000cc st e A EE 2 B
BRRRB EEAEERTYUETHEEERA
RERzZNBEHE - EZHE ZBBIFRTE
TERREPARENE(CE_ZF:N\F)RN
RIEERBZMBTATENDREE  HF18
SN

Carrying

Weighted Total amount at

average 1 year to Over undiscounted 31 December

interest rate Within 1 year 2 years 205 years 5 years cash flows 2022

RIBZZE

FUERRE +°A=1+—H

ETERI= —R —FEWE MEERE RENE MERTH ZREE

% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ANEEFT ANEEFR ANRETR ANREFT NEEFT ANEEFT
Non-derivative financial FrEnBas

liabilities

Secured bank borrowings BIHRBRITER

- variable rate —FBHE 6.96 5,900 1,181 3,543 2,703 13,327 12,184
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE_ZE_=F+_FH=+—HIEFE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee
contracts are the maximum amounts the Group could
be required to settle under the arrangement for the full
guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by the
counterparty to the guarantee. Based on expectation at
the end of the reporting period, the Group considers that
it is more likely than not that no amount will be payable
under the arrangement. However, this estimate is subject to
change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of
the likelihood that the financial receivables held by the
counterparty which are guaranteed suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates
determined at the end of the reporting period.

40. B I H &
(b) HERAREEEEREE (&

TEEEmE (&)

RBEETREINT (&

TR BRFREOREINTBESTERR
T)@tc?#ﬁ/tigﬂ)&ﬁﬁﬁﬁ(ﬁ#ﬁz 25 77 H
Rz ) o %&EZKEHB’J SE e RIE
E?%E%ﬂﬁﬂiZ%Eiﬁ‘bK% DS BREETR
BEBZHEXMERNRE- 77<ﬁ It & 5t BJ B

AFSE AR AR RERAZCER
MR RE S A SR IR RS
> At o

15 57 Y U2 (0 8 B B3R 45 HA o B8 40 1 F
ETE 8 LR FBAE AN OEHSET
T2
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 #ZE

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

o the fair values of financial assets at FVTPL are
determined with reference to quoted market bid
prices and ask prices respectively; and

o the fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding financial assets at FVTPL) are
determined in accordance with generally accepted
pricing models based on a discounted cash flow
analysis using prices from observable current
market transactions. The directors consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities carried at amortised cost recognised in the
consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

(d) Fair value measurements of financial
instruments

One of the Group’s financial assets is measured at fair
value at the end of the reporting period. The following
table provides an analysis of financial instrument that is

“EC=H+RA=+—HLEFE

40. HAEIH &
(0 2AnE

MHEEERVBRENAREEENT !

. &’Aﬁtﬁﬁ/\?ﬁﬁﬁzﬁﬂ“ﬁﬁzz\\ﬁ@
D2 EMEMGEEENEREE
T &

. HMWHBEERUBEE (FTEEEA
RESFABEZZVMHEEE) NARET
*EWL\WE'JKETEET&EEH%TEE?%E’JFE

RZZBRUBRRBEEREDINE
%]—O%%DU% REEHBERERANESR
NRBIEREAARZMBEERY TR
EREEEEQAANEEE

(d MBIRZAAERE

FEBZHEP-BUHFEERBRSHRZRQ
RESE - TREIHUHFTITEZ oM HIHR
%7]*/Hﬁwﬁﬁ"ﬁ:@quE]t@#é—Jﬁﬁ??“ﬁ

measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, BEERIAE—HREE=MH-
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which
the fair value is observable.
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
-4 BZH B= st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARETT AREFR
As at 31 December 2022 RZE-_“F+-B=1+—H
Recurring fair value measurements: KRR AnESE!
Financial assets at FVTPL BAnBSANEBREZHMEEE 3821 S = 3,821

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during
both years. The fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL is
from quoted bid prices in an active market.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiE_Z —

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or future
cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated
statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

= .2 H
)

AA 5 ER R MIEE

=FE+RA=+—HILEE

4. RMEFTBREEREZHER

TRFINAEBRETHMELEERZE
FoEEREAFREE METHMEL
BEIERERELRARKRBERBF T NARE
BaeaReEnEaxkPBEAMBEEHRERE
z8fB&e

activities.

Amounts Interest
due to Amount payable
non-  Amounts due to Secured  (included
Lease Other  controlling dueto  aformer bank in other
liabilities  borrowing interests  directors director borrowings  payables) Total
FEft fEft—% EfFIE
IR EMEE AiREES AEA GrAHM
HE&fRE HMER wE MR RE O ORAER EARSH Hst
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTR ARETT ARBTrn ARETR ARETT ARETn ARETR ARETET
At 1 January 2022 and RIB-ZZF5-AF-Bk
1 January 2023 Sy s el 1,242 8,150 98,250 2,325 14,589 8,020 51 132,627
Financing cash flows RERSHE (1,017) s 7,500 (153)  (15831) 3487 (886) (8,282)
Exchange differences ERER 107 694 S (694) 1,242 677 = 2,026
Interest expenses FIERE 17 - - - - - 886 903
At 31 December 2022 and g —
1 January 2023 +ZA=+—-A%
“2"=%-fA-H 349 8,844 105,750 9% - 12,184 51 127,274
Financing cash flows HERERE (1,220) 20,774 9,748 - - (12,444) (1,763) 15,095
Exchange differences EREH (166) 376 - - - 260 = 470
Interest expenses MEFZ 171 - - - - - 1,763 1,940
New lease entered HINE 6] 3,021 - - - - - - 3,021
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=%
+ZA=+-H 2,161 2999 115,498 9% - - 51 147,800

42. EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On 6 March 2024, the placing for an aggregate of
50,888,000 placing shares have been successfully placed
at placing price of HK$0.14 per placing share. Further
details of the Incident are set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 6 March 2024.

42. HERREMH

A — &

ATE_NE=ZANH AR RNEESREE
AP B0 14 2 Fe BB AL E & $£50,888,0008%
BERD ZEHZHBENEARABDBHEAE
“HE=AARHZzRE-.
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Schedule of Properties

YIEBE R

At 31 December 2023 RZ-_E_=F+_H=+—H

A. PROPERTIES IN THE PRC A, (IRHPEZME
Stage of
development
Group's & Date of
Location Usage Area Lease term interest Classification Completion
TEE RERRR
bk B#& R THEH i e EIHH
Portion of Maoming Project, Commercial Gross floor area—  Medium to 90% Completed, 2016
Zhangian 7th Road, approximately long term investment
Yuehua East District, 4,000 sg. m. properties
Maoming
7% At B [ES BREEE- FHE R 90% BRI “ERE
BER/E #94,000 75 K =L/
ReBEREZHD
Zhangjian 7th Road, Commercial and Gross floor area -~ Medium to 90% Completed, 2016/2018
Yuehua East District, residential complex ~ approximately* long term properties
Maoming 245,000 sg. m. held for sale
7% At B HEKATERER HARERR- FHERH 90% Bl FHE _i—/\ﬁ/
BER/E #9*245,000F /5 kS —N\F
VN
JIXIANG-23, Jixiang District, Commercial and Gross floor area -~ Medium to 65% Under- N/A
Maoming residential complex  approximately* long term development
118,000 sg. m.
REMEHNEIXANG-23 BERETHREE BREEE- FHERE 65% FE T T ER
49%118,000 5
VN
g Including sold and unsold portion. * BIEEERRELD
B. PROPERTIES IN HONG KONG B. INREBEBZME
Approximate Lease Group's
Location Usage saleable area term interest
rEMH
Bk itfas BOTHERE HES it
Suite 1501, 15th Floor, Tower 1, Silvercord, Office premises - Own use 242 sq.m. Medium 100%
30 Canton Road, Tsimshatsui, Kowloon.
NEERDIBBREOFMABRL—HIBI01E BFEYE—8R 282F 5K A 100%
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